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Notice to Readers 

Accounting and Auditing Update is intended solely for use in continuing professional education 
and not as a reference. It does not represent an official position of the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants, and it is distributed with the understanding that the author and 
publisher are not rendering legal, accounting, or other professional services in the publication. 
This course is intended to be an overview of the topics discussed within, and the author has made 
every attempt to verify the completeness and accuracy of the information herein. However, 
neither the author nor publisher can guarantee the applicability of the information found herein. 
If legal advice or other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional 
should be sought. 
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Use of Materials 
 
This course manual accompanies all formats in which the course is offered, including self-study 
text, self-study online, group study, in-firm, and other formats, as applicable. Specific 
instructions for users of the various formats are included in this section.  
 
Continuing Professional Education (CPE) is required for CPAs to maintain their professional 
competence and provide quality professional services. CPAs are responsible for complying with 
all applicable CPE requirements, rules, and regulations of state licensing bodies, other 
governmental entities, membership associations, and other professional organizations or bodies. 
  
Professional standards for CPE programs are issued jointly by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (AICPA) and the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy 
(NASBA) to provide a framework for the development, presentation, measurement, and 
reporting of CPE programs. These standards are entitled Joint AICPA/NASBA Statement on 
Standards for Continuing Professional Education Programs (CPE standards), and are available 
as part of the AICPA’s Professional Standards three-volume set, either in paperback or as on 
online subscription through the AICPA’s Online Professional Library.  
 
 
Review Questions for Self Study Participants 
The CPE standards require that self study programs include review questions (also known as 
knowledge check questions) that provide feedback to both correct and incorrect responses. Note 
that these questions are provided only as learning aids and do not constitute a final examination. 
 
 
Requirements for Claiming and Receiving CPE Credit  
CPE standards place responsibility on both the individual participant and the program sponsor to 
maintain a record of attendance at a CPE program. CPAs who participate in only part of a CPE 
program should only claim CPE credit for the portion that they attended or completed.  
 
CPE participants must document their claims of CPE credit. Examples of acceptable evidence of 
completion include: 

� for group and independent study programs, a certificate or other verification supplied by 
the CPE program sponsor. 

� for self-study programs, a certificate supplied by the CPE program sponsor after 
satisfactory completion of an examination. 

 
Participants in group study and other live presentations will receive a completion certificate from 
the program sponsor. CPE program sponsors are required to keep documentation on programs 
for five years, including records of participation. 
 
All self-study participants must complete the exam within one year of date of course purchase in 
order to receive a certificate indicating satisfactory completion of the CPE program. 
 

� When purchased as a self-study course in text format, the exam is located in the 
Examination section at the end of the course manual. 



� The course code number for both the self study exam and the self study evaluation can be 
found in the Examination’s introductory material. 

� Participants may either complete the self-study exam and evaluation online at 
https://cpegrading.aicpa.org or use the paper answer sheet and evaluation forms 
included with the course materials. Participants must provide the unique serial number 
printed on the examination answer sheet. If using the paper forms, participants should 
mail the original answer sheet and course evaluation form in the pre-addressed envelope. 
Photocopies or faxes of the original forms are not acceptable. The paper grading process 
averages five to seven business days from date of receipt. During peak reporting periods 
(June, September, and December), the processing time may be 10 to 15 business days. 
Self-study participants must achieve a minimum passing grade of at least 70 percent to 
qualify for CPE credit.  
o Upon achieving a passing grade, participants receive a certificate displaying the 

number of CPE credits earned based on a 50-minute hour, in compliance with CPE 
standards. 

� If the exam is completed online, the completion certificate is provided online, 
which may be printed or saved in .pdf format. Also, the grading system 
maintains a transcript of the participants’ completed courses. 

� If the answer key is mailed in, participants receive the completion certificate 
in the mail.  

o If a passing grade is not achieved, the participants are notified. 
� If a passing grade is not achieved and the participant completed the exam 

online, the grading system provides immediate online notification of the 
score as well as instructions on how to re-take the exam. Participants who do 
not pass the online exam within three attempts must mail in the examination 
answer key.   

� If a passing grade is not achieved and the participant mailed in the exam, the 
participant is mailed a notification of the exam score and an answer sheet so 
that the exam may be re-taken. 
 

 
Program Evaluations 
The information accumulated from participant evaluation forms is an important element in our 
continual efforts to provide high quality continuing education for the profession. Participants in 
group study and other live presentations should return their evaluation forms prior to departing 
their program sessions. Self-study participants should either mail the completed evaluation 
form along with the examination answer sheet in the envelope provided, or complete the course 
evaluation online. Your comments are very important to us. 
 
Customer Service 
For help and support, including information on refund claims and complaint resolutions, please 
call AICPA Member Service at 1-888-777-7077, or visit the online Help page of the AICPA 
Store at www.cpa2biz.com. 
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Chapter 1  

FASB ACCOUNTING  
STANDARD UPDATES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify recently issued Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards 
Updates (ASUs) to understand their potential impact on the accounting of certain transactions. 
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ASU No. 2014-09 Revenue From Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606) 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

In May, 2014, FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) completed their joint 
project on revenue recognition. FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers) 
primarily to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue. Prior to the issuance of this standard, in U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), revenue recognition guidance comprises more than 
100 standards—many are industry-specific and some can produce conflicting results for economically 
similar transactions. In the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS), the principles underlying 
the two main revenue recognition standards (IAS 18, Revenue, and IAS 11, Construction Contracts) were 
inconsistent and vague, could be difficult to apply beyond simple transactions, and provided limited 
guidance for transactions involving multiple components or multiple deliverables. 

Specifically, the goals of the standard-setters in the joint project on revenue recognition were as follows: 

 Remove inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing revenue recognition standards and practices. 
 Provide a more robust framework for addressing revenue recognition issues. 
 Improve comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions, and 

capital markets. 
 Provide more useful information to users of financial statements through improved disclosure 

requirements. 
 Simplify the preparation of financial statements by reducing the number of requirements to which 

entities must refer. 

When effective, this standard will completely replace FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 605, 
Revenue Recognition, with FASB ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The text of this course has 
specific references to the FASB ASC section for each area of discussion. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

This ASU applies to any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or 
services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within 
the scope of other standards as identified in the following material. 
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WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

Scope 
This ASU applies to an entity’s contracts with customers, except for the following: 

 Lease contracts within the scope of FASB ASC 840, Leases 
 Insurance contracts within the scope of FASB ASC 944, Financial Services—Insurance 
 Financial instruments or other contractual rights or obligations within the scope of the following 

topics: 
o FASB ASC 310, Receivables 
o FASB ASC 320, Investments—Debt and Equity Securities 
o FASB ASC 323, Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures 
o FASB ASC 325, Investments—Other 
o FASB ASC 405, Liabilities 
o FASB ASC 470, Debt 
o FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging 
o FASB ASC 825, Financial Instruments 
o FASB ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing 

 Guarantees (other than product warranties) within the scope of FASB ASC 460, Guarantees 
 Nonmonetary exchanges between entities in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers 

or potential customers 

Contract-Based Revenue Recognition Principle 
This topic specifies the accounting for revenue with contracts from customers. The core principle is that an 
entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

PROCESS 

The process for determining when to recognize revenue can be broken down into five steps: 

 Identify contracts with the customer. 
 Identify separate performance obligations within the contract. 
 Determine the transaction price. 
 Allocate the transaction price to the various performance obligations. 
 Recognize revenue when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied. 
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Step 1: Identify Contracts with the Customer (FASB ASC 606-10-25-1) 
A contract is an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations 
and has the following characteristics: 

 A contract with a customer does not have to be a written contract. It can also be a verbal or implied 
contract.  

 The parties to a contract must have approved the contract and are committed to performing their 
respective obligations.  

 The reporting entity must be able to identify each party’s rights as they relate to the goods or services 
being transferred.  

 The reporting entity must be able to identify the payment terms for the goods or services to be 
transferred.  

 A contract must have commercial substance. That is, the risk, timing or amount of the entity’s future 
cash flows is expected to change as a result of the contract.  

 It is probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled. 

Combination of Contracts 

An entity should combine two or more contracts entered into at or near the same time with the same 
customer (or related parties of the customer) and account for the contracts as a single contract if one or 
more of the following criteria are met: 

 The contracts are negotiated as a package with a single commercial objective. 
 The amount of consideration to be paid in one contract depends on the price or performance of the 

other contract. 
 The goods or services promised in the contracts (or some goods or services promised in each of the 

contracts) are a single performance obligation. 

Contract Modifications 

A contract modification is a change in the scope or price (or both) of a contract that is approved by the 
parties to the contract. 

An entity should account for a contract modification as a separate contract if both of the following 
conditions are present:  

 The scope of the contract increases because of the addition of promised goods or services that are 
distinct. 

 The price of the contract increases by an amount of consideration that reflects the entity’s standalone 
selling prices of the additional promised goods or services and any appropriate adjustments to that 
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract. 

Step 2: Identify Separate Performance Obligations within the Contract  
(FASB ASC 606-10-25-14) 
Management must evaluate all contracts to determine if there is a single performance obligation or if the 
contract consists of separate performance obligations, as follows:  

 Determine whether there are multiple goods or services promised in the contract and are the 
promised goods and services transferred at the same time. If there is only one good or service, or if 
all of the goods and services are transferred at the same time, treat the good or service as a single 
obligation. 
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 If there are multiple obligations, determine if the good or service is distinct. A good or service is 
distinct if both of the following criteria are met: 

o The customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with 
other resources that are readily available to the customer (that is, the good or service is 
capable of being distinct). 

o The entity’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately 
identifiable from other promises in the contract.  

If the goods or services are distinct, account for them as separate performance obligations. If not, 
combine the good or service with other promised goods or services until the entity identifies two or more 
goods or services that are distinct. 

Step 3: Determine the Transaction Price (FASB ASC 606-10-32-2) 
The transaction price is the amount of consideration (fixed or variable) the entity expects to receive in 
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties.  

To determine the transaction price, the entity should consider the effects of variable consideration, the 
existence of a significant financing component in the contract, noncash consideration, and consideration 
payable to the customer.  

Variable Consideration 

The variable component can be estimated using either the probability-weighted approach (expected 
value) or an approach based on the single most likely amount, whichever is more predictive.  

An entity should not adjust the transaction price for doubt about collectability. If there are doubts about 
collectability, they should be considered in the impairment of the receivable, not in the recognition of 
revenue. (Note that this assumes that collection is probable, and therefore the basic criteria for 
recognizing revenue are met). 

Significant Financing Component 

The objective when adjusting the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing 
component is for an entity to recognize revenue at an amount that reflects the price that a customer 
would have paid for the promised goods or services if the customer had paid cash for those goods or 
services when they transfer to the customer (that is, the cash selling price). An entity should consider all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether a contract contains a financing component and 
whether that financing component is significant to the contract, including both of the following: 

 The difference, if any, between the amount of promised consideration and the cash selling price of 
the promised goods or services 

 The combined effect of both of the following: 
o The expected length of time between when the entity transfers the promised goods or 

services to the customer and when the customer pays for those goods or services 
o The prevailing interest rates in the relevant market 

As a practical expedient, if the entity expects that the period between delivery of the goods and services 
and payment is one year or less, the “financing component” does not need to be considered. 
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Noncash Consideration 

Any noncash consideration should be measured at fair value.  

Consideration Payable to the Customer 

Consideration payable to a customer includes cash amounts that an entity pays to the customer (or to 
other parties that purchase the entity’s goods or services from the customer). Consideration payable to a 
customer also includes credit or other items (for example, a coupon or voucher) that can be applied 
against amounts owed to the entity (or to other parties that purchase the entity’s goods or services from 
the customer). An entity should account for consideration payable to a customer as a reduction of the 
transaction price and, therefore, of revenue unless the payment to the customer is in exchange for a 
distinct good or service that the customer transfers to the entity. 

Step 4: Allocate the Transaction Price to the Various Performance Obligations  
(Paragraphs 28-41 of FASB ASC 606-10-32) 
When a contract contains more than one separate performance obligation, contract consideration should 
be allocated to the separate obligations in a systematic manner. The most common method will be based 
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. If the good or service is not sold separately, the entity must 
estimate the separate price using observable inputs (whenever possible). Estimation methods might 
include the following: 

 Cost plus margin 
 Adjusted market assessment 
 Residual value (when the selling price is highly variable or uncertain) 

Generally, when the transaction price includes a discount or a variable amount of consideration, the 
discount or variable consideration should be allocated to all of the performance obligations in the 
contract unless it clearly relates only to one of the performance obligations in the contract.  

Step 5: Recognize Revenue When (or as) the Performance Obligations Are Satisfied  
(FASB ASC 606-10-25-23) 
Revenue is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied by transferring goods or services to a 
customer. An asset is transferred when the customer obtains control of that asset. Control of an asset 
refers to the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the 
asset. Control also includes the ability to prevent other entities from directing the use of, and obtaining 
the benefits from an asset. 

An entity must first determine if the control of the goods or services are transferred over time. (FASB 
ASC 606-10-25-27) 

A performance obligation is considered to be transferred over time when at least one of the following 
criteria is met: 

 The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the entity performs.  
 The entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is 

created or enhanced, or  
 The asset created has no alternative use to the reporting entity, and the entity has a right to payment for 

performance completed to date. 
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An asset does not have an alternative use to an entity if the entity is either restricted contractually from 
readily directing the asset for another use during the creation or enhancement of that asset or limited 
practically from readily directing the asset in its completed state for another use. 

Recognition When Performance Is Satisfied at a Point in Time 

If a performance obligation does not meet the criteria to be satisfied over time, it is satisfied at a point in 
time. That point in time is when control is transferred. Indicators that control has been transferred 
include the following: 

 The entity has a present right to payment for the asset. 
 The customer has legal title to the asset. 
 The customer has physical possession of the asset. 
 The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership. 
 The customer has accepted the asset. 

Recognition When Performance Is Satisfied Over Time 

When the performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognized by measuring the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation (similar to a “percentage-of-completion” 
method). 

Appropriate methods of measuring progress include the input and output methods. 

Input Methods 
Input methods recognize revenue on the basis of the entity’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a 
performance obligation (for example, resources consumed, labor hours expended, costs incurred, time 
elapsed, or machine hours used) relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that 
performance obligation. If the entity’s efforts or inputs are expended evenly throughout the performance 
period, it may be appropriate for the entity to recognize revenue on a straight-line basis. 

Output Methods 
Output methods include methods such as surveys of performance completed to date, appraisals of results 
achieved, milestones reached, time elapsed, and units produced or units delivered. As a practical 
expedient, if an entity has a right to consideration from a customer in an amount that corresponds 
directly with the value to the customer of the entity’s performance completed to date (for example, a 
service contract in which an entity bills a fixed amount for each hour of service provided), the entity may 
recognize revenue in the amount to which the entity has a right to invoice. 

The disadvantages of output methods are that the outputs used to measure progress may not be directly 
observable and the information required to apply them may not be available to an entity without undue 
cost. Therefore, an input method may be necessary. 

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

The objective of the disclosure requirements is for an entity to disclose sufficient information to enable 
users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and  
cash flows arising from contracts with customers. An entity should disclose qualitative and quantitative 
information about all of the following: 

 Its contracts with customers  
 The significant judgments made in applying the guidance in this topic to those contracts 
 Any assets recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer 
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An entity should disclose (either in the notes or on the face of the statement of comprehensive income), 
revenue recognized from contracts with customers (separately from other sources of revenue) and any 
impairment losses recognized on receivables or contract assets arising from those contracts.  

The entity should disaggregate revenue recognized from contracts with customers into categories that 
depict how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by 
economic factors.  

A nonpublic entity may elect not to apply the quantitative disaggregation disclosure guidance in 
paragraphs 606-10-50-5 through 50-6 and 606-10-55-89 through 55-91. If an entity elects not to provide 
those disclosures, the entity should disclose, at a minimum 

 Revenue disaggregated according to the timing of transfer of goods or services. 
 Qualitative information about how economic factors (such as type of customer, geographical location 

of customers, and type of contract) affect the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and 
cash flows. 

Public business entities must disclose all of the following: 

 The opening and closing balances of receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities from 
contracts with customers, if not otherwise separately presented or disclosed 

 Revenue recognized in the reporting period that was included in the contract liability balance at the 
beginning of the period 

 Revenue recognized in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied (or partially 
satisfied) in previous periods (for example, changes in transaction price) 

An entity should explain how the timing of satisfaction of its performance obligations relates to the 
typical timing of payment and the effect that those factors have on the contract asset and the contract 
liability balances. The explanation provided may use qualitative information. 

An entity should provide an explanation of the significant changes in the contract asset and the contract 
liability balances during the reporting period. The explanation should include qualitative and quantitative 
information. Examples of changes in the entity’s balances of contract assets and contract liabilities 
include any of the following: 

 Changes due to business combinations 
 Cumulative catch-up adjustments to revenue that affect the corresponding contract asset or contract 

liability, including adjustments arising from a change in the measure of progress, a change in an 
estimate of the transaction price (including any changes in the assessment of whether an estimate of 
variable consideration is constrained), or a contract modification 

 Impairment of a contract asset 
 A change in the time frame for a right to consideration to become unconditional (that is, for a 

contract asset to be reclassified to a receivable) 
 A change in the time frame for a performance obligation to be satisfied (that is, for the recognition 

of revenue arising from a contract liability) 

Nonpublic entities may make the aforementioned disclosures, but if they choose not to, they must 
disclose the opening and closing balances of receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities from 
contracts with customers, if not otherwise separately presented or disclosed. 
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All entities should disclose information about their performance obligations in contracts with customers, 
including a description of all of the following: 

 When the entity typically satisfies its performance obligations (for example, upon shipment, upon 
delivery, as services are rendered, or upon completion of service) including when performance 
obligations are satisfied in a bill-and-hold arrangement 

 The significant payment terms (for example, when payment typically is due, whether the contract has 
a significant financing component, whether the consideration amount is variable, and whether the 
estimate of variable consideration is typically constrained) 

 The nature of the goods or services that the entity has promised to transfer, highlighting any 
performance obligations to arrange for another party to transfer goods or services (that is, if the 
entity is acting as an agent) 

 Obligations for returns, refunds, and other similar obligations 
 Types of warranties and related obligations 

A public entity should disclose the following information about its remaining performance obligations: 

 The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are 
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of the end of the reporting period 

 An explanation of when the entity expects to recognize as revenue the amount disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements listed previously, which the entity should disclose in either of the 
following ways: 

o On a quantitative basis using the time bands that would be most appropriate for the 
duration of the remaining performance obligations 

o By using qualitative information 

An entity should disclose the judgments made in applying the guidance in this topic that significantly 
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers. In 
particular, an entity should explain the judgments, and changes in the judgments, used in determining 
both of the following: 

 The timing of satisfaction of performance obligations 
 The transaction price and the amounts allocated to performance obligations 

For performance obligations that an entity satisfies over time, an entity should disclose both of the 
following: 

 The methods used to recognize revenue (for example, a description of the output methods or input 
methods used and how those methods are applied) 

 An explanation of why the methods used provide a faithful depiction of the transfer of goods or 
services (public entities only) 

For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, public entities should disclose the significant 
judgments made in evaluating when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services. 

An entity should disclose information about the methods, inputs, and assumptions used for all of the 
following: 

 Determining the transaction price, which includes, but is not limited to, estimating variable 
consideration, adjusting the consideration for the effects of the time value of money, and measuring 
noncash consideration (public entities only) 

 Assessing whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained 
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 Allocating the transaction price, including estimating standalone selling prices of promised goods or 
services and allocating discounts and variable consideration to a specific part of the contract (if 
applicable) (public entities only) 

 Measuring obligations for returns, refunds, and other similar obligations (public entities only) 

WHEN WILL THIS ASU BE EFFECTIVE? 

ASU No. 2015-14 deferred the effective date of this standard for one year. The new effective dates are as 
follows: 

 For public business entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017, and interim periods within that reporting period. Early application is permitted 
only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting 
periods within that period. 

 For all other entities, the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2018, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. All other 
entities may apply the guidance earlier as of an annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 
2016, including interim reporting periods within that annual reporting period. All other entities may 
also apply the guidance earlier beginning one year after the annual period in which the entity first 
adopts the standard.  

The amendments should be applied retrospectively. See the details in the ASU for transition guidance. 

LATEST DEVELOPMENTS 

FASB and the IASB formed the Transition Resource Group (TRG) to identify implementation issues 
when this ASU was initially issued. Since that time, the group has discussed more than 40 issues related to 
the ASU.1  

FASB ASU No. 2016-04, Liabilities – Extinguishments of Liabilities (Subtopic 405-20): 
Recognition of Breakage for Certain Prepaid Stored-Value Products 

A potential diversity in accounting practice may exist in situations where a third party issued a prepaid 
product in exchange for cash or other consideration. The value of the product would be considered a 
liability until such time as it was redeemed by the holder of the product. Some parties believed this 
liability would be a financial liability, and others believed it would not be a financial liability. 

With the issuance of ASU No. 2016-04 in March 2016, the EITF concluded that this liability is 
considered a financial liability; however, a narrow scope exception is applied so that the guidance in ASC 
606 related to breakage (the amount of a prepaid product that is unused) would be applicable as opposed 
to the guidance in ASC 405-20 (which would apply in the case of financial liabilities). 

The effective date of this update corresponds to the effective date of ASU No. 2014-09. These 
amendments should be applied either using a modified retrospective transition method by means of a 

                                                      

1 “FASB, IASB to propose clarifying revenue recognition guidance” by Ken Tysiac, Feb. 18, 2015; accessed on Feb. 
18, 2015, at www.journalofaccountancy.com/news/2015/feb/revenue-recognition-clarifications-201511839.html. 
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cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the 
guidance is effective or retrospectively to each period presented.  

FASB ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principle versus 
Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net) 

This update was issued in March 2016, to clarify the guidance in ASC 606 with respect to principal versus 
agent.  There is little disagreement that an entity who is a principal recognizes revenue in the gross 
amount of consideration when a performance obligation is satisfied.  An entity who is an agent (collecting 
revenue on behalf of the principal), recognizes revenue only to the extent of the commission or fee that 
the agent collects.  This update hopes to eliminate the potential diversity in practice when determining 
whether an entity is a principal or an agent by clarifying the following: 

 An entity determines whether it is a principal or an agent for each distinct good or service.   
 An entity determines the nature of each specified good or service (including whether it is a right to a 

good or service) 
 When an entity is a principal, it obtains control of 

o A good or another asset from the other party that it then transfers to the customer; 
o A right to a service that will be performed by another party, which gives the entity the 

ability to direct that party to provide the service to the customer on the entity’s behalf; 
or 

o A good or service from the other party that it combines with other goods or services to 
provide the specified good or service to the customer. 

 Indicators in the assessment of control may be more or less relevant and/or persuasive to the control 
assessment, depending on the facts and circumstances. 

Additional illustrative examples are also provided in ASU No. 2016-08 to further assist practitioners in 
applying this guidance.  The effective date of this update is in line with the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09.  

FASB ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying 
Performance Obligations and Licensing 

This update was issued in April 2016, to reduce potential for diversity in practice at initial application of 
ASC 606, as well as the cost and complexity of applying ASC 606 at transition and on an ongoing basis.   

When identifying promised goods and services in a contract, this updates states that entities 

 Are not required to assess whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if they 
are immaterial to the contract. 

 Can elect to account for shipping and handling activities as an activity to fulfill promises within the 
contract rather than as an additional promised service. 

When assessing whether promised goods or services are distinct, this update emphasizes the need to 
determine whether the nature of the promise is to transfer 

 Each of the goods or services, or 
 A combined item (or items) to which the promised goods or services are inputs. 

With regards to licensing, ASU No. 2016-10 clarifies whether revenue should be recognized at a point in 
time or over time, based on whether the license provides a right to use an entity’s intellectual property or 
a right to access the entity’s intellectual property.  Specifically, 

 If the intellectual property has significant standalone functionality, the license does not include 
supporting or maintaining that intellectual property during the license period.  Therefore, the 
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performance obligation would be considered satisfied at a point in time.  Examples of this type of 
intellectual property include software, biological compounds or drug formulas, and media. 

 Licenses for symbolic intellectual property include supporting or maintaining that intellectual 
property during the license period, and are therefore considered to be satisfied over time.  Examples 
of symbolic intellectual property include brands, team or trade names, logos, and franchise rights. 

Lastly, ASU No. 2016-10 provides clarification on implementation guidance on recognizing revenue for 
sales-based or usage-based royalty promised in exchange for a license of intellectual property.   

The effective date of this update is in line with the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09. 

Exposure Draft—Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients 

The Transition Resource Group identified the following issues that can be improved in ASC 606: 

 Assessing the collectability criterion in 606-10-25-1€ 
 Accounting for contracts that do not meet the criteria for Step 1 of the model 
 Presentation of sales taxes and other similar taxes collected from customers 
 Noncash consideration 
 Contract modifications at transition 
 Completed contracts at transition 

A final standard is expected during the second quarter of 2016. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, applies to which types of contracts? 

a. Lease contracts. 
b. Long-term construction contracts. 
c. Guarantees. 
d. Insurance contracts. 

2. ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, requires which contract characteristic in order 
to be considered a contract within the scope of this standard? 

a. The contract must be written. 
b. The contract can be tentatively accepted. 
c. Absolute payment terms, with no variability in consideration. 
d. Each party’s rights as it relates to the goods or services being transferred. 

DISCUSSION QUESTION 

For long-term construction contracts that are currently accounted for under the percentage of 
completion method, what will typically be the best way to measure progress: inputs or outputs? Describe 
the types of inputs or outputs that will most likely be used in measuring progress. 
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ASU No. 2016-01—Financial Instruments—Overall 
(Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

Issued in January 2016, this ASU is the culmination of a project that began before the global economic 
crisis in 2008. As a joint FASB and IASB Project, the objective of this update is to simplify the 
accounting for financial instruments. The IASB issued its final standard in 2015, and this update is the 
first of three that will be issued by FASB related to the accounting for financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 

This update provides guidance for both the initial and subsequent recognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as well as presentation and disclosure issues. Subsequent updates will address 
impairment and hedging. The main objective in developing this update is to enhance the reporting model 
for financial instruments so as to better provide users of financial statements with more decision-useful 
information.  

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

This ASU applies to all entities that hold financial assets or financial liabilities. Because of the broad range 
of assets and liabilities that are included within the scope of financial assets and liabilities, it is expected 
that this update will impact almost every entity reporting under U.S. GAAP. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

Establishment of ASC 321 and Reduction of Scope of ASC 320 
This update segregates the accounting for debt and equity securities by modifying ASC 320 to include 
only guidance related to debt securities and creating ASC 321 to provide guidance for equity securities. 

Investments—Equity Securities (ASC 321) 

Measurement 

This update provides a major change in accounting for equity securities that was first established by FASB 
115. Prior to FASB 115, equity investments were accounted for using the cost method. FASB 115 required 
marketable equity securities to be accounted for at market, with a caveat. Management had to determine 
whether marketable equity securities were either “trading securities” or “available-for-sale” securities. Both 
classifications required measurement at fair value, with differences in how the unrealized gain or loss was 
presented. Trading unrealized gains and losses were included in net income, while unrealized gains and 
losses from available for sale securities were included in other comprehensive income. 
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Because ASU No. 2016-01 eliminates the distinction between trading and available- for- sale securities, all 
equity investments (with exceptions noted below) will now be measured at fair value with the unrealized 
gain or loss recognized in net income. 

Equity investments that meet the following criteria are not subject to the provisions of this update: 

 Equity investments accounted for under the equity method 
 Equity investments that result in the consolidation of the investee 

Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Values (ASC 321-10-35-2) 

An entity may elect to measure an equity security without a readily determinable fair value by measuring 
such security at cost less impairment. This measurement is further supplemented by requiring an 
adjustment (plus or minus) resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical 
or a similar investment of the same issuer. 

The election to treat such equity securities should remain in effect until such time as the security no 
longer qualifies to be accounted for within this section. The entity should reassess at each reporting 
period whether the equity investment continues to qualify as an equity security without a readily 
determinable fair value. 

Impairment of Equity Securities without Readily Determinable Fair Values (ASC 321-10-35-3) 

If an entity holds an equity security without a readily determinable fair value (that does not qualify for the 
practical expedient to estimate fair value under ASC 820-10-35-59), a qualitative assessment is now 
available under ASC 321-10-35-3. The equity security should be written down to its fair value if the 
qualitative assessment indicates the security is impaired. The following factors should be considered in 
the qualitative assessment: 

 A significant deterioration in the earnings performance, credit rating, asset quality, or business 
prospects of the investee 

 A significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the 
investee 

 A significant adverse change in the general market conditions of either the geographical area or the 
industry in which the investee operates 

 A bona fide offer to purchase, an offer by the investee to sell, or a completed auction process for the 
same or similar investment for an amount less than the carrying amount of the investment 

 Factors that raise significant concern, such as negative cash flows from operations, working capital 
deficiencies, or noncompliance with statutory capital requirements or debt covenants 

The aforementioned list of items is not considered to be all-inclusive. Any other factors that an entity 
would consider in determining if an impairment exists should be considered. 

Investments—Debt Securities (ASC 320) 

Initial and Subsquent Measurment 

Unlike the changes to equity securities, investments in debt securities will continue to be classified into 
the three categories established by FASB 115: 

 Trading securities 
 Available-for-sale securities 
 Held-to-maturity securities 

The initial measurement and subsequent measurement for debt securities will remain unchanged. 
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Disclosure of certain information related to financial instruments measured at amortized cost 

The following changes to disclosures are included in ASU No. 2016-01: 

 Entities that are not public business entities that measure debt securities at amortized cost are no 
longer required to disclose the fair value of such financial instruments. 

 Public business entities are no longer required to disclose the methods and significant assumptions 
used to estimate fair value for financial instruments that are measured at amortized cost on the 
balance sheet. 

 Public entities are required to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair value. 

Presentation Issues for Comprehensive Income 
Certain financial liabilities that elect to be accounted for under the fair value option in ASC 825-10-25-1 
will now be required to present separately in other comprehensive income, the portion of the total 
change in the fair value of the liability resulting from a change in the instrument-specific credit risk. 

Presentation and Disclosure Issues—Balance Sheet 
An entity must present separately on the face of the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial 
statements the following information: 

 Financial assets by measurement category 
o Trading 
o Available for sale 
o Held to maturity 

 Financial assets by form of financial asset 
o Securities 
o Loans 
o Receivables 

 Financial liabilities by measurement category 
 Financial liabilities by form of financial liability 

Consideration of a Valuation Allowance for a Deferred Tax Asset 
ASU No. 2016-01 clarifies the need for an entity to evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a 
deferred tax asset related to available-for-sale securities in combination with the entity’s other deferred 
tax assets. 

WHEN WILL THIS ASU BE EFFECTIVE? 

Public business entities shall adopt this update for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, 
including interim periods within those years. 

All other entities, including not-for-profit entities and employee benefit plans within the scope of Topics 
960–985 should adopt this update for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim 
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. 
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Upon adoption, an entity should apply the amendments by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to 
the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. 

The amendments related to equity securities without readily determinable fair values should be applied 
prospectively to equity investments that exist as of the date of the adoption of this update. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. When an entity adopts ASU No. 2016-01, unrealized gains and losses on equity securities that are 
classified as available for sale will be recognized in: 

a. Other comprehensive income. 
b. Statement of changes in equity. 
c. Will not be recognized. 
d. Current earnings. 

4. Which item is NOT a proper classification of debt securities? 

a. Held to maturity. 
b. Trading. 
c. Amortized cost. 
d. Available for sale. 
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ASU No. 2016-02—Leases (Topic 842) 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

Issued in February 2016, this ASU is intended to increase transparency and comparability in financial 
reporting by requiring balance sheet recognition of leases and note disclosure of certain information 
about lease arrangements. This ASU codifies the new FASB ASC topic 842, Leases, and makes 
conforming amendments to other FASB ASC topics.  

The new FASB ASC topic on leases includes these subtopics: 

 Overall 
 Lessee 
 Lessor 
 Sale and leaseback transactions 
 Leveraged lease arrangements 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

This ASU applies to all entities that enter into leases and subleases.  The requirements do not apply to the 
following non-depreciable assets accounted for under other FASB ASC topics: 

 Leases of intangible assets 
 Leases to explore for or use non-regenerative resources such as minerals, oil, and natural gas 
 Leases of biological assets, such as timber 
 Leases of inventory 
 Leases of assets under construction 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

Overall 

Identifying a Lease 

Key changes in the guidance are illustrated by comparing the definition of a lease in FASB ASC 840 
(previous GAAP) and FASB ASC 842. 
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FASB ASC 840 FASB ASC 842 

An agreement conveying the right to use 
property, plant, or equipment (land and/or 
depreciable assets) usually for a stated period 
of time. 

A contract, or part of a contract, that conveys 
the right to control the use of identified 
property, plant, or equipment  
(an identified asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

The identification of a lease under FASB ASC 842 is based on the presence of key elements in the 
definition.   

Separating Components of a Lease Contract 

Under FASB ASC 842, a contract that contains a lease is separated into lease components. Separation is 
based on the right to use; each underlying asset is considered to be separate from other lease components 
when both of the following criteria are met: 

 The lessee can benefit from the right-of-use of the asset (either alone or with other readily available 
resources) 

 The right-of-use is neither highly dependent on or highly interrelated with other underlying assets in 
the contract 

The consideration in the contract is allocated to the separate lease and nonlease components in 
accordance with provisions of FASB ASC 842.  

Lease Classification 

When a lease meets any of certain specified criteria at commencement, the lease is classified by the lessee 
and lessor as a finance lease and a sales-type lease, respectively. These criteria can be summarized as 
follows: 

 Transfers of ownership to lessee 
 Purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised 
 Lease term for major portion of asset’s economic life 
 Present value of lease payments and residual value exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the 

underlying asset 
 Specialized nature of underlying asset results in no expectation of alternative use after the lease term  

If none of the above criteria are met, the lease is classified by the lessee as an operating lease and by the 
lessor as either a direct financing lease or an operating lease, based on certain specified criteria.  

Lease Term and Measurement 

The lease term is the noncancellable period of the lease together with applicable options summarized 
below: 

 Period covered by option for lessee to extend the lease if reasonably certain to be exercised 
 Period covered by option for lessee to terminate the lease if reasonably certain not to be exercised 
 Period covered by option for lessor to extend or not terminate the lease if option is controlled by 

lessor. 
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Lease payments relating to use of the underlying asset during the lease term include the following at the 
commencement date: 

 Fixed payments less incentives payable to lessee 
 Variable lease payments based index or other rate 
 Exercise price of an option if reasonably certain to be exercised 
 Payments for penalties for terminating a lease if reflects exercise of lessee option 
 Certain fees paid by the lessee to the owners of a special purpose entity for structuring the lease 
 For lessee only, amounts probable of being owed under residual value guarantees 

Lease payments specifically exclude the following: 

 Certain other variable lease payments 
 Any guarantee by the lessee of the lessor’s debt 
 Certain amounts allocated to nonlease components 

Reassessment of the lease term and purchase options, and subsequent remeasurement by either the lessee 
or lessor is limited to certain specified conditions.  

Lessee 

Recognition and Measurement 

At the commencement date of the lease, a lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.  For 
short term leases (those for which the lease term is less than 12 months), an alternative accounting policy 
election is available. The lease liability is measured at the present value of the unpaid lease payments. The 
right-of-use asset consists of the following: the amount of the initial lease liability; any lease payments 
made to lessor at or before the commencement date minus any incentives received; and initial direct 
costs.  

After the commencement date, the lessee recognizes in profit or loss (unless costs are included in the 
carrying amount of another asset) the following: 

 Finance leases: 
o Amortization of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability 
o Variable lease payments not included in the lease liability in the period obligation 

incurred 
o Any impairment  

 Operating leases: 
o A single lease cost calculated such that the remaining cost is allocated on a straight line 

basis over the remaining term (unless another allocation is more representative of the 
benefit from use of the asset) 

o Variable lease payments not included in the lease liability in the period obligation 
incurred 

o Any impairment 

FASB ASC 842-20-35 provides guidance for subsequent measurement.  
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Presentation and Disclosure

Key presentation matters include the following: 

 Statement of financial position  
o Separate presentation of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities from finance leases and 

operating leases. 

 Statement of comprehensive income.  
o Finance leases–interest expense of lease liability and amortization of right-of-use asset. 
o Operating leases–expense to be included in the lessee’s income from continuing 

operations.  

 Statement of cash flows.  
o Presentation with financing activities–the repayment of the principal portion of the lease 

liability arising from finance leases.  
o Presentation with operating activities–payments from operating leases; variable lease 

payments and short term lease payments not included in lease liability.   

Disclosure requirements include qualitative and quantitative information for leases, significant 
judgements, and amounts recognized in the financial statements, including certain specified information 
and amounts.  

Lessor 

Recognition and Measurement 

FASB ASC 842 provides recognition guidance for sales-type leases, direct financing leases, and operating 
leases. The following table summarizes the guidance:   

Sales-Type Leases 

At the Commencement Date After the Commencement Date 

Lessor derecognizes the underlying asset and 
recognizes the following: 

 Net investment in the lease (lease 
receivable and unguaranteed residual 
asset) 

 Selling profit or loss arising from the 
lease 

 Initial direct costs as an expense 

Lessor recognizes the following: 

 Interest income on the net investment 
in the lease 

 Certain variable lease payments 
 Impairment 
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Direct Financing Leases 

At the Commencement Date After the Commencement Date 

Lessor derecognizes the underlying asset and 
recognizes the following: 

 Net investment in the lease (lease 
receivable and unguaranteed residual 
asset reduced by selling profit) 

 Selling loss arising from the lease, if 
applicable  

 Impairment 

Lessor recognizes the following: 
 
 

 Interest income on the net investment 
in the lease 
 
 

 Certain variable lease payments 

Operating Leases 

At the Commencement Date After the Commencement Date 

Lessor defers initial direct costs. 

 

Lessor recognizes the following: 

 The lease payments as income in profit 
or loss over the lease term on a straight 
line basis (unless another method in 
more representative of the benefit 
received) 

 Certain variable lease payments as 
income in profit or loss  

 Indirect costs as an expense over the 
lease term on the same basis as lease 
income 

FASB ASC 842-30-35 provides guidance for subsequent measurement.  

Presentation and Disclosure 

Key presentation matters include the following: 

For sales-type and direct financing leases: 

 Statement of financial position  
o Separate presentation of lease assets (that is, aggregate of lessor’s net investment in sales-

type leases and direct financing leases) from other assets. 
o Classified as current or noncurrent based on same considerations as other assets  

 Statement of comprehensive income  
o Presentation of income from leases in the statement of comprehensive income or 

disclosure of income from leases in the notes with a reference to the corresponding line 
in the statement of comprehensive income.  

o Presentation of profit or loss recognized at commencement date in a manner 
appropriate to lessor’s business model. 



1-22 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

 Statement of cash flows 
o Presentation with operating activities–cash receipts from leases. 

For operating leases: 

 Statement of financial position  
o Presentation of an underlying asset subject to an operating leases in accordance with 

other FASB ASC topics.  

 Statement of cash flows 
o Presentation with operating activities–cash receipts from leases.   

Disclosure requirements include qualitative and quantitative information for leases, significant 
judgements, and amounts recognized in the financial statements, including certain specified information 
and amounts. 

Sale and Leaseback Transactions 
FASB ASC 842 calls for recognition by the lessor of an investment in a leveraged lease. The investment is 
represented by the lessor’s initial and continuing investment in the following: 

 Rentals receivable 
 Investment-tax-credit receivable 
 Estimated residual value of the leased asset 
 Unearned and deferred income 

Leveraged Lease Arrangements 
FASB ASC 842 calls for recognition by the lessor of an investment in a leveraged lease. The investment is 
represented by the lessor’s initial and continuing investment in the following: 

 Rentals receivable 
 Investment-tax-credit receivable 
 Estimated residual value of the leased asset 
 Unearned and deferred income 

FASB ASC 842-50 provides guidance for subsequent measurement, financial statement presentation and 
disclosures. 

WHEN WILL THIS UPDATE BE EFFECTIVE? 

The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, 
including interim periods within those fiscal years, for any of the following:  

 A public business entity  
 A not-for-profit entity that has issued, or is a conduit bond obligor for, securities that are traded, 

listed, or quoted on an exchange or an over-the-counter market  
 An employee benefit plan that files financial statements with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC).  
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For all other entities, the amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early 
application of the amendments in this update is permitted for all entities. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

5. FASB ASU No. 2016-02 applies to leases of 

a. Office property. 
b. Biological assets. 
c. Rights to explore for minerals, oils, or natural gases. 
d. Inventory. 

6. Lessees measure the right-of-use assets at the 

a. Fair value of the asset. 
b. Historical cost of the leased asset. 
c. Present value of the liability to make payments plus initial direct costs. 
d. Costs of the asset, less residual value. 

DISCUSSION QUESTION 

How will the lease standard affect long-term real estate leases? Specifically, could there be a significant 
impact on comparability because most real estate leases do not have an implicit rate and there could be 
significant variance in the incremental borrowing rates amount companies within an industry? 
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Chapter 2  

FASB ASUS FOR  
PRIVATE COMPANIES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Recall the history of the formation of the Private Company Council (PCC). 
 Identify the objectives and working plan of the PCC. 
 Recognize the adopted updates issued by Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) at the 

recommendation of the PCC. 
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Private Company Council 

INTRODUCTION 

The Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF) established the Private Company Council (PCC or the 
council) on May 30, 2012, to address the concerns of constituents related to the development of financial 
reporting standards for private companies in the United States. Though the PCC is not the autonomous 
standard setting body that many requested, it is the most significant step taken by the FAF related to 
standards specifically for private companies. 

PREDECESSORS TO THE PCC 

Private Company Financial Reporting Committee 
The FAF and AICPA jointly formed the Private Company Financial Reporting Committee in June, 2006; 
Judy O’Dell was the first chair. This committee’s objective was to monitor FASB projects and make 
recommendations as to the impact, if any, new standards should have on private companies, and to 
propose differential standards, where appropriate. FASB agreed to consider the recommendations of the 
council, but was not bound by the recommendations. 

Private Company Standards Improvement Council 
The Private Company Standards Improvement Council (PCSIC) was proposed by the FAF in response 
to a report from the Blue Ribbon Panel on Standard Setting for Private Companies (blue ribbon panel). 
The report urged the FAF to create an independent standard setting body to issue financial reporting 
standards for private companies without ratification of FASB. This council was never implemented, due 
to strong opposition from the AICPA, including a referendum passed at the October 2011 meeting of 
AICPA council. The referendum called for the FAF to reconsider the formation of the PCSIC and 
instead implement an independent standard setting body as called for in the blue ribbon panel report. 
The formation of the PCC was the FAF’s response to the referendum. 

FORMATION OF THE PCC 

The FAF issued a final report on May 30, 2012, that established the PCC. The PCC is overseen by the 
FAF trustees and replaces the Private Company Financial Reporting Committee. The trustees appointed 
both a FASB member as liaison and a FAF observer to monitor the activities of the PCC and to provide 
support in the achievement of the PCC’s objectives.  
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Objectives of the PCC 
The PCC has two primary objectives: 

 Study the existing FASB Accounting Standards Codification® (ASC) to determine if any changes are 
necessary to enhance financial reporting for private companies. 

 Serve as an advisory board to FASB as new standards are being deliberated, considering the effects 
of those standards on private companies. 

THREE YEAR REVIEW 

The Board of Trustees of the Financial Accounting Federation conducted an assessment of the PCC 
based on the PCC’s first three years of operations. The objectives of this assessment were to: 

 Determine whether the PCC is meeting its primary responsibilities and mission, 
 Provide an assessment of the PCCs continuing role and effectiveness, and 
 Address changes to improve the effectiveness of the PCC. 

As part of the review, the FAF issued a Request for Comment-Three year Review of the Private 
Company Council in February 2015 to seek stakeholder comments on the PCC’s effectiveness, 
accomplishments and role in setting standards for private companies. Fifty-two comment letters were 
received from various stakeholders, which provided the following general input: 

 There was overall support for the PCC. 
 The standards issued to date were successful in addressing the needs of users of private company 

financial statements. 
 Some stakeholders fundamentally disagreed with the piecemeal approach to private company 

alternatives, preferring a comprehensive set of standards for private companies. 
 Some respondents believe that the “look-back period” has run its course and that the PCC should 

focus only on modifying developing standards to improve private company financial reporting. 
 Some respondents believe that the PCC should cease issuing standards and assume an advisory role. 

The overall response from the FAF was to reaffirm the PCC’s principal responsibilities—to advise the 
FASB on the appropriate accounting treatment for items under active consideration by the FASB and on 
possible alternatives within generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) to address the needs of 
users of private company financial statements. However, the FAF made targeted improvements to 
increase the effectiveness of the PCC by amending the “Responsibilities and Operating Procedures of the 
Private Company Council” as follows: 

 Increasing the PCC’s focus on providing the FASB with private company perspectives on the 
FASB’s active agenda projects 

 Creating a PCC Technical Agenda Consultation Group 
 Developing mechanisms to increase the transparency of the PCC’s discussions and views 

The amended “Responsibilities and Operating Procedures of the Private Company Council” became 
effective on January 1, 2016, and can be found at www.fasb.org. 
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Membership of the PCC 
The PCC has between 9 and 12 members at a given time, and all members serve without compensation. 
Candace Wright, a director with the Louisiana firm of Postlethwaite & Netterville, assumed the chair of 
the PCC on January 1, 2016.  

Implementation of PCC Standards 
The PCC conducts reviews of existing U.S. GAAP and identifies standards that require reconsideration. 
The PCC then develops proposed alternatives to U.S. GAAP that are warranted for private companies. 
These are accounting alternatives within U.S. GAAP, and may include modifications or exceptions to 
U.S. GAAP. Updates are issued by the FASB for these accounting alternatives. Private companies are 
able to elect which accounting alternatives within US GAAP they will implement. At a minimum, private 
companies will have to make additions or changes to their disclosure of significant accounting policies 
because they will have to disclose their choice of which accounting policies they have elected to follow. 

Approval Process 
Proposed accounting alternatives developed by the PCC are referred to as “PCC Issues” and are exposed 
for public comment after PCC member consensus and FASB endorsement. After the PCC considers 
public comments, the council conducts a final vote which must be approved by two-thirds of all PCC 
members for a final consensus. The proposed final standard is then submitted to FASB for a final vote of 
endorsement before it is issued as an Accounting Standards Update (ASU) by the FASB Board. 

Private Company Decision-Making Framework 
On December 23, 2013, FASB and the PCC issued a joint document titled Private Company Decision-Making 
Framework (the guide) that is used to evaluate financial accounting and reporting for private companies. 
The purpose of the guide is to provide a framework that results in consistency of when and where 
differences occur in accounting for private company financial reporting. The guide can be found at 
www.fasb.org. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. Which statement is an objective of the PCC? 

a. Provide oversight to the development of Financial Reporting Framework for Small- and Medium-
Sized Entities (FRF for SMEs® framework). 

b. Serve in an advisory capacity to FASB. 
c. Establish a separate set of standards for private companies in the United States. 
d. Provide input to the continued development of International Financial Reporting Standard 

(IFRS) for SMEs. 
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ASU No. 2013-12—Definition of a Public Business 
Entity—An Addition to the Master Glossary 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

This ASU is designed to minimize the inconsistency and complexity of having multiple definitions of, or 
a diversity in practice as to what constitutes, a nonpublic entity and a public entity within GAAP on a 
going-forward basis. This project is related to the development of the Private Company Decision-Making 
Framework (the guide). 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

The definition of a public business entity will be used in considering the scope of new financial reporting 
guidance issued through FASB ASUs going forward and will identify whether such new guidance does or 
does not apply to public business entities. The definition excludes a not-for-profit entity within the scope 
of FASB ASC 958 or an employee benefit plan within the scope of FASB ASC 960 through 965 on plan 
accounting. Business entities that are within the scope of the guide are those for which FASB and the 
PCC will consider potential financial accounting and reporting alternatives within U.S. GAAP. 

Note: This new definition of a public business entity does not supersede any existing definitions in the 
FASB ASC’s master glossary and does not affect the scope of any existing topics in FASB ASC. All 
existing topics will continue to use previously existing definitions to determine scope. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

The definition of public business entity differs from some of the existing definitions of public entity in FASB 
ASC. The amendment specifies the following: 

 An entity that is required by the SEC to file or furnish financial statements with the SEC or does file 
or furnish financial statements with the SEC is considered a public business entity. Some of the 
existing definitions of public entity in FASB ASC do not include this criterion to define public entity. 

 A consolidated subsidiary of a public company is not considered a public business entity for 
purposes of its standalone financial statements other than those included in an SEC filing by its 
parent or by other registrants or those that are issuers and are required to file or furnish financial 
statements with the SEC. Some of the existing definitions of public entity in FASB ASC consider a 
consolidated subsidiary of a public company to be public. 

 A business entity that has securities that are not subject to contractual restrictions on transfer and 
that is by law, contract, or regulation required to prepare GAAP financial statements (including 
footnotes) and make them publicly available on a periodic basis is considered a public business entity. 
The existing definitions of public entity in FASB ASC do not include this criterion and do not 
consider an entity to be public unless it meets one of the other criteria included in the definition (for 
example, if it has debt or equity securities that trade either on a stock exchange or an over-the-
counter market). 
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WHEN WILL THIS ASU BE EFFECTIVE? 

There is no actual effective date for the amendment in this ASU. However, the term public business entity 
will be used in future ASUs to establish scope and applicability of new guidance. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

2. ASU No. 2013-12 includes which item as a definition of a public business entity? 

a. An entity that is required by the SEC to file financial statements with the SEC. 
b. An entity that has issued securities using a private placement memorandum. 
c. Governmental organizations. 
d. A foreign company that does business in the United States. 
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ASU No. 2014-02—Intangibles—Goodwill and Other 
(Topic 350): Accounting for Goodwill 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

Accounting for goodwill became more complex in 2002 with the issuance of standards that mandate an 
annual impairment test for goodwill. Despite a later standard that allowed for a qualitative assessment of 
goodwill that could preempt the need for the quantitative impairment test, many private companies 
found it costly and complex to apply the provisions of these standards due to the difficulty in 
determining the fair value of reporting units, and in some cases, allocating goodwill to reporting units. 
This ASU was issued to provide private companies with an optional method of accounting for goodwill 
that would require fewer resources to implement. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

This update applies to all entities except 

 Public business entities and not-for-profit entities as defined in the Master Glossary of FASB ASC. 
 Employee benefit plans within the scope of FASB ASC 960 through 965. 
 Financial institutions as described in FASB ASC 942-320-50-1. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

An entity that elects to apply the provisions of this update can amortize goodwill on a straight-line basis 
over 10 years, or fewer than 10 years if the entity demonstrates that a shorter life is more appropriate. 

An entity will also be required to make an accounting policy election to test goodwill for impairment at 
either the entity level or the reporting unit level when a triggering event occurs that indicates that the fair 
value of the entity or the reporting unit may be less than the carrying amount. The entity also has the 
option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether the quantitative impairment test is 
necessary. 

When an impairment test is deemed necessary, the standard allows for a one-step test to be conducted 
and eliminates step two of the current impairment test in FASB ASC 350-20 (which requires the 
hypothetical application of the acquisition method to calculate the goodwill impairment amount). Under 
the one-step test, the goodwill impairment amount, if any, represents the excess of the entity’s (or the 
reporting unit’s) carrying amount over its fair value (limited to the carrying amount of goodwill of the 
entity [or reporting unit]). 



2-8 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

WHEN WILL THIS ASU BE EFFECTIVE? 

FASB issued ASU No. 2016-03, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Business Combinations (Topic 805), 
Consolidation (Topic 810), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Effective Date and Transition Guidance in March 
2016, stating that the guidance in ASU No. 2014-02 is effective prospectively for new goodwill 
recognized after the adoption of this guidance.  For existing goodwill, the guidance is effective as of the 
beginning of the first fiscal year in which the accounting alternative is adopted. 

 

  Example 3-1 

A company that is not publicly traded has carried the asset goodwill in the amount of 
$3,000,000 since a business combination was recorded in 2007. Management of the company 
has spent considerable resources each year in obtaining a valuation of the reporting unit that 
contains the goodwill. 

Management has not yet issued the December 31, 2013, financial statements as of January 29, 
2014, and they have become aware of ASU No. 2014-02 that will allow an election by 
management to amortize goodwill. Management determines that it is appropriate to make the 
election to amortize goodwill, and now records amortization expense of $300,000 
($3,000,000/10). Management has determined that it is not appropriate to amortize the 
goodwill for a period shorter than 10 years. 

In addition, the following disclosures are made in the summary of significant accounting policies 
and goodwill footnotes: 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Excerpt) 

Goodwill 

Prior to the year ended December 31, 2013, ABC Company accounted for goodwill in 
accordance with FASB ASC 350. Those standards required an annual impairment test for 
goodwill. Goodwill was not amortized under FASB ASC 350. 

The company has elected to apply the provisions of ASU No. 2014-02 for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, which allows private companies the option of amortizing goodwill using 
the straight-line method over a period of 10 years, or a period of less than 10 years if the 
shorter period is more appropriate. 

Change in Accounting Policies 

ABC Company has elected to apply the provisions of ASU No. 2014-02 for the year ended 
December 31, 2013, as described in the subsection titled “Goodwill” in this summary of 
significant accounting policies. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. FASB ASU No. 2014-02 allows private companies the option to account for goodwill in which 
manner? 

a. Amortize over the same period as the company uses for income tax purposes. 
b. Perform the annual impairment test only at year-end. 
c. Amortize over a 10-year period in any systematic manner. 
d. Amortize over a 10-year period using the straight-line method. 

DISCUSSION QUESTION 

Is it always a good idea for private companies that carry goodwill on their books to elect to amortize 
goodwill under this update? What are some of the pros and cons of amortizing goodwill for private 
companies? 

  Example 3-1 (continued) 

Goodwill (Excerpt) 
ABC Company has elected to apply the provisions of ASU No. 2014-02 for the year ending 
December 31, 2013. Prior to the adoption of this standard, ABC Company has not amortized 
goodwill. Amortization of goodwill over a 10-year period using the straight-line method reflects 
an amortization expense for the year in the amount of $300,000. Goodwill is presented on the 
balance sheet as follows: 

Goodwill $ 3,000,000

Accumulated amortization 300,000

Goodwill, net of amortization $ 2,700,000
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ASU No. 2014-03—Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 
815): Accounting for Certain Receive-Variable, Pay-
Fixed Interest Rate Swaps-Simplified Hedge 
Accounting Approach 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

Many private companies found accounting for plain vanilla interest rate swaps to be very time consuming 
and expensive under existing U.S. GAAP. Most private companies that entered into plain vanilla interest 
rate swaps did so concurrently with the issuance of the variable interest debt instrument and were not 
subject to many of the risks that accompany an investment in a derivative financial instrument. Also, in 
some cases, management of the private company did not even understand that they had two separate 
financial instruments; they just thought they had a fixed-rate loan.  

In order to implement hedge accounting for the interest rate swaps, a company had to test the 
effectiveness of the hedge and also had to comply with many other provisions of FASB ASC 815. 
Because of the complexities involved, many private companies did not elect to implement hedge 
accounting, and therefore reported the fair value of the hedging instrument as either an asset or a liability 
at each balance sheet date, and a resulting gain or loss in earnings. The resulting volatility to earnings 
concerned many users and preparers of financial statements for private companies. 

This update was issued by FASB at the recommendation of the PCC in order to ease the burden of 
accounting for plain vanilla interest rate swaps for private companies by allowing companies to elect the 
simplified hedge accounting approach. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

This update applies to all entities except the following: 

 Public business entities and not-for-profit entities as defined in the Master Glossary of FASB ASC 
 Employee benefit plans within the scope of FASB ASC 960 through 965 
 Financial institutions as described in FASB ASC 942-320-50-1 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

This update allows eligible private companies the option to elect the simplified hedge accounting 
approach for plain vanilla interest rate swaps. This approach allows an entity to record interest expense at 
the effective fixed rate that is achieved through the use of the hedging instrument (that is, the interest rate  
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swap). In order to apply the provisions of this standard, an entity must ensure that the following criteria 
are met when the debt instrument and the interest rate swap are consummated: 

 Both the variable rate on the swap (instrument 1) and borrowing (instrument 2) are based on the 
same index and reset period. 

 The terms of the swap are typical of a plain vanilla interest rate swap, and there is no floor or cap on 
the variable interest rate of the swap unless the borrowing has a similar floor or cap. 

 The repricing and settlement dates for the swap and the borrowing match differ by no more than a 
few days. 

 The swap’s fair value at inception is at or near zero. 
 The notional amount of the swap matches the principal amount of the borrowing being hedged. The 

amount of the borrowing being hedged may be less than the total principal amount of the borrowing. 
 All interest payments occurring on the borrowing during the term of the swap are designated as 

hedged whether in total or in proportion to the principal amount of the borrowing being hedged. 

Entities that elect the simplified hedging approach have the option to measure the designated swap at 
settlement value instead of fair value. Electing to measure at the settlement value will eliminate the need 
to consider non-performance risk, thus allowing a company to estimate the settlement value by 
performing a present value calculation of the swap’s remaining cash flows using a valuation technique 
that is not adjusted for non-performance risk. Typically, settlement value will be provided by the bank 
that issued the variable debt instrument and the interest rate swap. 

The documentation, disclosure, and all other requirements of FASB ASC 815 continue to apply for the 
swap accounted for under the simplified hedge accounting approach. 

WHEN WILL THIS ASU BE EFFECTIVE? 

FASB issued ASU No. 2016-03 in March 2016, stating that guidance in ASU No. 2014-03 should be 
applied as of the beginning of the first fiscal year in which the approach is elected.   

A company that adopts the provisions of this update will have the option of using the modified 
retrospective approach or the full retrospective approach. 

Modified Retrospective Approach 
Under this approach, adjustments are made to the assets, liabilities, and appropriate equity accounts of 
the current period presented to reflect application of hedge accounting from the date the receive-variable, 
pay-fixed interest rate swap was entered into by the entity. 

Full Retrospective Approach 
Under this approach, the financial statements will be adjusted to reflect the period-specific effects of 
applying hedge accounting from the date the receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swap was entered 
into by the entity and the corresponding adjustments should be made to the assets, liabilities, and 
appropriate equity accounts of the earliest period presented to reflect application of hedge accounting 
from the date the receive-variable, pay-fixed interest rate swap was entered into by the entity. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. If a private entity elects the provisions of ASU No. 2014-03 with regard to plain vanilla interest rate 
swaps, the entity should measure the interest rate swap at each balance sheet date at 

a. Fair value. 
b. Historical cost. 
c. Settlement value. 
d. Impaired value. 

DISCUSSION QUESTION 

Some private entities may determine that net income is not impacted if the interest rate swap is not 
recorded, and therefore it is not material to the financial statements. How does materiality come into play 
when determining if not recording the interest rate swap is a material misstatement?  
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ASU No. 2014-07—Consolidation (Topic 810): 
Applying Variable Interest Entities Guidance to 
Common Control Leasing Arrangements 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

Many private companies have a legal entity that is the operating company, and a separate legal entity that 
owns the real estate that is leased by the operating company. The relationship and ownership structure of 
these two entities typically create a variable interest that will require, at a minimum, an evaluation to 
determine if consolidation is necessary. More often than not, consolidated financial statements are 
required. 

The cost and complexity of applying variable interest entity (VIE) guidance and the lack of relevance to 
users when consolidating lessor entities under common control led the PCC to conclude that the benefits 
of consolidated financial statements in these circumstances do not outweigh the costs for private 
companies. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS UPDATE? 

This update applies to all entities except 

 Public business entities and not-for-profit entities as defined in the Master Glossary of FASB ASC. 
 Employee benefit plans within the scope of FASB ASC 960 through 965. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

This update allows a private company lessee (the reporting entity) to elect an alternative not to apply the 
guidance for VIE accounting (consolidation) to a lessor entity if 

 the private company lessee and the lessor entity are under common control. 
 the private company lessee has a lease arrangement with the lessor entity. 
 substantially all of the activities between the private company lessee and the lessor entity are related 

to leasing activities between those two entities. 
 any obligation of the lessor that is being guaranteed or collateralized by the private company lessee 

cannot exceed the value of the leased asset at inception of the guarantee. 

Issuing a guarantee or providing collateral on the obligations of the lessor entity related to the leased 
asset(s) are examples of a leasing activity between the private company lessee and the lessor entity. Other 
arrangements, such as a purchase commitment with the lessor entity, are not considered to be related to 
the leasing activity between the private company lessee and the lessor entity. 
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Although VIE guidance would no longer apply to the lessor entity, the private company lessee would still 
have to consider other applicable GAAP, such as FASB ASC 460, Guarantees, and FASB ASC 840, Leases, 
for transactions or arrangements related to the leasing activity between the two entities. 

The accounting alternative is an accounting policy election that, when elected, should be applied by a 
private company lessee to all current and future lessor entities under common control that meet the 
criteria for applying this approach. 

Under the alternative, existing VIE disclosures about the lessor entity are replaced by disclosures about 

 the amount and key terms of liabilities recognized by the lessor entity that expose the private 
company lessee to provide significant financial support to the lessor entity, and 

 a qualitative description of circumstances not recognized in the financial statements of the lessor 
entity that expose the private company lessee to providing financial support to the lessor entity. 

Note that many of these disclosures are already required under related party transactions, debt guarantees, 
and leasing arrangements. These disclosures can be combined in a single note or by including cross-
references within the notes to the financial statements. 

WHEN WILL THIS ASU BE EFFECTIVE? 

FASB issued ASU No. 2016-03 in March 2016, stating that upon adoption of the accounting policy 
alternative, guidance should be applied retrospectively as of the beginning of the first fiscal year in which 
the alternative is elected and to all periods presented. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

5. Which item is a characteristic of a common control leasing arrangement? 

a. There is a lease contract between the VIE and a related party. 
b. The amount of debt guaranteed by the primary beneficiary exceeds the fair value of the 

underlying asset. 
c. The lease contract is substantially all of the activity between the VIE and the primary 

beneficiary. 
d. The primary beneficiary accounts for the VIE using the equity method of accounting. 
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ASU No. 2014-18—Business Combinations (Topic 
805): Accounting for Identifiable Intangible Assets in 
a Business Combination 

WHY WAS THIS ASU ISSUED? 

Private companies sometimes lack the resources to both identify and value certain intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination, thus the benefits from current accounting required for identifiable 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination may not justify the related costs. This update reduces 
the cost and complexity associated with the measurement of certain identifiable intangible assets without 
significantly diminishing decision-useful information to users of private company financial statements. 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THIS ASU? 

The amendments in this update, at an entity’s election, applies to all entities except public business 
entities and not-for-profit entities as defined in the master glossary of FASB ASC. 

WHAT ARE THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THIS ASU? 

A private company can elect an accounting alternative to not recognize separately from goodwill the 
following intangible assets: 

 Customer-related intangible assets unless they are capable of being sold or licensed independently 
from other assets of the business. Examples of customer-related intangible assets that may meet this 
criteria are as follows: 

o Mortgage servicing rights 
o Commodity supply contracts 
o Core deposits 
o Customer information (mailing lists, email addresses) 

 Noncompetition agreements. 

As a result of this update, some intangible assets that under current guidance, would be separately 
identified and thus measured at fair value in a qualifying transaction (typically a business combination), 
would now be subsumed into goodwill. It is important to note that the accounting alternative would 
impact initial and subsequent measurement for these assets. 
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A qualifying or in-scope transaction to which the alternative applies is a transaction accounted for by 

 applying the acquisition method of accounting in FASB ASC 805 on business combinations. 
 assessing the nature of the difference between the carrying amount of an investment and the amount 

of underlying equity in net assets of an investee when applying the equity method under FASB ASC 
323 on investments—equity method and joint ventures. 

 adopting fresh-start reporting under FASB ASC 852 on reorganizations. 

An entity that elects treatment of the accounting alternative in this update should adopt the accounting 
alternative to amortize goodwill under ASU No. 2014-02. However, an entity that elects the accounting 
alternative in ASU No. 2014-02 is not required to adopt the amendments in this update. 

WHEN WILL THIS ASU BE EFFECTIVE? 

FASB issued ASU No. 2016-03, which states that upon adoption of ASU No. 2014-18, the guidance is 
effective prospectively to the first transaction that is identified within the scope of the accounting 
alternative. 
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Current PCC Issues 
The following PCC issues are on their agenda as well as that of the FASB. 

PCC ISSUE 15-01— EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION GUIDANCE 

The PCC reached a final consensus at their December 4, 2015, meeting that will remove the effective 
dates for all previously issued standards containing an accounting alternative for private entities. The PCC 
approved changes, which allow private companies to forgo an initial preferability assessment that 
otherwise would have been required under Topic 250, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, upon first 
election of the accounting alternatives in related updates. Any subsequent election of those accounting 
alternatives will require a preferability assessment. FASB has approved this consensus and a final 
standard was issued in March 2016 through FASB ASU No. 2016-03.  

PCC ISSUE 15-02—AGENGA PAPER-APPLYING VIE GUDIANCE TO ENTITIES 

UNDER COMMON CONTROL 

This project will study the necessity of applying VIE guidance to companies under common control that 
are not already addressed in ASU No. 2014-07 (Common control leasing arrangements). The PCC has 
directed the FASB staff to work with private company stakeholders to develop examples and clarify 
application of VIE guidance to such situations. This project is in initial deliberations. 

DISCLOSURE FRAMEWORK—INCOME TAXES 

The FASB currently has several Framework Projects, one of which relates to disclosures. As part of this 
project, the FASB is developing a framework for income tax disclosures. As part of this project, the 
FASB is considering the need for disclosing a reconciliation of actual taxes to the expected taxes based 
on the maximum tax rate. The PCC has disagreed with the FASB’s tentative decision to require a rate 
reconciliation for private companies. 

IMPROVING THE PRESENTATION OF NET PERIODIC PENSION COST AND NET 

PERIODIC POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT COST 

The PCC discussed this FASB project that will focus on the presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost 
and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost. The main provision of the proposed ASU, which PCC 
members specifically addressed, related to the presentation of only the service cost component in the 
same line item or items as other current employee compensation costs, which would allow only the 
service cost component to be eligible for capitalization. PCC feedback indicated that if FASB moves 
forward with the disaggregated reporting of net periodic pension cost and net periodic postretirement 
cost, other breakouts should be considered, such as presenting net cost by active employees, employees 
currently vested, and employees accruing benefits. FASB expects to issue an exposure draft in 2016. 
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Summary of PCC Activities 
Since its inception in 2012, the PCC has made recommendations to FASB and FASB has now issued four 
updates that provide both measurement and disclosure alternatives for certain transactions of private 
companies. In addition, the PCC worked with FASB in developing an ASU that provided guidelines in 
determining which companies qualified as private companies that are eligible for relief under PCC 
standards. 

DISCUSSION QUESTION 

Has the PCC addressed issues that are relevant to your company or your clients? What other issues that 
impact your companies or clients should the PCC be addressing? 
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Chapter 3  

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 

REPORTING STANDARDS FOR SMES 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Recognize characteristics of IFRS for Small- and Medium-Sized Entities (SMEs). 
 Distinguish the major differences between IFRS for SMEs and U.S. generally accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP). 

INTRODUCTION 

In 2009, the IASB introduced a set of standards that were designed for Small to Medium Enterprises 
(SMEs). The document defines SMEs not based on the size of the entity but by whether the entity had 
public accountability or held assets of public trust. At that time, the IASB estimated that 95 percent of 
entities worldwide would meet the definition of SMEs, and it would, therefore, be appropriate for these 
entities to adopt these standards. The IFRS Foundation regularly updates the progress of IFRS for SMEs 
by publishing the “IFRS for SMEs Fact Sheet.” The most recent update to the standards was issued on 
December 1, 2015. IFRS for SMEs is considered to be Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
because the IASB is considered an authoritative standard setter in the AICPA Code of Professional 
Conduct. 
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COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW OF IFRS FOR SMES 

Though IFRS for SMEs is not meant to be constantly updated, it is reviewed every three years in order to 
determine whether changes are necessary. The latest update issued on December 1, 2015, included 
several changes to IFRS for SMEs as follows: 

Section 1—Small and Medium Sized Entities 
Section 1 was amended to clarify that most banks, credit unions, insurance companies, securities brokers 
and dealers, mutual funds, and investment banks would not be considered an SME. 

A parent company or a subsidiary company may issue separate financial statements using the framework 
if the reporting entity itself meets the qualifications of an SME without regard to the qualification of 
other entities in the consolidated group. 

Section 2—Concepts and Pervasive Principles 
There are several references within the standards that allow for exceptions to the standards if the 
requirement cannot be achieved without “undue cost and effort.” The update provides additional 
guidance in making the determination of “undue cost and effort,” which includes consideration of the 
following: 

 Consideration to the effect of decisions on expected users of the financial information 
 Consideration of the costs and benefits 
 The hurdle would be lower for and SME than for a publicly accountable entity. 

The section was also updated to provide guidance on the following issues: 

 IFRS for SMEs does not prescribe how or when amounts can be transferred between components of 
equity. 

 Clarification on certain financial assets that will be measured at fair value 
 Measurement of nonfinancial assets 

Section 4—Statement of Financial Position 
Investment property carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment shall be reported 
separately on the statement of financial position. 

A reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end does not need to be 
presented for prior periods, only the current period. 

Section 5—Statement of Comprehensive Income and Income Statement 
Clarifies that the amount presented for discontinued operations will include an impairment loss recorded 
in accordance with section 27. 

Adds the changes in the revaluation of surplus for property, plant, and equipment in accordance with 
section 17 shall be an element of comprehensive income. This brings the total of items that are included 
in comprehensive income from three to four. 

Adds a requirement that items of comprehensive income that will be subsequently reclassified to income 
be presented separately from those items that will not be subsequently reclassified to income. 
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Section 6—Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Income and Retained 
Earnings 
Clarifies that only the total of comprehensive income is required to be presented in the statement of 
changes in equity instead of each item of comprehensive income. 

Clarifies that only amounts paid to owners in their capacity as owners should be presented in the 
statement of changes in equity. Amounts paid in their capacities as employees or contractors shall be 
presented in the income statement. 

Section 9—Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
Provides clarification on multiple issues regarding the recognition of subsidiaries. 

Creates an option that permits an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries in its separate financial 
statements using the equity method. 

Modifies the definition of “combined financial statements” to refer to entities under common control 
instead of entities under common control of a single investor. 

Allows and exception to the uniform reporting date for the consolidation of a parent and subsidiaries if it 
is impracticable to do so. 

Requires disclosure of the carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries that are not consolidated at the 
reporting date either on the face of the financial statements or in the notes to the financial statements. 

Section 10—Accounting Policies, Estimates, and Errors 
Stipulates that the initial application of a policy to revalue assets in accordance with section 17 is a change 
in accounting policy and shall be accounted for prospectively. 

Section 11—Basic Financial Instruments 
Clarification on the following issues: 

 Interaction of the scope of this section with other sections 
 Applicability to simple loan arrangements 
 When an arrangement would constitute a loan arrangement 
 Fair value measurements when the best evidence of fair value may be a price in a binding sales 

agreement 

Section 12—Other Financial Instruments Issues 
Clarifies that this section is not applicable to investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures, an 
entity’s own equity instruments, leases, share based payments, and reimbursement assets accounted for in 
section 21. 

Clarifies that this section is not applicable for changes in fair value for hedging instruments recognized in 
comprehensive income. 

Section 14—Investments in Associates 
Amendments to the section include the language that was added in section 2 related to “undue cost and 
effort.” 
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Section 15—Investments in Joint Ventures 
Amendments to the section include the language that was added in section 2 related to “undue cost and 
effort.” 

Section 16—Investment Property 
Amends disclosure requirements to refer to investment property and conforming changes to section 4. 

Section 17—Property, Plant and Equipment 
Conforming changes to align the wording of this section with IAS 16 which was issued in May 2012. The 
changes clarify that certain items such as spare parts and standby equipment may be capitalized and 
depreciated under this section only if they meet the definitions in this section. Otherwise those items are 
classified as inventory. 

It adds an option to use the revaluation model as its accounting policy for property, plant and equipment 
subsequent to initial recognition. This option can only be used if the fair value can be measured reliably. 
Increases in value shall be recognized in comprehensive income, whereas losses shall be recognized in 
earnings.  

Additional disclosures are required if a company elects the revaluation model. 

Section 18—Intangible Assets other than Goodwill 
Establishes a maximum useful life of 10 years for intangible assets other than goodwill that do not have a 
reliable measurement of useful life. 

Section 19—Business Combinations and Goodwill 
Replaces the term “date of exchange” with “date of acquisition.” 

Changes the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities and employee benefit arrangements from fair 
value to the measurement conventions in section 29 and section 28. 

Incorporates the new guidance in section 2 related to “undue cost and effort” in accounting for the fair 
value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination. 

Changes the amortization period for goodwill from an absolute of 10 years to management’s estimate of 
the useful life, not to exceed 10 years. 

Requires additional disclosures related to the types of synergies that make up goodwill recognized and the 
useful life of goodwill. 

Section 20—Leases 
Amends the applicability of the section to exclude leases that could lead to a loss to the lessor or lessee as 
a result of changes in lease payments based on variable market interest rates. 

Section 21—Provisions and Contingencies 
Conforming changes to incorporate the “undue cost and effort” language in section 2 as it relates to 
measurement and disclosures of contingencies. 
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Section 22—Liabilities and Equity 
Guidance on classification of a financial instrument as a liability or equity is clarified to look at the 
substance of the instrument instead of the legal form in order to assist in classification. 

Exempts financial instruments acquired in a business combination from the initial measurement 
requirements of this section as those instruments are initially measured in accordance with section 19. 

Changes the accounting for the costs of equity transaction to require that the income tax effects are 
accounted for in accordance with section 29 instead of netting against the cost that was treated as a 
reduction of equity. 

Includes conforming language to IFRIC 19 for transactions involving extinguishment of financial 
liabilities with equity instruments. 

Changes the income tax effect of distributions to owners from a direct reduction of equity to a flow 
through the income statement. 

Conforming changes to allow for the “undue cost or effort” language from section 2. 

Section 26—Share Based Payments 
Clarification of the scope of this section to include share based payments that are equity or cash settled or 
those in which the entity has a choice to settle in cash or by issuing equity instruments. 

Clarification of the measurement principles for 

 Certain vesting conditions 
 Modifications of grants of equity instruments 
 Simplification provisions for group plans 

Section 27—Impairment of Assets 
Clarification that this section does not apply to assets arising from construction contracts 

Section 28—Employee Benefits 
Clarification of accounting requirements to OPEBs. 

Elimination of the disclosure requirements of accounting policy for termination benefits. 

Section 29—Income Tax 
Alignment with IAS 12 on recognition and measurement principles. (This should not have any changes 
on recognition and measurement under IFRS). 

Conforming language to include the principles of “undue cost and effort” from section 2. 

Section 30—Foreign Currency Translation 
Clarification on the applicability of financial instruments that derive their value from the change in 
specific foreign exchange rates. Such instruments are not covered under section 30. 
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Section 33—Related Party Disclosures 
Aligns the definition of related party with IAS 24 (but still includes reference to joint control and 
significant influence). 

Section 35—Transition to the IFRS for SMEs 
Allows this section to be permitted more than once. If an entity did not have a disclosure in the 
previously issued financial statements that was an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with 
IFRS for SMEs, the entity can transition to full conformity. 

Provides additional implementation guidance for first-time adopters. 

MAJOR DIFFERENCES BETWEEN IFRS AND IFRS FOR SMES 

The IASB has identified differences between IFRS and IFRS for SMEs, including the following: 

 Irrelevant topics such as earnings per share, interim reporting, and segment reporting are not 
included. 

 There are fewer policy choices, and only the easiest and most cost-effective options are available. 
 Many principles are simplified, such as amortization of goodwill and the elimination of available-for-

sale and held-to-maturity classification of financial assets. 
 Significantly fewer disclosures (estimated at 90 percent) when compared with IFRS. However, in 

practice, most companies will not observe a 90 percent decrease. 
 The standards were written in clear and easily translatable language. 
 Revisions will be limited to only once every three years. 

MAJOR DIFFERENCES BETWEEN IFRS FOR SMES AND U.S. GAAP 

Although the most glaring difference is the sheer volume of the standards and the fact that there are no 
references to public company disclosures such as earnings-per-share, the following is a short list of some 
of the differences that many small companies may encounter if they adopt IFRS for SMEs: 

 Comparative statements are required. 
 Last-in, first-out inventory is not allowed. 
 Certain long-term fixed assets can be classified as investment assets and are not depreciated. 
 Investment assets can be measured at fair value if this can be accomplished without undue effort. 
 Standards are principle-based, not rules based.  
 Fewer disclosures are required, especially in relation to fair value. 

IMPLEMENTATION OF IFRS FOR SMES 

IFRS for SMEs may be implemented at any time by a U.S. company in accordance with the AICPA’s 
Code of Professional Conduct, which considers the IASB as a standard-setter recognized under the 
“Accounting Principles Rule” (AICPA, Professional Standards, ET sections 1.320.001 and 2.320.001). IFRS 
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for SMEs may be the best GAAP option for many non-issuers in the United States that can use a 
financial reporting framework but believe that the current FASB Codification is too complex or costly to 
implement. However, caution should be used when determining if IFRS for SMEs is appropriate for an 
entity in the United States. If a regulatory, lending, or investing entity mandates financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP, then FASB ASC must be followed. 

Implementation Guidance Issued by the IASB 
The IASB issued comprehensive and very useful implementation guidance for IFRS for SMEs that can 
be accessed at the following address:  

www.ifrs.org/IFRS-for-SMEs/Pages/Training-Modules.aspx 

The guidance consists of 35 separate training modules that contain not only sample financial statements 
and disclosure checklists, but also modules that deal with specific issues such as revenue recognition, 
financial instruments, and leases. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. All of these statements are major differences between IFRS for SMEs and U.S. GAAP EXCEPT:  

a. IFRS for SMEs does not allow for the LIFO method of inventory valuation. 
b. IFRS for SMEs is a significantly larger volume of standards and contains more complexities 

than U.S. GAAP. 
c. IFRS for SMEs standards are principles based, not rules based. 
d. IFRS for SMEs allows investment assets to be measured at fair value if this can be 

accomplished without undue effort. 

2. When comparing IFRS for SMEs and IFRS, IFRS for SMEs 

a. Is reviewed and revised only once every three years. 
b. Includes the same number of policy choices, allowing entities to choose what is most cost-

effective. 
c. Has the same number of required disclosures. 
d. Is reviewed and revised as necessary on an annual basis, similar to IFRS. 

DISCUSSION QUESTION 

Which SMEs that are currently reporting under U.S. GAAP or a special purpose framework should 
consider adopting IFRS for SMEs? 
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Chapter 4  

RECENTLY ISSUED AUDIT  
AND ATTEST STANDARDS   

LEARNING OBJECTIVES  

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following:  

 Determine key components of two recently issued Statements on Auditing Standards: SAS No. 130, 
An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is Integrated With an Audit of Financial Statements, 
and No. 131, Amendment to SAS No. 122 Section 700, Forming an Opinion on Financial Statements.  

 Recognize the new organizational structure for the Statements on Standards for Attestation 
Engagements (SSAEs) included in recently clarified SSAEs and  

 Identify the key elements of newly clarified SSAEs resulting from the issuance of SSAE No. 18, 
Attestation Standards: Clarification and Recodification. 

This chapter presents some of the most significant changes to the audit process resulting from the 
clarified guidance contained in SAS No. 130, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is 
Integrated With an Audit of Financial Statements, issued in October 2015 and SAS No. 131, Amendment to SAS 
No. 122 Section 700, Forming an Opinion on Financial Statements, issued in January 2016. The chapter 
also summarizes the content in a recently issued audit interpretation. The AICPA’s Auditing Standards 
Board (ASB) has also completed clarifying SSAEs and is issuing (in April 2016) the clarified attestation 
standards in SSAE No. 18, Attestation Standards: Clarification and Recodification. This chapter presents the 
highlights of that project and it discusses a recent interpretation of extant AT 201 that provides guidance 
related to third-party due diligence services related to asset-backed securitizations. 
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Recently Issued SASs  
During 2015 and early 2016, the ASB issued two new SASs: SAS Nos. 130 and 131.  

SAS NO. 130, AN AUDIT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING THAT IS INTEGRATED WITH AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  

In October 2015, the ASB issued SAS No. 130, which provides guidance related to audit of internal 
control over financial reporting that is integrated with the audit of financial statements.  

Background  
Prior to the issuance of SAS No. 130, the guidance for performing an examination of an entity’s internal 
controls over financial reporting for a private entity was contained in the attestation standards, specifically 
AT section 501, An Examination of an Entity’s Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated With 
an Audit of Its Financial Statements.  

The ASB concluded that, because engagements performed under the current guidance in AT section 501, 
as well as related attestation interpretation No. 1, “Reporting Under Section 112 of the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation Improvement Act” (AICPA, Professional Standards, AT section 9501), were 
required to be integrated with an audit of financial statements, it would be appropriate to move the 
content of extant AT section 501 from the attestation standards into GAAS.  

Extant AT section 501 and related attestation interpretation No. 1 will be withdrawn when SAS No. 130 
becomes effective later in 2016. At a later date, the ASB may consider developing an attestation standard 
addressing examinations of internal control other than internal control over financial reporting that is 
integrated with an audit of financial statements.  

In addition to superseding AT section 501, SAS No. 130 also amended various sections of SAS No. 122, 
Statements on Auditing Standards: Clarification and Recodification. Those amendments are summarized in the 
appendix to SAS No. 130 and will be effective at the same time as SAS 130.  

Effective Date  
SAS No. 130 is effective for integrated audits for periods ending on or after December 15, 2016.  

Key Definitions  
SAS No. 130 contains several defined terms. Following are two main definitions that provide context for 
use throughout the standard.  

Audit of ICFR. An audit of the design and operating effectiveness of an entity’s internal control over 
financial reporting (ICFR).  
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Internal control over financial reporting. A process effected by those charged with governance, 
management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the preparation of 
reliable financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and includes 
those policies and procedures that  

 pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity;  

 provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and those charged with governance; and  

 provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the entity's assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements.  

ICFR has inherent limitations because it is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is 
subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. ICFR also can be 
circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk 
that material misstatements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis by ICFR.  

 KEY PROVISIONS OF SAS NO. 130  

When drafting the SAS No. 130, the intention of the ASB was to adhere as closely as possible to extant 
AT section 501 and PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
That Is Integrated With an Audit of Financial Statements, while aligning the content with GAAS and avoiding 
unintended consequences in practice. A number of amendments to other SASs were also included to 
integrate the guidance in SAS No. 130 into GAAS.  

SAS No. 130 includes the following:  

 The auditor is required to examine and report directly on the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting. There is no longer an option to examine and report on management’s assertion 
about the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.  

 SAS No. 130 highlights that the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 COSO framework) and the U.S. 
Government Accountability Office’s Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government (the Green 
Book) provide suitable and available criteria for management to use in the evaluation of and 
reporting on the effectiveness of the entity’s ICFR.  

 The term significant account or disclosure used in extant AT section 501 is changed to significant class of 
transactions, account balance, or disclosure to align with terminology used in extant GAAS. This is also 
meant to clarify that the risk factors the auditor is required to evaluate in the identification of 
significant classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures and their relevant assertions are 
the same in the audit of internal control over financial reporting as in the audit of the financial 
statements.  

 SAS No. 130 allows, as does extant AT section 501, the auditor to use the work of internal auditors 
and others in obtaining evidence about the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. 
Although AU-C section 610, Using the Work of Internal Auditors, does not discuss “others,” the SAS 
requires the auditor planning to use the work of others in the audit of internal control over financial 
reporting, adapt and apply, as necessary, the requirements of AU-C section 610, including the need 
for others to apply a systematic and disciplined approach.   
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PRECONDITIONS FOR AN AUDIT OF ICFR  

AU-C section 210, Terms of Engagement, (AICPA, Professional Standards) requires the auditor to establish 
whether the preconditions for the audit are present. In an audit of ICFR, the auditor should obtain the 
agreement of management that it acknowledges and understands its responsibility for ICFR.  

In addition to establishing this agreement and understanding with management, the auditor should 
determine that the “as of” date in the report on ICFR corresponds to the balance sheet date (or period 
end date) of the financial statements.  

SAS No. 130 requires the auditor to request management provide a written assessment about the 
effectiveness of the entity’s ICFR. Management’s refusal to provide a written assessment represents a 
scope limitation.  

The auditor should evaluate the effectiveness of the entity’s ICFR using the same suitable and available 
criteria used by management in its assessment. 

 Quick Exercise 4-1 Nature of Engagement to Examine Internal Controls  

In an audit of the financial statements, GAAS requires the auditor to obtain an understanding of 
internal controls to assess the risk of material misstatements in the financial statements. How does 
the nature and extent of the auditor’s procedures in an audit of the financial statements differ from 
the nature and extent of auditor procedures in an examination of internal control over financial 
reporting? 

INTEGRATING THE AUDIT OF ICFR WITH THE FINANCIAL  
STATEMENT AUDIT  

Although SAS No. 130 notes that the objectives of an audit of ICFR and an audit of financial statements 
are not the same, it does emphasize that the auditor should plan and perform the integrated audit to 
achieve their respective objectives simultaneously (hence the title of SAS No. 130). The auditor should 
design tests of controls to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to support the auditor’s opinion on 
ICFR as of the date specified in management’s assessment about ICFR. Additionally, the auditor should 
design tests of controls to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to support the auditor’s control risk 
assessments for purposes of the audit of financial statements. 
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Key Point 

 SAS No. 130 provides guidance for the auditor to issue an opinion on ICFR as of the 
date specified in management’s assessment about ICFR. For most entities, that date is 
the end of the fiscal period (for example, the balance sheet date “as of December 31, 
201X”). It is important to note that the auditor’s opinion is also not usually for the 
period ended (for example, for the entire fiscal period “for the year ended December 
31, 201X”). SAS No.130 notes that if the auditor is engaged to audit the effectiveness 
of an entity’s ICFR for a period of time, the requirements and guidance in SAS No. 130 
should be modified accordingly and the auditor should integrate the audit of ICFR with 
an audit of financial statement covering the same period of time. 

ROLE OF RISK ASSESSMENT AND MATERIALITY  

In the audit of ICFR, the auditor focuses attention on areas of higher risk. As the risk of material 
weakness in ICFR increases, the auditor devotes more time to that area. SAS No. 130 notes that it is not 
necessary to test controls that, even if deficient, would not present a reasonable possibility of material 
misstatement to the financial statements.  

The auditor uses the same materiality for planning and performing the audit of ICFR and the financial 
statement audit.  

TOP-DOWN APPROACH  

SAS No. 130 emphasizes that the auditor should use a top-down approach to the audit of ICFR to select 
the controls to test. This approach is summarized in exhibit 4-1. 

  Exhibit 4-1 “Top-Down” Approach  

A top-down approach to the audit of ICFR involves  

 Beginning at the financial statement level;  
 Using the auditor’s understanding of the overall risks to ICFR;  
 Focusing on entity-level controls;  
 Working down to significant classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures, and 

their relevant assertions;  
 Directing the attention to classes of transactions, accounts, disclosures, and assertions that 

present a reasonable possibility of material misstatements of the financial statements;  
 Verifying the auditor’s understanding of the risks of the entity’s processes; and  
 Selecting controls for testing that sufficiently address the risk of material misstatement in 

each relevant assertion. 
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ENTITY-LEVEL CONTROLS  

As part of the top-down approach, the auditor focuses initially on evaluating entity-level controls, though the 
results of that evaluation may result in increasing or decreasing the testing that the auditor would have 
performed on other controls. Entity level controls include:  

 Controls related to the control environment;  
 Controls over management override;  
 The entity’s risk assessment process;  
 Centralized processing and controls, including shared service environments;  
 Controls to monitor results of operations;  
 Controls to monitor other controls, including activities of the internal audit function, those charged 

with governance, and self-assessment programs;  
 Controls over the period-end financial reporting process; and  
 Programs and controls that address significant business risks.  

SAS No. 130 highlights that some entity-level controls, such as certain control environment controls, have an 
important but indirect effect on the likelihood that a misstatement will be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. Other entity-level controls monitor the effectiveness of other controls. Finally, 
some entity-level controls might be designed to operate at a level of precision that would adequately prevent, 
or detect and correct on a timely basis misstatement to one or more relevant assertions. 

  Quick Exercise 4-2 Nature of Entity-Level Controls  

SAS No. 130 describes different types of entity-level controls. Describe an example of a specific entity-
level control for each of the following:  

1. An entity-level control that only has an indirect effect on the likelihood of preventing or 
detecting and correcting a misstatement on a timely basis.  

2. An entity-level control that monitors the effectiveness of other controls.  
3. An entity-level control that operates at a level of precision that would adequately prevent, 

or detect and correct, on a timely basis, misstatements to one or more assertions. 

IDENTIFYING SIGNIFICANT CLASSES OF TRANSACTIONS, ACCOUNT BALANCES, 
AND DISCLOSURES  

The top-down approach involves the auditor ultimately working down to significant classes of transactions, 
account balances, and disclosures and their relevant assertions. SAS No. 130 highlights that to identify 
significant transactions, account balances, and disclosures, and their relevant assertions, the auditor should 
evaluate the risk factors related to the financial statement line items and disclosures. Risk factors include  

 size and composition of the account;  
 susceptibility to misstatement due to errors or fraud;  
 volume of activity, complexity, homogeneity of the individual transactions processed through the 

account or reflected in the disclosure;  



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 4-7 

 nature of the account, class of transactions, or disclosure;  
 Accounting and reporting complexities associated with the account, class of transactions, or disclosure;  
 exposure to loss in the account;  
 possibility of significant contingent liabilities arising from the activities reflected in the account or 

disclosure;  
 existence of related party transactions in the account; and  
 changes from the prior period in the account, class of transactions, or disclosure characteristics.  

The auditor should determine the likely sources of potential misstatements that would cause the financial 
statements to be materially misstated. To do so, the auditor might ask himself or herself “What could go 
wrong?” within a given significant class of transactions, account balance, or disclosures.  

KNOWLEDGE CHECK  

1. When auditing internal control over financial reporting that is integrated with the audit of financial 
statements, the auditor would  

a. Be required to obtain a set of evidence for the audit of ICFR that is mostly distinct from 
evidence for the audit of the financial statements.  

b. Evaluate entity-level controls after testing controls related to classes of transaction or 
account balances.  

c. Establish materiality for the audit of ICFR that is different than materiality for the audit of 
the financial statements.  

d. Use the same criteria used by management to evaluate ICFR.  

TESTING CONTROLS  

The auditor performs tests of controls to reach a conclusion about whether the entity’s controls 
sufficiently address the assessed risk of material misstatement for each relevant assertion. As part of the 
auditor’s assessment, the auditor evaluates the design effectiveness of controls by determining whether 
the entity’s controls, if operated as prescribed by persons possessing the necessary authority and 
competence to perform them effectively, satisfy the entity’s control objectives, and can effectively 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements caused by errors or fraud that could result in material 
misstatements in the financial statements.  

Key Point 

 When the auditor reports on the effectiveness of controls as of a specific date and 
obtains evidence about the operating effectiveness of controls at an interim date, the 
auditor should determine what additional evidence concerning the operation of the 
controls for the remaining period is necessary. 
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IDENTIFYING AND EVALUATING DEFICIENCIES IN ICFR  

To form an opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR, the auditor should evaluate whether he or she has 
identified one or more deficiencies in ICFR based on the audit worked performed. When deficiencies are 
identified, SAS No. 130 requires the auditor to evaluate the severity of each deficiency in ICFR to 
determine whether the deficiency, individually or in combination, is a material weakness as of the date 
specified in management’s assertion about ICFR. In doing so, the auditor should determine whether 
deficiencies that affect the same significant class of transactions, account balance, or disclosure, relevant 
assertion, or component of ICFR, collectively result in a material weakness.  

It is important to note that a material weakness might exist even though the auditor has not identified 
misstatements during the integrated audit. 

FORMING AN OPINION AND ISSUING THE AUDITOR’S REPORT  

The auditor evaluates the results of his or her tests of ICFR performed as part of the ICFR audit and the 
audit of financial statements to form an opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR. Additionally, the auditor 
evaluates misstatements detected during the audit of the financial statement and the findings of the 
substantive procedures performed in the audit of financial statement to consider implications about the 
effectiveness of ICFR.  

After forming an opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR, the auditor should evaluate management’s report, 
which will accompany the auditor’s report, to determine whether it contains the following:  

 A statement regarding management’s responsibility for ICFR 
 A description of the subject matter of the audit 
 An identification of the criteria against which ICFR is measured 
 Management’s assessment about ICFR 
 A description of material weaknesses (if any) 
 The date as of which management’s assessment about ICFR is made 

SAS No. 130 requires that the auditor also obtain written representations from management 
acknowledging, among other matters, management’s responsibility for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and stating management’s assessment about the 
effectiveness of those controls as of the specified date.  

In reaching an opinion on the effectiveness of ICFR, the auditor should evaluate the components of 
ICFR and determine whether the components are present and functioning in the design, implementation, 
and operation of ICFR, and the components are operating together in an integrated manner to achieve 
the entity’s financial reporting objectives.  

Exhibit 4-2 contains an example of the auditor’s report on ICFR.  
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  Exhibit 4-2 Example of an Auditor’s Report on ICFR  

Independent Auditor’s Report 

[Appropriate Addressees]  

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

We have audited ABC Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, 
based on criteria established in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Management is responsible for designing, implementing, and maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting, and for its assessment about the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting, including the accompanying Report by Management on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the entity’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects.  

An audit of internal control over financial reporting involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about whether a material weakness exists. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks that a material weakness exists. An audit 
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting and testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based 
on the assessed risk.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.  

Definition and Inherent Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process affected by those charged with 
governance, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the preparation of reliable financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. An entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
entity; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only 
in accordance with authorizations of management and those charged with governance; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the entity’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements.  
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  Exhibit 4-2 Example of an Auditor’s Report on ICFR  (continued) 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements. Also projections of any assessment of the effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

Opinion  

In our opinion, ABC Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 31, 20XX, based on criteria established in the Internal 
Control Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

Report on Financial Statements  

We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, the balance sheet of ABC Company and the related statements of income, 
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20XX, and our 
report dated March 18, 20XY, expressed our opinion that the financial statements are presented 
fairly in all material respects in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  

[Auditor’s signature]  

[Auditor’s city and state]  

[Date of the auditor’s report] 

Note that SAS No. 130 requires that the auditor date the report on ICFR no earlier than the date on 
which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the auditor’s opinion, 
including evidence that the audit documentation has been reviewed. Because the audit of ICFR is 
integrated with the audit of the financial statements, when issuing separate reports on the entity’s 
financial statements and on ICFR, the dates of the reports should be the same.  
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK  

2. When auditing internal control over financial reporting that is integrated with the audit of financial 
statements, the auditor would  

a. Give an opinion on management’s report on ICFR.  
b. Consider implications of results from the performance of substantive procedures performed 

in the audit of the financial statements.  
c. Provide an opinion on the operating effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 

for the entire fiscal period associated with the financial statements audited.  
d. Provide an adverse opinion on ICFR if the auditor identifies a significant deficiency in 

internal control.  
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SAS No. 131, Amendment to SAS No. 122 Section 
700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial 
Statement Audits  
In January 2016, the ASB issued SAS No. 131, Amendment to Statement on Auditing Standards No. 122 Section 
700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statement Audits. SAS No. 131 was issued to 
clarify the format of the auditor’s report that should be issued when the auditor conducts an audit in 
accordance the standards of the PCAOB, but the audit is not under the jurisdiction of the PCAOB.  

OVERVIEW OF SCOPE OF SAS NO. 131  

An audit is “under the jurisdiction of the PCAOB” if, to perform that audit, the auditor is required to be 
registered with, and subject to inspection by, the PCAOB. This is required of auditors of certain entities, 
including issuers and non-issuer brokers and dealers registered with the SEC. When the audit is under the 
jurisdiction of the PCAOB, the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct requires members to conduct the 
audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, and the audit is not required to also be conducted 
in accordance with GAAS. However, when the audit is not under the jurisdiction of the PCAOB but the 
entity desires, or is required by an agency, regulator, or contractual agreement, to obtain an audit 
conducted under PCAOB standards, the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct requires the auditor to 
also conduct the audit in accordance with GAAS.  

Examples of entities whose audits are not within the jurisdiction of the PCAOB include clearing agencies 
and futures commission merchants registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
(CFTC), as well as certain other entities registered with the CFTC that are not also SEC-registered 
brokers and dealers.  

SAS No. 131 addresses the different reporting requirements of GAAS and the auditing standards of the 
PCAOB. When the auditor refers to the standards of the PCAOB in addition to GAAS in the auditor’s 
report, SAS No. 131 requires the auditor to use the form of report required by the standards of the 
PCAOB, amended to state that the audit was also conducted in accordance with GAAS.  

EFFECTIVE DATE  

The amendments contained in SAS No. 131 are effective for audits of financial statements for periods 
ending on or after June 15, 2016; however, application of the SAS before the effective date is permitted.  

ILLUSTRATIVE REPORT  

SAS No. 131 includes an exhibit that contains an illustration of an auditor’s report for the situation described 
in SAS No. 131. For purposes of this illustrative report, the circumstances include the following:  

 An audit is performed of a complete set of general-purpose consolidated financial statements 
(comparative) of an entity whose audit is not within the jurisdiction of the PCAOB. 
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 The auditor has not been engaged to perform an audit of internal control over financial reporting 
that is integrated with an audit of the financial statements.  

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  

 The financial statements are audited in accordance with the auditing standards of the PCAOB and 
also auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS).  

 The auditor refers to the auditing standards of the PCAOB in addition to GAAS in the auditor’s report.  

Exhibit 4-3 contains an illustrative auditor’s report. 

 Exhibit 4-3 Example of an Auditor’s Report on Consolidated Comparative 
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Accounting Principles Generally 
Accepted in the United States of America When the Audit Has Been Conducted in 
Accordance With Both Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United States 

of America and the Auditing Standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board  

Independent Auditor’s Report  

[Appropriate Addressees]  

We have audited the accompany consolidated balance sheets of X Company and subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related consolidated statements of income, 
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. The consolidated 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to previously present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of X Company and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 20X2, and 20X1, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years 
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  

[Signature]  

[Auditor’s city and state]  

[Date] 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK  

3. An auditor may be asked to conduct an audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB when 
the audit is not under the jurisdiction of the PCAOB. In that situation, SAS No. 131  

a. Prohibits the performance of the engagement in accordance with PCAOB standards.  
b. Restricts the auditor from referring to the standards of the PCAOB in the auditor’s report.  
c. Requires the auditor to use the form of report required by the standards of the PCAOB that 

also includes an amendment stating the audit was conducted in accordance with GAAS.  
d. Allows the auditor to use the standard form audit report in GAAS when the audit is under 

the jurisdiction of the PCAOB.  
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Summary of Recently Issued Audit Interpretation  
During 2015 and early 2016, the ASB has issued one new interpretation to Statements on Auditing 
Standards.  

NEW AUDITING INTERPRETATIONS RELATED TO SUSTAINABILITY 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNDER FEDERAL FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING 

STANDARDS AUDITOR REPORTING  

In October 2015, the ASB issued Interpretation No. 2 of AU-C section 700, Forming an Opinion and 
Reporting on Financial Statements, to provide guidance related to whether auditors can report on 
consolidated financial reports of the U.S. government that include statements of long-term fiscal 
projections prepared in accordance with standards of the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board 
(FASAB). This interpretation is provided in the following material.  

Interpretation No. 2. Sustainability Financial Statements Under Federal Financial 
Accounting Standards—Auditor Reporting  

.06 Question—The Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) issued Statement of 
Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) No. 36, Reporting Comprehensive Long-Term Fiscal 
Projections for the U.S. Government. SFFAS No. 36, as amended, requires that the statement of long-term 
fiscal projections be presented in the consolidated financial report of the U.S. government as a basic 
financial statement starting in fiscal year 2015. The focus of this standard is on forward-looking 
information intended to aid users in assessing whether future resources will likely be sufficient to 
sustain public services and to meet obligations as they come due. The statement of long-term fiscal 
projections presents the actuarial present value of the U.S. government’s estimated future income to 
be received and future expenditures to be paid. The statement of long-term fiscal projections 
includes information drawn from the current statement of social insurance (SFFAS No. 17, Accounting 
for Social Insurance, as amended, a basic statement since fiscal year 2006) and statement of changes in 
social insurance amounts (SFFAS No. 37, Social Insurance: Additional Requirements for Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and Basic Financial Statements, a basic statement since fiscal year 2011). 
Collectively, the statement of long-term fiscal projections, the statement of social insurance, and the 
statement of changes in social insurance amounts are referred to herein as sustainability financial 
statements. May an auditor report on these basic financial statements in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS)? If so, how would an auditor 
report on these statements?  

.07 Answer—Yes, consistent with Statement of Position 04-1, Auditing the Statement of Social Insurance 
(AICPA, Professional Standards, AUD section 35), an auditor may report on the basic financial 
statements, which include the statements of social insurance, changes in social insurance amounts, 
and long-term fiscal projections, in accordance with GAAS. AU-C section 700, Forming an Opinion and 
Reporting on Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards), provides requirements and guidance on 
forming an opinion on the basic financial statements.  

The interpretation provides an illustration of an auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion 
on the U.S. government-wide financial statements.  
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Summary of New Attestation Standards (SSAEs) 
SSAEs establish requirements for examining, reviewing, and applying agreed-upon procedures to subject 
matter other than historical financial statements. For example, the SSAEs apply to examination, review, 
or agreed-upon procedure engagements such as a schedule of investment returns, the effectiveness of 
controls over the security of a system, a statement of greenhouse gas emissions, or the privacy of 
personal information. 

To address concerns about the clarity, length, and complexity of standards it issues, the Auditing 
Standards Board (ASB) has undertaken a significant effort to clarify those professional standards. The 
ASB completed clarifying the SSAEs in December 2015.  The clarified standards will be issued as SSAE 
No. 18, Attestation Standards: Clarification and Recodification, in April 2016. 

When redrafting the SSAEs, the ASB used its clarity drafting conventions, which include the following: 

 Establishing objectives for each chapter of the standard 
 Including a definitions section, if relevant, in each chapter of the standard 
 Separating requirements from application and other explanatory material 
 Numbering application and other explanatory material paragraphs using an A- prefix and presenting 

them in a section following the requirements section 
 Using formatting techniques, such as bulleted lists, to enhance readability 

When SSAE No. 18 is codified, it will contain “AT-C” section numbers instead of “AT” section numbers 
to avoid confusion with references to superseded “AT” sections. 

CONVERGENCE TO INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS 

Because one of the objectives of the ASB’s clarity project is convergence with standards of the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), the foundation for the common 
concepts, examination, and review sections of SSAE No. 18 is International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other than Audits and Review of Historical 
Financial Information. However, one major difference exists between the US attestation standards and the 
international assurance standards. In the United States, a practitioner is not permitted to issue an 
examination or review report when an assertion or representation about the subject matter against the 
criteria, has not been obtained from the responsible party, except when the responsible party is not the 
engaging party. In the international assurance standards, an assertion is not required for the practitioner 
to report. 

NEW ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

The clarified SSAEs begin with AT-C section 100, Preface, followed by the following AT-C sections: 

 AT-C section 105, Concepts Common to All Attestation Engagements. This section contains requirements 
and application guidance applicable to any attestation engagement. 
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This section is followed by three sections that contain additional requirements and application guidance 
specific to the type of service performed: 

 AT-C section 205, Examination Engagements 
 AT-C section 210, Review Engagements 
 AT-C section 215, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements 

The application guidance is contained in at least two sections: AT-C section 105, the common concepts 
section, and either AT-C section 205, 210, or 215 depending on the type of service provided. 

Incremental performance and reporting requirements and application guidance unique to four specific 
kinds of subject matter are included in the following subject matter specific sections: 

 AT-C section 305, Prospective Financial Information 
 AT-C section 310, Reporting on Pro-Forma Financial Information 
 AT-C section 315, Compliance Attestation 
 AT-C section 320, Reporting on an Examination of Controls at a Service Organization Relevant to User Entities’ 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

For the preceding subject-matter specific engagements, the applicable requirements and application 
guidance is contained in three sections: AT-C section 105, the applicable examination, review, or agreed-
upon procedures section, and the subject-matter specific section. 

One additional subject matter section has not been clarified: AT section 395, Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis. This section will not be redrafted because practitioners rarely perform these engagements. 
Instead, AT section 395 will be retained in the attestation standards in its current form. 

GUIDANCE MOVED TO SASS AND SSARSS 

The redrafting of the SSAEs also resulted in the movement of AT 501, An Examination of an Entity’s 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is Integrated With An Audit of Financial Statements, to auditing 
standards. The ASB has issued clarified guidance related to those examinations in SAS No. 130, An Audit 
of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is Integrated With an Audit of Financial Statements.  

The redrafting of the SSAEs also has resulted in the proposed movement of guidance in paragraphs  
12-28 of AT 301, Financial Forecasts and Projections, which address compilations of prospective financial 
statements, to the SSARs. In December 2015, the ARSC issued a new exposure draft, Compilation of 
Prospective Financial Information, which would codify guidance for compilations of prospective financial 
information in the SSARs. The exposure draft comment period ends May 6, 2016. 

MOST NOTABLE CHANGES 

In addition to the restructuring changes, the clarified SSAEs that will be introduced by SSAE No. 18 also 
include these notable changes: 

 Separate discussion of review engagements. SSAE No 18 separates the detailed procedural and reporting 
requirements for review engagements from their counterparts for examination engagements. The 
resulting guidance more clearly differentiates the services, highlighting the similarity of a review 
under the SSAEs to a review under the Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review 
Services.  



4-18 Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

 Required representation letters. AT section 101 discusses representation letters but does not require them. 
However, certain extant subject-matter specific AT sections require the practitioner to obtain a 
representation letter. SSAE No. 18 requires the practitioner to request a written representation letter 
in all attestation engagements. However, if a responsible party who is not the engaging party refuses 
to provide the practitioner with a representation letter, the practitioner would not necessarily be 
required to conclude that a scope limitation exists if the practitioner is able to obtain satisfactory oral 
responses from the responsible party to the matters ordinarily included in the representation letter. In 
these circumstances, use of the examination or review report would be restricted to the engaging 
party.  

 Risk assessment for examination engagements. SSAE No. 18 requires practitioners to obtain a more in-
depth understanding of the development of the subject matter than currently required in order to 
better identify the risks of material misstatement in an examination engagement. This, in turn, should 
lead to an improved linkage between assessed risks and the nature, timing, and extent of attestation 
procedures performed in response to those risks. 

 Incorporation of detailed requirements. SSAE No. 18 incorporates a number of detailed requirements, such 
as the need for an engagement letter or equivalent and for written representations in examinations 
and reviews.  

 Scope limitation imposed by the engaging party or the responsible party. Paragraph .74 of AT section 101 
indicates that when restrictions that significantly limit the scope of the engagement are imposed by 
the engaging party or the responsible party, the practitioner generally should disclaim an opinion or 
withdraw from the engagement. SSAE No. 18 does not contain the same requirement; instead, it 
indicates that based on the practitioner’s assessment of the effect of the scope limitation, the 
practitioner should express a qualified opinion, disclaim an opinion, or withdraw from the 
engagement when withdrawal is possible under applicable laws or regulations.  

 Integration of General Guidance and Subject-Matter Guidance. The requirements and application guidance in 
all of the subject-matter specific attestation sections have been conformed to the requirements and 
application guidance in AT sections 105, 205, 210, and 215. In addition, matters discussed in the 
sections 105, 205, 210, and 215 are not repeated in the subject-matter specific chapters. For example, 
the risk assessment procedures that would be required for all examination engagements have not 
been repeated in the chapter that addresses examinations of compliance. 

 Compliance Attestation. The order of the paragraphs in extant AT section 601 has been revised. Extant 
AT section 601 discussed agreed-upon procedures before discussing examinations to imply a 
preference for an agreed-upon procedures service. AT-C section 315 reverses the order in which they 
are presented to be consistent with the order of the various services in the general chapters.  

GUIDANCE SUPERSEDED 

When SSAE No. 18 is issued in April 2016, it will supersede all the existing attestation standards and the 
guidance will be moved to the SASs and SSARs except for AT section 395, Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis. 
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CREATING ENGAGEMENTS TO MEET CLIENT NEEDS 

Although SSAE No. 18 addresses four specific subject-matters, what makes the attestation standards so 
unique is that they enable a practitioner to report on almost any subject matter, as long as  

 the party responsible for the subject matter is someone other than the practitioner and takes 
responsibility for the subject matter,  

 the subject matter is appropriate,  
 the criteria to be used in evaluating the subject matter are suitable and available,  
 the practitioner expects to be able to obtain the evidence needed to arrive at the practitioner’s 

opinion, conclusion, or findings, through access to information and unrestricted access to people 
who can provide such evidence, and  

 the practitioner’s opinion, conclusion, or findings is to be contained in a written practitioner’s report.  

Paragraph .25 of AT-C section 105 and the related application guidance provide greater detail about these 
preconditions.  

Thus, the attestation standards provide a framework (a set of guidelines) for creating an attestation 
engagement that meets client needs. Types of engagements that may be performed are only limited by the 
preconditions in paragraph .25 of AT-C section 105 and the practitioner’s and client’s creativity.  

EFFECTIVE DATE 

The ASB expects SSAE No. 18 to be available in April 2016 and to be effective for practitioners’ reports 
dated on or after May 1, 2017.  

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. Changes resulting from the recently completed clarified SSAEs  

a. Separate guidance related to examination, review, and agreed-upon procedures engagements. 
b. Expand the SSAEs to include compilation engagements. 
c. Introduce an entirely different clarity drafting convention for SSAEs as compared with the 

clarified SASs. 
d. Revise the guidance related to attestation engagements addressing Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis. 

5. Under the recently clarified SSAEs, a practitioner asked to provide an examination of internal control 
over financial reporting for a nonissuer would 

a. Be subject to Statements on Auditing Standards (SASs) instead of SSAEs. 
b. Be prohibited from accepting that type of engagement. 
c. Need to comply with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARs). 
d. Need to comply with PCAOB Auditing Standards No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control Over 

Financial Reporting That is Integrated with an Audit of Financial Statements. 
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NEW ATTESTATION INTERPRETATION: THIRD-PARTY DUE DILIGENCE 

SERVICES RELATED TO ASSET-BACKED SECURITIZATIONS 

In February 2015, the ASB issued Interpretation No. 1 of extant AT section 201, Agreed-Upon Procedures 
Engagements, to provide additional guidance related to third-party due diligence services related to asset-
backed securitizations. 

Background 

SEC Release No. 34-72936, Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations (the release), acknowledges 
that certain procedures often performed by practitioners as agreed-upon procedures (AUP) engagements 
related to asset-backed securitizations (ABS) are considered third-party due diligence services (as defined 
in the release). These include due diligence services that relate to checking the accuracy of the 
information or data about the assets provided by the securitizer or originator of the assets. For example, 
comparing the information on a loan tape with the information contained on the hard-copy documents 
in a loan file is an activity that falls within the definition of due diligence services.  

For an AUP engagement performed that is considered due diligence services, as defined in the release, 
the specified parties are typically only the issuer or the underwriter(s), or both. The release requires the 
following:  

 The issuer or underwriter of any ABS to make publicly available the findings and conclusions of any 
third-party due diligence report obtained by the issuer or underwriter. The release further describes 
that the disclosure of the findings and conclusions includes disclosure of the criteria against which 
the loans were evaluated, and how the evaluated loans compared to those criteria, along with the 
basis for including any loans not meeting those criteria. This is accomplished by including such 
information in Form ABS-15G, “Asset-Backed Securitizer Report Pursuant to Section 15G of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,” which is required to be furnished by the issuer or underwriter to 
the SEC through the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval (EDGAR) system. 

 Any third-party due diligence service provider to complete Form ABS Due Diligence-15E, 
“Certification of Provider of Third-Party Due Diligence Services for Asset-Backed Securities” (the 
prescribed form). The prescribed form elicits information about the due diligence performed, 
including a description of the work performed (Item 4 of the prescribed form) and a summary of 
findings and conclusions of the third party (Item 5 of the prescribed form).  

The release states the following:  

The Commission understands there may be particular considerations that would need to be taken 
into account under applicable professional standards that govern certain services provided by the 
accounting profession. The requirements and limitations resulting from relevant professional 
standards generally are described within the reports issued and, to the extent such requirements or 
limitations are based upon professional standards, the Commission would not object to the inclusion 
of the same description in the written certifications on [the prescribed form].  

The prescribed form is required to be signed by the due diligence provider. The prescribed form is also 
required to be provided to any nationally recognized statistical rating organization (NRSRO) that 
produces a credit rating for an ABS to which such due diligence services relate. The release describes that 
the due diligence provider will be deemed to have met this obligation by providing the prescribed form to 
the issuer, sponsor, or underwriter of the securitization that maintains the Rule 17g-5 website. The 
purpose of the Rule 17g-5 website is to make information related to ABS transactions accessible to all 
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NRSROs. Additionally, the release requires the prescribed form to be provided to any NRSRO that 
specifically requests it.  

When the NRSRO produces a credit rating, the release requires that it publicly disclose each prescribed 
form that was posted to the Rule 17g-5 website. Such information is expected to be posted on the 
website of the specific NRSRO, not on the EDGAR system. The release indicates that the decision to 
allow the NRSRO to disclose the prescribed form in the manner previously described, instead of through 
the EDGAR system, was to limit additional cost that would be incurred from having the NRSRO submit 
the prescribed forms through the EDGAR system.  

In most instances, Form ABS-15G will be furnished through the EDGAR system either prior to or at the 
same time as the prescribed form is posted to the Rule 17g-5 website. Therefore, the procedures or 
findings, or both, of due diligence services (as defined in the release) conducted as AUP engagements are 
made public via Form ABS-15G through the EDGAR system or via the prescribed form through the 
process by which the NRSRO publishes its credit ratings, or both.  

Performing Due Diligence Procedures 

The recently released interpretation is provided in the material that follows. 

Interpretation No. 1 Third-Party Due Diligence Services Related to Asset-Backed 
Securitizations: SEC Release No. 34-72936  

.09 Question—The release requires the public disclosure of the procedures or findings, or both, of 
the practitioner’s due diligence services in the prescribed form and Form ABS-15G, as applicable. Is 
the distribution of such procedures or findings, or both, prohibited under extant AT section 201, 
Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements, when such services are performed as an AUP engagement?  

.10 Interpretation—No. The distribution of the procedures or findings, or both, of the 
practitioner’s due diligence services in the prescribed form or Form ABS-15G is not prohibited. A 
practitioner is not required to prohibit the distribution of the procedures or findings, or both, 
contained in the AUP report that may be disclosed in the prescribed form or Form ABS-15G 
because the distribution of that information is required by regulation to be made available to the 
public, as described in paragraphs .01–.08 of this interpretation.  

.11 Footnote 16 of extant AT section 101, Attest Engagements, states, “In some cases, restricted-use 
reports filed with regulatory agencies are required by law or regulation to be made available to the 
public as a matter of public record. Also, a regulatory agency as part of its oversight responsibility for 
an entity may require access to restricted-use reports in which they are not named as a specified 
party.”  

.12 Question—The prescribed form contains certain language that is inconsistent with language 
commonly used in AUP reports and could be misinterpreted by those who have access to the 
prescribed form (for example, the term review is included in the prescribed form). In addition, the 
prescribed form does not include all elements of an AUP report required by paragraph .31 of extant 
AT section 201.  

.13 What are the practitioner’s responsibilities when due diligence services (as defined in the release) 
have been performed as an AUP engagement and the practitioner is required to complete the 
prescribed form, which includes language that is inconsistent with the practitioner’s function or 
responsibility, or is incomplete with respect to the reporting requirements of the professional 
standards?  
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.14 Interpretation—Paragraph .67 of extant AT section 9101, Attest Engagements: Attest Engagements 
Interpretations of Section 101, addresses such a situation in the context of reporting on the suitability of 
the design of an entity's internal control under extant AT section 101 and indicates that the 
practitioner should either reword the prescribed form of report or attach an appropriately worded 
separate report that conforms with the practitioner's function or responsibility and professional 
standards. Therefore, when completing the prescribed form for due diligence services that have been 
performed as an AUP engagement, the practitioner should include all of the elements in paragraph 
.31 of section 201 and any clarifying wording to avoid any misinterpretation. This may be 
accomplished by either adding wording to the prescribed form or attaching an appropriately worded 
separate report to the prescribed form, or both.  

.15 Question—How might the practitioner modify the illustrative report wording in section 201 in 
order to clarify the requirements and limitations of AUP engagements and reports as it relates to due 
diligence services as defined in the release?  

.16 Interpretation—Paragraph .79 of extant AT section 101 states the following:  

The need for restriction on the use of a report may result from a number of circumstances, including 
the purpose of the report, the criteria used in preparation of the subject matter, the extent to which 
the procedures performed are known or understood, and the potential for the report to be 
misunderstood when taken out of the context in which it was intended to be used. A practitioner 
should consider informing his or her client that restricted-use reports are not intended for 
distribution to non-specified parties, regardless of whether they are included in a document 
containing a separate general-use report. However, a practitioner is not responsible for controlling a 
client’s distribution of restricted-use reports. Accordingly, a restricted-use report should alert readers 
to the restriction on the use of the report by indicating that the report is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than the specified parties.  

.17 As noted in paragraph .31 of section 201 and paragraph .79 of section 101, a practitioner does 
have a responsibility to disclose certain limitations of AUP engagements in the AUP report. 
However, the modifications can be made only to meet the requirements of the professional 
standards.  

.18 Because distribution of procedures or findings, or both, to nonspecified parties may cause those 
non-specified parties to misunderstand the restricted use limitations of AUP reports, the practitioner 
may modify the illustrative language in paragraph .32 of section 201, consistent with the requirements 
in paragraph .31l of section 201, to clarify in the AUP report or prescribed form that the information 
with respect to the procedures or findings, or both, contained therein is not intended to be used by 
non-specified parties that may have access to the procedures or findings, or both, as required by the 
release (for example, NRSROs and investors).  

.19 Because the prescribed form utilizes the term review, the practitioner may also add language in 
the prescribed form that the practitioner did not conduct a review in accordance with the AICPA 
attestation standards.  

This interpretation became effective in when it was published in the April/May 2015 issue of the Journal 
of Accountancy. 
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Summary  
The chapter briefly summarizes the recently issued statement on auditing standards related to the audit of 
internal control over financial reporting that is integrated with an audit of financial statements. This new 
standard moves guidance formerly in the attestation standards at AT 501 to the auditing standards. The 
chapter also highlights minor amendments made by SAS No. 131 to address practice issues related to the 
auditor reporting when the audit is conducted in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and 
GAAS when the audit is not within the jurisdiction of the PCAOB. And, it highlights a recently issued 
auditing interpretation. 

This chapter also summarizes the ASB’s work to issue clarified attestation standards, which it plans to 
release as SSAE No. 18, Attestation Standards: Clarification and Recodification in April 2016, effective for 
practitioners’ reports dated on or after May 1, 2017. Highlights of the significant changes to the SSAEs 
that will result from the issuance of SSAE No. 18 are also presented.  

There are no outstanding exposure drafts of Statements on Auditing Standards as of early 2016. 
Participants should monitor the AICPA website for any new developments.  
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Chapter 5  

RECENT GUIDANCE FROM  
THE PCAOB 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following:  

 Recognize the auditing standards issued by the PCAOB.  
 Distinguish how PCAOB auditing standards are presented in the new reorganized structure for 

PCAOB auditing standards. 
 Determine how to disclose information about the engagement partner and certain other participants 

involved in an audit of an issuer’s financial statements. 
 Indicate areas of an audit likely to be impacted by proposed amendments to PCAOB auditing 

standards. 

The primary focus of this course is to provide an overview of current auditing and other attest standards 
applicable to engagements involving nonissuers. However, this chapter highlights recent activities at the 
PCAOB because some of the issues being addressed by this group may have an impact on the broader 
audit profession, that is, the audits of closely-held companies and standards issued by the ASB. 

Practitioners are encouraged to monitor the PCAOB website at www.pcaob.org for current 
developments. 
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Reorganization of PCAOB Auditing Standards 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act directed the PCAOB to establish auditing and related attestation standards, 
quality control standards, and ethics standards to be used by auditors of public companies. In April 2003, 
the PCAOB announced its decision to assume responsibility for setting auditing standards for public 
company audits. As one of its first standard-setting initiatives, the PCAOB adopted existing auditing 
standards previously issued by the AICPA’s Auditing Standards Board (referred to as the interim standards). 
Since the adoption of the interim standards in 2003, the PCAOB has issued these standards. 

ORIGINALLY ISSUED PCAOB STANDARDS 

The following standards have been issued by the PCAOB: 

 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 1, References in Auditor’s Reports to the Standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board 

 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in 
Conjunction With an Audit of Financial Statements. (Note: This Auditing Standard has been superseded by 
PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated 
with an Audit of Financial Statements.) 

 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 3, Audit Documentation 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 4, Reporting on Whether a Previously Reported Material Weakness Continues 

to Exist 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated 

with An Audit of Financial Statements 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 6, Evaluating Consistency of Financial Statements, and amendments to the 

Board’s interim auditing standards 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 7, Engagement Quality Review 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 8, Audit Risk 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 9, Audit Planning 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 10, Supervision of the Audit Engagement 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 11, Consideration of Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 12, Identifying and Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 13, The Auditor’s Responses to the Risks of Material Misstatement 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 14, Evaluating Audit Results 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 15, Audit Evidence 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 16, Communications with Audit Committees 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 17, Auditing Supplemental Information Accompanying Audited Financial 

Statements and Related Amendments to PCAOB Standards 
 PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 18, Related Parties & Amendments to Certain PCAOB Auditing Standards 

Regarding Significant Unusual Transactions 
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 

In March 2015, the PCAOB announced its reorganization of the PCAOB auditing standards. This 
reorganization will restructure auditing standards around topics and use a numbering system that is no 
longer tied to the PCAOB auditing standard number.1  

The Board has arranged the PCAOB auditing standards in topical order that is generally consistent with 
the flow of an audit process. Standards that address procedures typically performed together are now 
arranged by the related topic. One of the goals of the reorganization is to present the standards in a more 
logical order so as to improve their usability. Additionally, the ordering system is different from that used 
by other standards-setters, such as the AICPA auditing standards, in order to reduce confusion between 
the two sets of standards. 

Exhibit 5-1 summarizes the topical structure of the reorganized PCAOB standards. 

  Exhibit 5-1 Topical Organizational Structure for PCAOB Auditing Standards  

The PCAOB standards are now organized using these five topical areas: 

1. General Auditing Standards—Standards on broad auditing principles, concepts, 
activities, and communications; 

2. Audit Procedures—Standards for planning and performing audit procedures and for 
obtaining audit evidence; 

3. Auditor Reporting—Standards for auditors’ reports; 
4. Matters Relating to Filings Under Federal Securities Laws—Standards on certain auditor 

responsibilities relating to U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or 
“Commission”) filings for securities offerings and reviews of interim financial 
information; and 

5. Other Matters Associated with Audits—Standards for other work performed in 
conjunction with an audit of an issuer or of a broker or dealer. 

Each of these five topical areas is further subdivided into subsections that contain related guidance and 
each topic is assigned a four-digit number. For example, the topical area, “Audit Procedures,” is 
subdivided as follows with the four digits beginning with “2” and followed by three digits  
(for example, “2XXX”): 

                                                      

1 See PCAOB Release No. 2015-002, Reorganization of PCAOB Auditing Standards and Related Amendments to 
PCAOB Standards and Rules (March 31, 2015). 
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Audit Procedures 
2100 Audit Planning and Risk Assessment 

2101 Audit Planning 
2105 Consideration of Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit 
2110 Identifying and Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement 

2200 Auditing Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
2201 An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is Not Integrated with an 

Audit of Financial Statements 
2300 Audit Procedures in Response to Risks—Nature, Timing, and Extent 

2301 The Auditor’s Responses to the Risks of Material Misstatement 
2305 Substantive Analytical Procedures 
2310 The Confirmation Process 
2315 Audit Sampling 

2400 Audit Procedures for Specific Aspects of the Audit 
2401 Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit 
2405 Illegal Acts by Clients 
2410 Related Parties 
2415 Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going  

2500 Audit Procedures for Certain Accounts or Disclosures 
2501 Auditing Accounting Estimates 
2502 Auditing Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures 
2503 Auditing Derivative Instruments, Hedging Activities, and Investments in Securities 
2505 Inquiry of a Client’s Lawyer Concerning Litigation, Claims, and Assessments 
2510 Auditing Inventories 

2600 Special Topics 
2601 Consideration of an Entity’s Use of a Service Organization 
2605 Consideration of the Internal Audit Function 
2610 Initial Audits—Communications Between Predecessor and Successor 
Auditors 

2700 Auditor’s Responsibilities Regarding Supplemental and Other Information 

The references to each of the topical sections and subsections retains the “AS” referencing; for example 
guidance related to auditing fair value measurements and disclosures is referenced as AS 2502.  

IMPACT ON AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 

As part of the reorganization project, the PCAOB also made some amendments to its standards and, in 
some cases, rescinded standards that are no longer necessary. It is important to note however, that the 
amendments did not introduce new requirements or alter the substance of existing requirements. The 
PCAOB’s Release that summarizes the reorganized standards includes an appendix that highlights the 
amendments to existing standards and the standards rescinded as a result of reorganization project.  

EFFECTIVE DATE 

The reorganization of the PCAOB standards is effective as of December 31, 2016, but auditors are able 
to use and reference the reorganized standards prior to that date.  
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. Which statement is accurate about the PCAOB auditing standards? 

a. They still comprise only the interim standards adopted in April 2003 by the PCAOB. 
b. They embrace some aspects of the interim standards, although a large portion of those have 

been affected by subsequently issued PCAOB auditing standards. 
c. They are all based on PCAOB auditing standards issued since April 2003, which superseded 

all the interim standards. 
d. They incorporate the international auditing standards as the PCAOB’s base standards. 

2. The reorganized PCAOB auditing standards 

a. Present the guidance in an order consistent with the flow of the audit process. 
b. Result in a number of substantive changes in requirements related to audit processes. 
c. Only affect future PCAOB standards while retaining the organizational structure for 

standards up through PCAOB AS No. 18. 
d. Uses the AU-C organizational structure consistent with AICPA auditing standards. 
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New PCAOB Disclosure Rules 

DISCLOSURES OF CERTAIN AUDIT PARTICIPANTS 

In December 2015, the PCAOB issued new rules designed to increase transparency around the audit 
engagement by requiring new disclosures about key personnel participating in the audit engagements. 
Under the new rule, firms will be required to disclosure information about engagement partners and 
accounting firms that participate in the audit of issuers. 

Nature of New Disclosures 
For each issuer audit, audit firms will be required to file a form with the PCAOB that discloses the following: 

1. The name of the engagement partner. 

2. The name, location, and extent of participation of each other accounting firm participating in the 
audit whose work constituted at least 5 percent of the total audit hours. 

3. The number and aggregate extent of participation of all other accounting firms participating in 
the audit whose individual participation was less than 5 percent of total audit hours.  

Firms will report this information on a new PCAOB Form AP, Auditor Reporting of Certain Audit 
Participants. The information reported will also be captured and made available in a searchable database 
that will be hosted on the PCAOB’s website. 

The PCAOB defines “other accounting firm” as (i) a registered public accounting firm other than the 
firm filing Form AP or (ii) any other person or entity that opines on the compliance of any entity’s 
financial statements with an applicable financial reporting framework. 

The primary impact is a new disclosure requirement, but it does not change the performance obligations 
of the auditor. 

Background  
In October 2011, the PCAOB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments to bring greater 
transparency to the public company audit process. The exposure draft would require registered 
accounting firms to disclose the name of the engagement partner in the audit report using the PCAOB 
annual report form. The amendment was developed from a concepts release paper issued by the PCAOB 
in June 2009 that considered requiring the engagement partner to sign his or her name on the audit 
report. 

The comment period ended January 9, 2012. The board received 43 comment letters, which were 
divided. Accounting firms were generally opposed to the requirement to disclose the name of the 
engagement partner in the auditor’s report and expressed concern that it would confuse readers. Others, 
such as audit committee members and corporate officials, believed such disclosure would be beneficial. 
In response to the comments received, the PCAOB issued a re-proposal of this standard in December 
2013. The comment period on the re-proposal ended March 17, 2014. The PCAOB considered 
comments received and issued its final rule in December 2015. The effective dates are for reports issued 
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after January 31, 2017 for the engagement partner and after June 30, 2017 for certain other participants in 
an audit, subject to SEC approval. 

Key Point 

 

 

The board believes that providing information about the engagement partner and 
the other participants in the audit would be useful to investors and other financial 
statement users. It would add to the mix of information that investors and other 
financial statement users would have about public companies. 

Some other jurisdictions outside the United States follow different practices. The 
European Union’s Eighth Company Law Directive requires at least the statutory 
auditor(s) carrying out the statutory audit on behalf of the audit firm, to sign the 
auditor’s report. This directive requires all EU members to enact conforming 
legislation. The United Kingdom has done so by requiring the auditor’s report to 
“state the name of the auditor and be signed’ and “where the auditor is a firm, the 
report must be signed by the senior statutory auditor in his own name, for and on 
behalf of the auditor.”  

Perceived Benefits 
Motivation for these new disclosures is largely attributed to the perceived need of investors and other 
financial statement users to have more insights about the audit process, in particular information about 
who is involved in the audit. In the United States, audit reports are signed by audit firms and there is no 
public disclosure of individuals involved in the audit, especially the engagement partners. The PCAOB 
Board has expressed views that suggest disclosures about the names of the individual engagement 
partners and accounting firms involved in the audit provides useful information to investors because they 
vote on ratification of the audit firm. Access to this additional information may also increase the 
awareness of audit quality. 

In addition, because the information disclosed will be included in a publicly accessible database, investors 
and others will be able to research the names of engagement partners on all issuer audits. Over time, this 
will allow users to observe the history of a particular individual on issuer audits thus allowing users to 
accumulate information about the association of the engagement partner with events related to audit 
quality. Examples of poor audit quality would include restatements of financial statements or disciplinary 
proceedings. 

  Quick Exercise 5-1  Disclosures of Engagement Partner 

? 
What is your reaction to the new requirement to disclose the name of engagement 
partners for public access at the PCAOB? 
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Auditing Standards Projects Underway at the PCAOB 
The PCAOB has not issued any new auditing standards since June 2014 when it issued PCAOB Auditing 
Standard No. 18, Related Parties. However, there are a number of current projects underway at the 
PCAOB.  In addition, in December 2015, the PCAOB’s Office of Chief Auditor released an update of 
the PCAOB’s auditing standards setting agenda.2 

PLANNING AND SUPERVISION OF AUDITS INVOLVING OTHER AUDITORS 

The Board is currently drafting proposed amendments to auditing standards related to the planning and 
supervision of audits involving other auditors. This project is in response to the expansion of the 
involvement of other audit firms under the supervision of a lead audit firm, especially on engagements 
involving global operations of companies. The proposed amendments would expand guidance that 
governs the planning and supervision of audits involving other auditors. The PCAOB staff anticipates 
issuance of an exposure draft in the first quarter of 2016. 

GOING CONCERN 

In light of recent changes in accounting requirements related to management’s responsibilities to assess 
going concern, the PCAOB staff is currently considering revisions to existing PCAOB guidance related 
to the auditor’s responsibility to evaluate an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. Thus the 
PCAOB staff is developing a consultation paper that will request input on improving standards related to 
auditor performance and auditor reporting related to going concern. The consultation paper is likely to be 
issued in the first half of 2016. 

AUDITING ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, INCLUDING FAIR VALUE 

MEASUREMENTS AND RELATED DISCLOSURES 

In light of the complexities of auditing accounting estimates, especially those involving fair value 
measurements and disclosures, the PCAOB inspections process has identified a number of issues related 
to the auditing of those estimates and disclosures that it believes may warrant clarification in auditing 
standards. In August 2014, the PCAOB issued a staff consultation paper on this topic and in October 
2014, the PCAOB’s Standing Advisory Group (the SAG) held a special meeting to discuss issues 
identified in the consultation paper. Additional issues related to the use of third parties were subsequently 
discussed at a June 2015 SAG meeting and at the September 2015 meeting of the PCAOB’s Investors 
Advisory Group (the IAG).  

Separately, the PCAOB issued another staff consultation paper on the auditor’s use of specialists. In light 
of the involvement of specialists in the audit of estimates, especially fair value measurements, the 
PCAOB has now decided to coordinate these projects. Additionally, the staff is also following 
developments related to the Accounting Estimates project of the International Auditing and Assurance 
                                                      

2 See PCAOB “Standard-Setting Agenda Office of the Chief Auditor” (December 31, 2015). 
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Standards Board. The PCAOB staff anticipates issuance of an exposure draft of a proposed new auditing 
standard in the third quarter of 2016.  

USE OF SPECIALISTS 

Given the complexities of financial reporting, especially the prevalence of accounting estimates and fair 
value in financial statements, there is a growing need for specialized knowledge to develop appropriate 
measures for financial reporting. In response, both companies and auditors are now turning to specialists 
who assist in evaluating business transactions and the accounting for those transactions. Sometimes those 
specialists are employed by the audit firm; other times, auditors engage specialists to assist them with the 
valuation process as part of their audit procedures.  

In light of these developments, in May 2015, the PCAOB issued a staff consultation paper to seek input 
on issues related to audit procedures performed by auditors in regards to specialists. Issues raised in the 
consultation paper were also discussed at subsequent meetings of the SAG and IAG. As noted 
previously, the board is coordinating this project with its project on auditing accounting estimates. 
Currently, the PCAOB anticipates issuance of an exposure draft of a proposed new auditing standard in 
the third quarter of 2016. 

AUDITOR’S REPORTING MODEL 

Since 2013, the Board has been working on proposed auditing standards that would modify the auditor’s 
reporting model. In August 2013, the PCAOB issued an exposure draft of a proposed auditing standard 
and the Board held a public meeting to discuss that proposal and the comments received on the exposure 
draft. The PCAOB staff anticipates that the Board will issue a re-proposal exposure draft in the second 
quarter of 2016.  

QUALITY CONTROL STANDARDS 

The PCAOB is considering whether new guidance related to audit firms’ systems of quality control are 
warranted to address deficiencies noted in PCAOB inspections. In particular, the PCAOB is considering 
whether changes are needed to strengthen guidance related to the assignment and documentation of firm 
supervisory responsibilities. The PCAOB staff anticipates that it will develop a staff consultation paper to 
obtain input on various approaches to strengthening quality control standards. No estimated timeline for 
this project has been disclosed by the PCAOB. 

CONFIRMATIONS 

The PCAOB has a long-standing project related to audit confirmations. The Board issued a proposed 
auditing standard on audit confirmations on July 13, 2010. The staff has reviewed comment letters 
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received and the PCAOB plans to draft a re-proposal. No estimated timeline for this project has been 
disclosed by the PCAOB. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

3. During 2015, the PCAOB  

a. Issued new Auditing Standard No. 19 that requires the auditor to report on going concern in 
every audit. 

b. Abandoned its project to amend guidance related to auditing fair value measures and 
disclosures. 

c. Continued work to amend guidance related to the lead audit firm’s consideration of work 
performed by other audit firms. 

d. Launched a new project to evaluate changes to the auditor’s consideration of fraud in a 
financial statement audit.  
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Projects to Modify the Auditor’s Report 
The PCAOB has been working on several projects that would revise the auditor’s report and include 
additional items to be reported on by the auditor.  

PROPOSED AUDITING STANDARD: THE AUDITOR’S REPORT ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WHEN THE AUDITOR EXPRESSES AN UNQUALIFIED 

OPINION 

This proposed standard would do the following: 

 Establish requirements regarding the content of the auditor’s written report when the auditor 
expresses an unqualified opinion on the financial statements. 

 Use the term financial statements as used by the SEC to include all notes to the statements and all 
related schedules. This and other PCAOB standards often refer to the notes as disclosures. 

The Auditor’s Unqualified Report 
The auditor’s unqualified report (now referred to as an unmodified report in the audits of closely-held 
companies) is unchanged. However, the proposed auditing standard adds communication of critical audit 
matters relating to the audit of the current period’s financial statements and other explanatory language 
(or an explanatory paragraph), as appropriate in the circumstances. 

The proposed standard lists the sections of the auditor’s opinion with a description of the statements 
required: 

 The basic elements, such as the title, the addressees, and so forth 
 The introduction 
 The basis of opinion 
 Opinion on the financial statements 
 The auditor’s responsibilities regarding other information 
 Signature and date 

An example of the proposed new unqualified report is contained in exhibit 2-2. The most notable 
difference is the inclusion of critical audit matters, which would be a new reporting component. 
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  Exhibit 5-2 Example of PCAOB’s Proposed New Standard Unqualified Audit 
Report 

[Changes from the current illustrative report are underlined] 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the shareholders and board of directors of X Company 

[Introduction] 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of X Company (the “Company”) as of 
December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, the related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and 
cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 20X2, and the related 
notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. 

We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (“PCAOB”) (United States) and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the United States federal securities laws and the applicable rules 
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the PCAOB. We or our 
predecessor firms have served as the Company’s auditor consecutively since [year]. 

[Basis of Opinion] 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or 
fraud. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to 
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, appropriate evidence regarding 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

[Opinion on the Financial Statements] 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to previously present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of [at] December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 20X2, in conformity with [the applicable financial reporting framework]. 
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  Exhibit 5-2 Example of PCAOB‘s Proposed New Standard Unqualified Audit 
Report (continued) 

Critical Audit Matters 
The standards of the PCAOB require that we communicate in our report critical audit matters 
relating to the audit of the current period’s financial statements or state that we determined 
that there are no critical audit matters. Critical audit matters are those matters addressed during 
the audit that (1) involved our most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments; (2) posed the 
most difficulty to us in obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence; or (3) posed the most difficulty 
to us in forming our opinion on the financial statements. The critical audit matters 
communicated as follows do not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken 
as a whole. 

[Include critical audit matters] 

The Auditor’s Responsibilities Regarding Other Information 
In addition to auditing the Company’s financial statements In addition to auditing the 
Company’s financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, we evaluated 
whether the other information, included in the annual report on [SEC Exchange Act form type] 
filed with the SEC that contains both the December 31, 20X2 financial statements and our audit 
report on those financial statements, contains a material inconsistency with the financial 
statements, a material misstatement of fact, or both. Our evaluation was based on relevant 
audit evidence obtained and conclusions reached during the audit. We did not audit the other 
information and do not express an opinion on the other information. Based on our evaluation, 
we have not identified a material inconsistency or a material misstatement of fact in the other 
information. 

[Signature] 

[City and State or Country] 

[Date] 
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 Quick Exercise 5-2 

Take a look at the example of the auditor’s standard unqualified report in exhibit 5-2 and 
answer the following questions: 

1. In relation to the opinion paragraph, where is the information about critical audit 
matters to be located? 
 

 
2. How did the reporting about critical matters affect the auditor’s opinion? 

 
 
3. Where does the auditor list the critical audit matters? Are they in the auditor’s report or 

are they in a footnote or other supplemental information? 
 

 
4. Based on reading of the auditor’s report, what kinds of matters should users expect to 

find in the auditor’s report? 

Critical Audit Matters 
The proposed standard requires the auditor to determine whether there are any critical audit matters in 
the audit of the current period’s financial statements based on the results of the audit or evidence 
obtained. The proposed standard states that “it is expected that in most audits the auditor would 
determine that there are critical audit matters.”   

Critical audit matters are those matters addressed during the audit that (1) involved the most difficult, 
subjective, or complex auditor judgments; (2) posed the most difficulty to the auditor in obtaining 
sufficient appropriate evidence; or (3) posed the most difficulty to the auditor in forming the opinion on 
the financial statements. Critical audit matters ordinarily are matters of such importance that they are 
included in the matters required to be 

 documented in the engagement completion document; 
 reviewed by the engagement quality reviewer; 
 communicated to the audit committee; or 
 any combination of the three. 

Communication of Critical Audit Matters 
The proposed new standard states 

The auditor must communicate in the auditor’s report, critical audit matters relating to the audit of 
the current period’s financial statements or state that the auditor determined that there are no critical 
audit matters. 

For each critical audit matter communicated in the auditor’s report, the auditor must do the following: 

 Identify the critical audit matter. 
 Describe the considerations that led the auditor to determine that the matter is a critical audit matter. 
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 Refer to the relevant financial statement accounts and disclosures that relate to the critical audit 
matter, when applicable. 

Note: Language that could be viewed as disclaiming, qualifying, restricting, or minimizing the auditor’s 
responsibility for the critical audit matters or the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements is not 
appropriate and may not be used. 

The proposed standard contains language concerning critical audit matters to be included in the auditor’s 
report.  

Language Preceding Critical Audit Matters in the Auditor’s Report 

The following language, including the section title, “Critical Audit Matters,” should precede critical audit 
matters communicated in the auditor’s report: 

Critical Audit Matters Language in Report 

The standards of the PCAOB require that we communicate in our report critical audit matters 
relating to the audit of the current period’s financial statements or state that we determined 
that there are no critical audit matters. Critical audit matters are those matters addressed during 
the audit that (1) involved our most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments; (2) posed the 
most difficulty to us in obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence; or (3) posed the most difficulty 
to us in forming our opinion on the financial statements. The critical audit matters 
communicated as follows do not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken 
as a whole. 

Note: If the auditor communicates critical audit matters for prior periods, the language preceding the 
critical audit matters should be modified to indicate the periods to which the critical audit matters relate. 

In situations in which the auditor determines that there are no critical audit matters, the auditor should 
include the following language, including the section title, “Critical Audit Matters,” in the auditor’s report: 

Critical Audit Matters 

The standards of the PCAOB require that we communicate in our report critical audit matters 
relating to the audit of the current period’s financial statements or state that we determined 
that there are no critical audit matters. Critical audit matters are those matters addressed during 
the audit that (1) involved our most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments; (2) posed the 
most difficulty to us in obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence; or (3) posed the most difficulty 
to us in forming our opinion on the financial statements. We determined that there are no 
critical audit matters. 

Documentation of Critical Audit Matters 
This proposed auditing standard points out that Auditing Standard No. 3 requires the auditor to 
document the determination of critical audit matters. That audit documentation is to be prepared in such 
detail so as to provide a clear understanding of its purpose, source, and the conclusions reached. 
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Explanatory Language Added to the Auditor’s Report 
The proposed auditing standard adds that other standards of the PCAOB may also require that, in certain 
circumstances, the auditor include explanatory language (or an explanatory paragraph) in the auditor’s 
report. For instance, if there is substantial doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern or the auditor decides to refer to the report of other auditors as the basis, in part, for the 
auditor’s own report. 

The auditor may add an explanatory paragraph to emphasize a matter regarding the financial statements. 
This explanatory paragraph refers only to information presented or disclosed in the financial statements. 

  Practice Issues 

? 
What is your reaction to the proposed changes to the auditor’s report? To what extent 
do you think it might improve auditor communications to report users? 

Status of Proposal 
In April 2014, the PCAOB conducted a public meeting on the auditor’s report to encourage discussion 
and to obtain feedback about issues related to any of the proposed changes. In addition, the proposed 
changes were also included as agenda items at the June 2014 meeting of the PCAOB’s Standing Advisory 
Group (SAG). The PCAOB continues to evaluate comments received related to these proposals. The 
PCAOB has announced plans that it anticipates issuing a re-proposal of the auditor’s reporting standard 
for public comment in the second quarter of 2016. Participants should monitor the PCAOB website for 
further updates. 

Proposed Guidance Related to Other Information 
Parallel with the project that would revise the auditor’s report, the PCAOB has also included an 
Appendix in that document that contains the text of proposed Auditing Standard, The Auditor’s 
Responsibilities Regarding Other Information in Certain Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements and the 
Related Auditor’s Report. It establishes requirements regarding the auditor’s responsibilities with respect to 
information, other than the audited financial statements and the related auditor’s report, in a company’s 
annual report that is filed with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and contains that 
company’s audited financial statements and the related auditor’s report (other information). 

Note: For purposes of this standard, other information in an annual report filed with the SEC includes 
information other than the audited financial statements and the related auditor’s report contained in the 
annual report, and also includes both of the following:  

 Information incorporated by reference in the annual report that is available to the auditor prior to the 
issuance of the auditor’s report. 

 When the annual report is a Form 10-K, information incorporated by reference from the company’s 
definitive proxy statement filed within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by the  
Form 10-K.  
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. A critical audit matter might include all of these items EXCEPT 

a. Items reviewed by the firm’s engagement quality reviewer. 
b. Matters communicated with the audit committee. 
c. Description of the auditor’s planning materiality. 
d. Information in the engagement completion document. 
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Summary 
This chapter summarizes recently developments affecting PCAOB auditing and attestation standards as 
well as ongoing projects of the PCAOB, including those on the horizon that may lead to new or revised 
standards.  

Although many practitioners may not perform audits of public companies, much of the guidance 
discussed in this chapter is relevant for consideration in the audits of nonissuer financial statements or 
internal controls over financial reporting. 

Participants should monitor the PCAOB website at www.pcaob.org for future developments and new 
releases. 
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Chapter 6  

COMPILATION, PREPARATION,  
AND REVIEW UPDATE 

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 

After completing this chapter, you should be able to do the following: 

 Identify the Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC) Clarity Project and the related 
redrafting conventions. 

 Evaluate the impact of Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) No. 21, 
Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services: Clarification and Recodification (AICPA, Professional 
Standards, AU-C sections 60, 70, 80, and 90). 

 Distinguish the nature and elements of reviews, compilations, and preparation engagements of 
financial statements. 

 Identify the key elements of proposed new SSARSs. 

This chapter highlights issues related to nonaudit financial reporting services that CPAs can provide. It is 
important to note, however, that many of the issues already discussed about implications arising from 
current economic and regulatory developments are relevant to nonaudit financial statement engagements 
as well. 

Specifically, some of the issues more specific to reviews, compilations, and engagements to prepare 
financial statements are presented in this chapter. The most notable development related to these services 
is the issuance of SSARS No. 21 in October 2014. That standard supersedes all outstanding SSARSs 
through No. 20, except SSARS No. 14, Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information (AR Section 120). A 
revision to SSARS No. 14 has been issued as an exposure draft with a comment period ending May 6, 
2016. 
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SSARs Clarity Project 
As summarized in earlier chapters of this course, the Auditing Standards Board (ASB) has completed its 
SAS Clarity Project to redraft of all the auditing standards to make them easier to read and understand. 

In May 2010, the ARSC approved a project to substantially revise all existing compilation and review 
standards using drafting conventions adopted by the ASB for its SAS Clarity Project. The result being 
reformatted standards consistent with the approach used for the clarified auditing standards.  

In 2012 and 2013, the ARSC issued a number of exposure drafts that contained proposed changes to 
compilation and review standards as part of its Clarity Project. In November 2012, the ARSC exposed 
for public comment the following proposed SSARSs: 

 Review of Financial Statements 
 Review of Financial Statements—Special Considerations 

In October 2013, the ARSC exposed for public comment the following proposed SSARSs: 

 Preparation of Financial Statements 
 Compilation Engagements 
 Association with Financial Statements 

The primary purpose of these proposals was to conform the compilation and review standards to the 
clarity drafting conventions and to include additional changes from existing standards.  

In October 2014, those proposed standards, with certain revisions, became final when ARSC issued 
SSARS No. 21. As stated in the introduction to this chapter, that standard supersedes all outstanding 
SSARS through No. 20, except SSARS No. 14, Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information (AR section 
120). An exposure draft of revisions to SSARS No. 14 is currently outstanding with a comment deadline 
of May 6, 2016. 
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Overview of SSARS No. 21 
SSARS No. 21 is structured as follows: 

 Section 60, General Principles for Engagements Performed in Accordance with Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services, provides general principles for SSARSs engagements. 

 Section 70, Preparation of Financial Statements, is a new section issued as part of SSARS No. 21. This 
new section provides requirements and guidance to an accountant who is engaged to prepare 
financial statements for an entity but not engaged to perform a compilation, review, or audit with 
respect to those financial statements. 

 Section 80, Compilation Engagements, provides requirements and guidance to an accountant when 
engaged to perform a compilation of financial statements. 

 Section 90, Review of Financial Statements, provides requirements and guidance to an accountant when 
engaged to review financial statements. 

The sections of SSARS No. 21 are codified in AICPA Professional Standards as AR-C sections using the 
same section numbers as found in SSARS No. 21. For example, section 90 of SSARS No. 21 is codified 
as AR-C section 90, Review of Financial Statements. 

The primary focus of SSARS No. 21 is to clarify existing standards related to compilations and reviews. 
However, the most notable change is the creation of section 70 that provides guidance for accountants 
when they are engaged to prepare financial statements for an entity but not engaged to perform a 
compilation, review, or audit of those financial statements. That change introduced by SSARS No. 21 
significantly affects the literature for accountants in public practice who prepare financial statements. 

EFFECTIVE DATES 

SSARS No. 21 established the following effective dates: 

 Section 60 became effective for engagements performed in accordance with SSARSs for periods 
ending on or after December 15, 2015. 

 Section 70 became effective for engagements to prepare financial statements for periods ending on 
or after December 15, 2015. 

 Section 80 became effective for compilations of financial statements for periods ending on or after 
December 15, 2015. 

 Section 90 became effective for reviews of financial statements for periods ending on or after 
December 15, 2015. 

Early implementation was permitted for all sections. 

SECTION 60 OF SSARS NO. 21, GENERAL PRINCIPLES FOR ENGAGEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATEMENTS ON STANDARDS FOR 

ACCOUNTING AND REVIEW SERVICES 

Section 60 of SSARS No. 21 provides the general principles for engagements performed in accordance 
with SSARSs issued by ARSC. ARSC is responsible for establishing the standards for unaudited financial 
statements and other unaudited financial information of an entity that is not required to file financial 
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statements with a regulatory agency in connection with the sale or trading of its securities in a public 
market.  

The SSARSs do not impose responsibilities on management and do not override laws and regulations 
that govern their responsibilities. 

PRECONDITIONS TO ACCEPTANCE OF AN ENGAGEMENT PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH SSARSS 

Section 60 establishes that it is management’s responsibility to select the financial reporting framework to 
be applied in the preparation, compilation, or review of financial statements. It also notes the following 
preconditions that would prevent an accountant from accepting an engagement to prepare, compile, or 
review financial statements.  

Preconditions: The accountant should not accept an engagement to be performed in accordance with 
SSARSs if the accountant has 

 reason to believe that relevant ethical requirements will not be satisfied. 
 a preliminary understanding of the engagement circumstances that indicates the information needed 

to perform the engagement is likely to be unavailable or unreliable. 
 cause to doubt management’s integrity such that it is likely to affect the performance of the 

engagement. 

NEED FOR INDEPENDENCE 

Before the need for independence in the context of an engagement performed in accordance with 
SSARSs is addressed, two critical definitions should be understood: 

 Attest Engagement. An engagement that requires independence, as defined by the AICPA 
professional standards. 

 Assurance engagement. An engagement in which an accountant issues a report designed to 
enhance the degree of confidence of third parties and management about the outcome of an 
evaluation or measurement of financial statements (subject matter) against an applicable financial 
reporting framework (criteria). 

The three traditional engagements that have been in existence for quite a while—compilation, review, and 
audit—are all attest engagements because they all require independence. Note that though a compilation 
engagement is an attest engagement, the SSARSs do allow a nonindependent accountant to perform a 
compilation of financial statements as long as the accountant modifies the compilation report to disclose 
the lack of independence. 

The preparation of financial statements engagement, however, is a nonattest service and therefore does 
not require independence by the accountant (see SSARS No. 21, section 70, paragraph .03). 
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OBJECTIVE OF ENGAGEMENTS 

Paragraph .6 of section 70, Preparation of Financial Statements, notes that the objective of an engagement to 
prepare financial statements is for the “accountant to prepare financial statements pursuant to a specified 
financial reporting framework.” 

Paragraph .04 of section 80, Compilation Engagements, notes that the objective of a compilation engagement 
is “to assist management in the presentation of financial statements and to report in accordance with this 
section without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material modifications 
that should be made to the financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework.” 

Paragraph .04 of section 90, Review of Financial Statements, notes that the objective of a review engagement 
is “to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether the accountant is aware of any material 
modifications that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework primarily through the performance of inquiry and analytical 
procedures.” 

This diagram illustrates the relationship between preparation and the three attest engagements: 
compilation, review, and audit engagements. As illustrated, there are varying levels of assurance provided 
in review and audit engagements and preparation and compilation engagements provide no assurance. 

 

TWO CATEGORIES OF PROFESSIONAL REQUIREMENTS IN THE SSARSS 

The SSARSs use the following two categories of professional requirements to describe the degree of 
responsibility imposed on accountants: 

 Unconditional requirements. The accountant must comply with an unconditional requirement in 
all cases in which such requirements are relevant. SSARSs uses the word “must” to indicate an 
unconditional requirement. 

 Presumptively mandatory. The accountant must comply with a presumptively mandatory 
requirement in all cases in which such a requirement is relevant, except in rare circumstances. The 
SSARSs use the word “should” to indicate a presumptively mandatory requirement. In rare 
circumstances, the accountant may judge it necessary to depart from a relevant presumptively 
mandatory requirement. In such circumstances, the accountant should perform alternative 
procedures to achieve the intent of the requirement. The need for the accountant to depart from a 

Attest Engagements 

Review Engagement 
 

Limited Assurance 

Compilation 
Engagement 

 
No Assurance 
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Reasonable 
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relevant, presumptively mandatory requirement is expected to arise only when the requirement is for 
a specific procedure to be performed and, in the specific circumstances of the engagement, that 
procedure would be ineffective in achieving the intent of the requirement. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

1. Which service does NOT require the accountant to consider any independence issues? 

a. Engagement to prepare financial statements. 
b. Compilation engagement. 
c. Review engagement. 
d. Audit engagement. 



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 6-7 

Section 70, Preparation of Financial Statements 
The issuance of SSARS No. 21 introduced a new type of engagement service for accountants, which is 
summarized in section 70 of SSARS No. 21. Paragraph .06 of section 70 notes that the objective of the 
preparation engagement is for the “accountant to prepare financial statements pursuant to a specified 
financial reporting framework.”  

Section 70 also notes that an engagement to prepare financial statements is a nonattest service and does 
not require a determination about whether the accountant is independent of the entity. 

The determination of whether the accountant has been engaged to prepare financial statements or merely 
assist in preparing financial statements (which is a bookkeeping service that is not subject to section 70) is 
determined based on services the client requests the accountant to perform and requires the accountant 
to apply professional judgment. 

This section does not apply in situations where the accountant is not in public practice. 

BACKGROUND 

ARSC is aware that many entities would like to engage accountants to prepare financial statements. ARSC 
also believes that it is not appropriate to require the accountant to perform, or the entity to accept, a 
compilation service when the desired service is the preparation of financial statements. To differentiate 
and clarify the level of service to be provided, ARSC developed section 70, Preparation of Financial 
Statements, of SSARS No. 21. When the accountant is engaged to perform the compilation service, the 
accountant will follow the requirements and guidance in section 80, Compilation Engagements. 

The result is that accountants need not be concerned with issues such as who prepared the financial 
statements because the standards are now specific when accountants are engaged to either prepare 
financial statements or perform compilation services. Accountants also need no longer be concerned 
whether the financial statements are to be used by third-parties or would be for management use only.  

OVERVIEW OF THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Section 70 of SSARS No. 21 does not require a report when an accountant is engaged to prepare 
financial statements even if the financial statements are expected to be used by, or provided to, a third 
party. 
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Key Point 

 Section 70 describes the preparation of financial statements as follows: 

The preparation of financial statements is a nonattest service and does not 
require the accountant to determine whether the accountant is independent of 
the entity. In addition, in the preparation of financial statements, the 
accountant is not required to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
information provided by management or otherwise gather evidence to express 
an opinion or conclusion on the financial statements or otherwise report on the 
financial statements. 

OBTAINING AND DOCUMENTING AGREEMENT OF ENGAGEMENT TERMS 

Section 70 requires the accountant to agree to the terms of the engagement with management or those 
charged with governance. The agreed-upon terms of the engagement should be documented in an 
engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement. 

Note: Paragraph .11 of section 70 of SSARS No. 21 specifically requires that the engagement letter or 
other suitable form of written agreement be signed by 

 the accountant or the accountant’s firm, and 
 management or those charged with governance, as appropriate.  

PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

When preparing the financial statements, the accountant should obtain an understanding of the financial 
reporting framework and the significant accounting policies intended to be used in the preparation of the 
financial statements.  

To prepare the financial statements, the accountant should use the records, documents, explanations, and 
other information provided by management. If the accountant becomes aware that the records, 
documents, explanations and other information, including significant judgments, used in the preparation 
of the financial statements are incomplete, inaccurate, or otherwise unsatisfactory, the accountant should 
bring that to the attention of management and request additional or corrected information. 

If, during the preparation of financial statements, the accountant assists management with significant 
judgments regarding amounts or disclosures to be reflected in the financial statements, the accountant 
should discuss those judgments with management so management understands the significant judgments 
reflected in the financial statements and accepts responsibility for those judgments. 

When, after discussion with management, the accountant prepares financial statements that contain a 
known departure or departures from the applicable financial reporting framework, the accountant should 
disclose the material misstatement or misstatements in the financial statements. The disclosure of the 
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material misstatement or misstatements may be made on the face of the financial statements or in a note 
to the financial statements. 

REQUIRED CONTENT ON THE FACE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

To be transparent to users of financial statements, section 70 requires that each page of the financial 
statements include a statement or legend stating that no assurance is provided on the financial statements. 

The following are examples of an adequate statement or legend on each page of the financial statements: 

 No CPA provides any assurance on these financial statements. 
 These financial statements have not been audited or reviewed, and no CPA provides any assurance 

on them. 

In a rare situation in which the accountant is not able to include an appropriate statement or legend on 
each page of the financial statements, the accountant may issue a disclaimer that makes clear that no 
assurance is provided on the financial statements. In the event that is not possible, then the accountant 
would be required to perform a compilation engagement in accordance with section 80 of SSARS No. 21. 

The accountant’s name is not required to be included in the financial statements that the accountant has 
prepared or any document that contains the financial statements.  

The appendix, “Preparation of Financial Statements Versus Assistance in Preparing Financial 
Statements,” of section 70 includes the table presented in exhibit 6-2. This table provides examples of 
services that the accountant may be engaged to perform and whether section 70 would apply. 
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  Exhibit 6-1 Determining Application of Section 70 of SSARS No. 21 

Examples of Services for Which Section 70, 
Preparation of Financial Statements 

Applies 
Examples of Accountant Services for Which 

Section 70 Does Not Apply 

Preparation of financial statements prior to 
audit or review by another accountant 

Preparation of financial statements when the 
accountant is engaged to perform an audit, 
review, or compilation of such financial 
statements

Preparation of financial statements for an 
entity to be presented alongside the entity’s 
tax return 

Preparation of financial statements with a tax 
return solely for submission to taxing 
authorities

Preparation of personal financial statements 
for presentation alongside a financial plan 

Personal financial statements that are 
prepared for inclusion in written personal 
financial plans prepared by the accountant

 Financial statements prepared in conjunction 
with litigation services that involve pending 
or potential legal or regulatory proceedings

 Financial statements prepared in conjunction 
with business valuation services 

 Maintaining depreciation schedules 

 Preparing or proposing certain adjustments, 
such as those applicable to deferred income 
taxes, depreciation, or leases 

Preparation of single financial statements, 
such as a balance sheet or income statement 
or financial statements with substantially all 
disclosures omitted 

Drafting financial statement notes 

Using the information in a general ledger to 
prepare financial statements outside an 
accounting software system 

Entering general ledger transactions or 
processing payments (general bookkeeping) 
in an accounting software system 
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DOCUMENTATION 

The accountant should prepare documentation in connection with each engagement to prepare financial 
statements in sufficient detail to provide a clear understanding of the work performed which, at a 
minimum, includes the following: 

 The engagement letter or other suitable form of written documentation with management 
 A copy of the financial statements that the accountant has prepared 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

2. The level of assurance provided in an engagement to prepare financial statements is 

a. Zero assurance. 
b. Limited assurance. 
c. Reasonable assurance. 
d. Absolute assurance. 

3. Section 70, Preparation of Financial Statements, applies to preparing 

a. Adjustments related to depreciation. 
b. The balance sheet of an entity. 
c. Financial statements in conjunction with business valuation services. 
d. Processing payments in an accounting software system.  
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Section 80, Compilation Engagements 
Section 80 of SSARS No. 21 contains guidance applicable when the accountant is engaged to perform a 
compilation engagement. That section notes that the objective of the accountant in a compilation 
engagement is “to apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist management in the 
presentation of financial statements and report in accordance with this section without undertaking to 
obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the 
financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework.” 

SUBMISSION NO LONGER THE TRIGGER 

Before the issuance of SSARS No. 21, an accountant was required to comply with the provisions of 
SSARSs related to a compilation engagement whenever the accountant was engaged to issue a 
compilation report on financial statements or submitted financial statements to a client or third parties. 
The term “submit” was defined as “prepare and present.” In that environment, submission served as the 
trigger for the compilation service. Yet confusion existed as to whether the accountant prepared financial 
statements (as opposed to the client or the financial accounting software). Most recently, cloud 
computing and other technology applications have made it increasingly difficult to answer the question as 
to who (or what) has prepared the financial statements. 

Thus, section 80 of SSARS No. 21 eliminates the need for the accountant to determine whether he or she 
prepared the financial statements by eliminating the submission requirement and making the compilation 
requirements apply when the accountant is engaged to perform a compilation service. 

RECONFIGURED COMPILATION REPORT FORMAT 

Because section 80 applies when the accountant is engaged to perform a compilation engagement, a report 
would always be required. The compilation report has also been reconfigured to look significantly 
different from an audit or review report. ARSC believes that a clearly different looking report helps users 
understand that the accountant has not obtained any assurance and does not express an opinion, 
conclusion, nor provide any assurance on the financial statements. The report is now streamlined so that 
the standard report is just one paragraph with no headings. 

SSARS No. 21 retained the requirement that the accountant modify the compilation report when the 
accountant’s independence is impaired though the accountant is not required to disclose the reasons the 
accountant’s independence is impaired. However, if the accountant elects to disclose a description about 
the reasons the accountant’s independence is impaired, the accountant would be required to ensure that 
all reasons are included in the description.  

The new standard compilation report language is shown in exhibit 6-2. 
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  Exhibit 6-2 Compilation Report on Comparative Financial Statements 
Prepared in Accordance With Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in 
the United States of America 

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of ABC Company, which 
comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of 
income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the 
related notes to the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. I (We) have performed compilation engagements in 
accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by 
the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. I (We) did not audit or review the 
financial statements nor was (were) I (we) required to perform any procedures to verify the 
accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management. Accordingly, I (we) do 
not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial 
statements. 

[Signature of accounting firm or accountant, as appropriate] 

[Accountant’s city and state] 

[Date of the accountant’s report] 

Summary of Differences Between Engagements to Prepare Financial Statements  
and Compilations 
Sections 70 and 80 of SSARS No. 21 are intended to provide a bright line between accounting 
(preparation) and reporting (compilation) services. The accountant does not have to be concerned about 
whether the financial statements are being used internally or used by third parties (including boards of 
directors). 

The following table compares and contrasts the attributes of SSARS No. 21 section 70, Preparation of 
Financial Statements, and section 80, Compilation of Financial Statements. 
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 Preparation (Section 70) Compilation (Section 80) 

When does the standard apply? When an accountant is 
engaged to prepare 

financial statements, but 
not engaged to perform a 

compilation, review, or 
audit of those financial 

statements

When an accountant is 
engaged to perform a 

compilation 

Is an engagement letter 
required? 

Yes Yes 

Is the accountant required to 
determine if he or she is 
independent of the client? 

No Yes 

If the accountant is not 
independent, is that fact 
required to be disclosed? 

N/A Yes 

Does the engagement require a 
report? 

No1 Yes 

May the financial statements go 
to users outside of 
management? 

Yes Yes 

May the financial statements 
omit notes? 

Yes Yes 

1 When an accountant is engaged to prepare financial statements, the accountant is required to include an 
adequate statement on each page of the financial statements indicating that no assurance is provided on 
the financial statements. If the accountant is unable to include an adequate statement on each page of the 
financial statements, the accountant is required to issue a disclaimer on the financial statements. 
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Key Point 

 Compilation of management-use only financial statements has been eliminated. 

Because a report would be required in a compilation engagement, the 
nonreporting option provided when financial statements are not expected to be 
used by a third party has been eliminated. If management engages the accountant 
to prepare financial statements but does not require a report, SSARS No. 21, 
section 70, Preparation of Financial Statements, would apply.  

DOCUMENTATION 

The accountant should prepare documentation in connection with each compilation engagement in 
sufficient detail to provide a clear understanding of the work performed which, at a minimum, includes 
the following: 

 The signed engagement letter or other suitable form of written documentation with management 
 A copy of the financial statements subjected to the compilation engagement 
 A copy of the compilation report 

  Quick Exercise 6-1 Distinguishing Preparation and Compilation 
Engagements  

It’s important to clearly understand the key differences between an “engagement to prepare 
financial statements” and a “compilation engagement.” What are the major differences? 

What would distinguish a CPA’s need to comply with section 70, Preparation of Financial 
Statements, from the need to comply with section 80, Compilation Engagements? 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

4. Which statement is accurate based on SSARS No. 21, section 80, Compilation Engagements? 

a. The underlying engagement is considered a nonattest engagement. 
b. The nonreporting option for compilations of management-use only financial statements is 

retained. 
c. The CPA provides some assurance about the reliability of the financial statements in the 

accountant’s compilation report. 
d. The compilation report language has changed. 
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Section 90, Review of Financial Statements 
The primary purpose of the clarification of section 90 is to conform the review standards to the clarity 
drafting conventions and to include additional changes from existing standards. 

KEY CHANGES FROM EXISTING STANDARDS 

The following represents what ARSC believes are the most significant changes to preclarity SSARSs 
regarding review engagements as a result of the issuance of SSARS No. 21. The notable changes to 
guidance for review engagements involve the following: 

 Requirements related to engagement letters 
 Reporting requirements 

o Emphasis-of-matter and other-matter paragraphs 
o Special purpose frameworks 
o Required supplementary information 

The fundamental elements of review engagements remain largely unaffected except for the formatting of 
the guidance using the clarity drafting conventions. SSARS No. 21 did not change the core performance 
requirements of a review engagement. 

Scope 
In addition to a review of financial statements, Paragraph .01 of section 90, Review of Financial Statements, 
of SSARS No. 21 states that the section may also be applied—adapted as necessary in the 
circumstances—to other historical financial information on which the accountant has been engaged to 
issue a review report. Therefore, specified elements, accounts, or items of a financial statement, 
supplementary information, required supplementary information, financial information included in a tax 
return, and other historical financial information may now be reviewed in accordance with the SSARSs. 

Requirement to Obtain a Signed Engagement Letter or Other Suitable Form  
of Written Communication 
Although preclarity AR section 90 required that the accountant document the understanding with 
management regarding the services to be performed for review engagements through a written 
communication with management, it did not explicitly require that the written understanding be signed by 
either the accountant or management. Similar to the guidance for the preparation and compilation 
services, SSARS No. 21 adds the explicit requirement that the engagement letter or other suitable form of 
written communication for a review engagement be signed by 

 the accountant or the accountant’s firm, and 
 management or those charged with governance, as applicable. 

Reporting on the Financial Statements 
Section 90 of SSARS No. 21 requires the use of headings throughout the accountant’s review report to 
clearly distinguish each section of the report. Additionally, section 90 requires that the accountant’s 
review report name the city and state of the issuing office. 
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The application material makes it clear that the city and state where the accountant practices may be 
indicated on letterhead that contains the issuing office’s city and state. It is not anticipated that this 
requirement will result in a change in practice. 

Emphasis-of-Matter and Other-Matter Paragraphs in the Accountant’s Review Report 
Paragraph .33 of pre-clarity AR section 90 stated that emphasis paragraphs are never required. However, 
section 90 of SSARSs No. 21 requires the accountant to include an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter 
paragraph in the accountant’s review report relating to the following matters: 

 Financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework 
 A changed reference to a departure from the applicable financial reporting framework when 

reporting on comparative financial statements 
 Reporting on comparative financial statements when the prior period is audited 
 Reporting a known departure from the applicable financial reporting framework that is material to 

the financial statements 
 Reporting when management revises financial statements for a subsequently discovered fact that 

became known to the accountant after the report release date and the accountant’s review report on 
the revised financial statements differs from the accountant’s review report on the original financial 
statements 

 Supplementary information that accompanies reviewed financial statements and the accountant’s 
review report thereon 

 Required supplementary information 

In addition, section 90 requires the accountant to include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the 
accountant’s review report when the accountant considers it necessary to draw users’ attention to a 
matter appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the accountant’s 
professional judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental to the user’s understanding of the 
financial statements, provided that the accountant does not believe that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated. 

Key Point 

 An example of an emphasis-of-matter paragraph that accountants may include in 
the review report when the accountant concludes that management has adequately 
disclosed an uncertainty about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern is 

Emphasis of Matter 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the 
Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note X to the 
financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from 
operations and has a net capital deficiency that raises uncertainty about its 
ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these 
matters are also described in Note X. The financial statements do not include 
any adjustments that might result from the outcome of the uncertainty. Our 
conclusion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
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SSARS No. 21 also requires the accountant to include an other-matter paragraph in the accountant’s 
review report when the accountant considers it necessary to communicate a matter other than those that 
are presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the accountant’s professional judgment, is 
relevant to the users’ understanding of the review, the accountant’s responsibilities, or the accountant’s 
review report. In this situation, the paragraph would be similar to the example on the prior page, except 
the header would be changed from “Emphasis of Matter” to “Other Matter” and there would be no 
reference to other presentations or disclosures (for example, “Note X”) in the financial statements, given 
other matters cannot involve matters presented or disclosed in the financial statements. 

If the accountant expects to include an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph in the accountant’s 
review report, then SSARS No. 21 requires the accountant to communicate with management regarding 
this expectation and the proposed wording of this paragraph. 

KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

5. Which statement is accurate based on SSARS No. 21, section 90, Review Engagements? 

a. Requires the accountant’s review report to name the city and state of the issuing office. 
b. Prohibits the use of emphasis-of-matter paragraphs in a review report. 
c. Prohibits the accountant from reviewing financial statements prepared using a special-

purpose framework. 
d. Elevates the form of assurance to an examination level. 

SSARS NO. 21 IMPLEMENTATION RESOURCES 

The AICPA offers several resources to assist practitioners in implementing SSARS No. 21. The 2015 
AICPA Guide Preparation, Compilation and Review Engagements includes more extensive details relating to 
SSARS No. 21, implementation guidance, several illustrative engagement letters, and several new 
illustrative review and compilations reports. A new continuing education course is also available that 
specifically addresses the new preparation standard and guidance on how to perform an engagement to 
prepare financial statements. Additionally, the AICPA is offering an online version of a new continuing 
education curriculum titled “Preparation, Compilation, and Review Engagement Staff Essentials.” This 
curriculum covers all engagements governed by SSARSs and guides users on how to plan, perform, and 
report on SSARSs engagements. This broad-ranging curriculum includes case studies and practical 
examples to provide users with real-life scenarios and the best practices they can employ to approach 
them. 

Further, check the dedicated ARSC Clarity Project page at www.aicpa.org for frequent updates. 
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Recently Issued SSARS Interpretation 
In February 2016, the ARSC issued its first interpretation since the issuance of SSARS No. 21. This new 
interpretation provides guidance related to AR-C section 90, Review of Financial Statements, as described 
next. 

NEW SSARS INTERPRETATION ON CONSIDERATIONS RELATED TO REVIEWS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON REVIEW 

ENGAGEMENTS (ISRE) 2400 (REVISED)  

The ARSC issued Interpretation No. 1 of AR-C section 9090 titled, “Considerations Related to Reviews 
Performed in Accordance with International Standard of Review Engagements (ISRE) 2400 Revised, 
Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements.” AR-C section 90, Review of Financial Statements, requires 
that the written review report include a statement that the accountant’s responsibility to conduct the 
review engagement in accordance with SSARS. In some instances, the accountant may asked to also 
conduct the review in accordance with ISRE 2400 (Revised). This interpretation provides guidance about 
whether the accountant can also indicate that the review was conducted in accordance with ISRE 2400 
(Revised). The interpretation follows: 

.01 Question—AR-C section 90, Review of Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards), 
requires that the written review report include a statement that the accountant’s responsibility is to 
conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and 
Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the 
AICPA. May a practitioner also indicate that the review was conducted in accordance with ISRE 
2400 (Revised), issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board?  

.02 Interpretation—Yes. A practitioner may review the financial statements of an entity in 
accordance with SSARSs and in accordance with another set of review standards (for example, ISRE 
2400 [Revised]). In circumstances in which the accountant’s review report states that the review was 
conducted in accordance with SSARSs and another set of review standards, the practitioner should 
comply with both sets of standards. The following illustrates an independent accountant’s review 
report in which the review was conducted in accordance with both SSARSs and ISRE 2400 
(Revised).  

Circumstances include the following:  

 Review of a complete set of general purpose consolidated financial statements (comparative)  
 Financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America. 1 Paragraph .39e(i) of AR-C section 90, Review of Financial Statements 
(AICPA, Professional Standards)  

The accountant should not refer to having conducted a review in accordance with ISRE 2400 
(Revised) in addition to SSARSs, unless the review was conducted in accordance with both sets of 
standards in their entirety. 

Exhibit 6-3 includes example report language. 



Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 6-21 

  Exhibit 6-3 Distinguishing Compilation and Review Engagements  

Independent Accountant’s Review Report 

[Appropriate Addressee]  

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Company, which comprise 
the balance sheets as of December 31, 20X2 and 20X1, and the related statements of income, 
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes 
to the financial statements. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to 
management (owners’) financial data and making inquiries of company management (owners). A 
review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an 
opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not express such 
an opinion.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

Management (Owners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.  

Accountant’s Responsibility  

My (our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance with Statements on 
Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 
2400 (Revised) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Those 
standards require me (us) to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for 
reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material modifications that should be made to the 
financial statements for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. I (We) believe that the results of my (our) procedures provide a 
reasonable basis for my (our) conclusion.  

Accountant’s Conclusion  

Based on my (our) reviews, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifications that should be 
made to the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

[Signature of accounting firm, or accountant, as appropriate]  

[Accountant’s city and state]  

[Date of the accountant’s review report]  
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Exposure Draft of Proposed New Statements on  
Standards for Accounting and Review Services 
In December 2015, the ARSC issued three proposed new SSARS:  

 Compilation of Prospective Financial Information  
 Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information  
 Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services—2016  

The proposed SSARS Compilation of Prospective Financial Information would move the requirements and 
guidance for compilations of prospective financial information from Statements on Standards for 
Attestation Standards (the “attestation standards”) to the SSARSs. The Auditing Standards Board 
decided, as part of its project to clarify the attestation standards, to remove the guidance regarding 
compilations of prospective financial information from the attestation standards. The proposed SSARS 
Compilation of Prospective Financial Information provides the requirements and guidance with respect to 
compilations of prospective financial information. Requirements and guidance with respect to 
examinations and engagements to apply agreed-upon procedures to prospective financial information are 
retained in the clarified attestation standards. Extant standards prohibit the review of prospective 
financial information. The proposed SSARS Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review 
Services—2016 would expand the applicability of AR-C section 70 so that it applies to the preparation of 
prospective financial information. 

The proposed SSARS Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information will supersede AR section 120, 
Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information (AICPA, Professional Standards). It represents the clarity 
redraft of AR section 120, Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information. The ARSC has used its Clarity 
Project drafting conventions to redraft AR 120. There are no major substantive changes to that section. 

The proposed SSARS Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services—2016 will amend 
AR-C sections 60, General Principles for Engagements Performed in Accordance With Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services; 70, Preparation of Financial Statements; 80, Compilation Engagements; and 90, Review 
of Financial Statements.  

The accompanying proposed standards apply the Accounting and Review Services Committee’s (ARSC’s) 
clarity drafting conventions. The proposed SSARSs will result in the following sections in the codified 
SSARSs:  

 AR-C section 110, Compilation of Prospective Financial Information  
 AR-C section 120, Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information  

PROPOSED EFFECTIVE DATE 

The effective date of the proposed SSARSs has not been determined, but it is anticipated that the 
effective date will be no earlier than the preparation of subject matter on or after May 1, 2017.  

Comment Deadline 
The comment deadline for these proposed SSARSs ends May 6, 2016. 
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KNOWLEDGE CHECK 

6. If the proposed SSARSs, Compilation of Prospective Financial Information, and the Omnibus 
SSARS are issued as final standards, the  

a. Accountant will refer to that guidance in engagements with respect to examinations of 
prospective financial information. 

b. Guidance for a compilation of prospective financial information will be found in AR-C 
section 80, Compilations Engagements. 

c. Accountant will be able to prepare prospective financial information in accordance with AR-
C section 70. 

d. Guidance for compilation of prospective financial information will be codified in the 
attestation standards. 
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Summary 
This chapter summarizes the ARSC Clarity Project to clarify and revise the SSARSs as well as the 
significant changes in SSARS No. 21, Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services: Clarification and 
Recodification. 

This chapter highlights the new “preparation of financial statements” now available as an additional level 
of service within SSARSs and it emphasizes key differences between that service and compilation, review, 
or audit services. The new requirements included in SSARS No. 21 related to compilation and review 
services are also presented. Lastly, the content of a proposed SSARS that relates to compiling pro forma 
and prospective financial information is summarized. 

Practitioners constantly seek information that aids in the identification of factors that increase a client’s 
business risk that, in turn, affects the accountant’s reporting and business risk. The AICPA has issued 
industry-specific risk alerts for many industries applicable to clients. These have not been reviewed in this 
chapter, but they provide guidance about risks unique to particular industries and are useful planning 
tools for identifying industry-specific risk factors which are helpful to the accountant when conducting an 
engagement to prepare, compile or review financial statements. These industry alerts can be obtained 
from the AICPA store (www.cpa2biz.com) by searching under “risk alerts.” The different industries 
covered also can be viewed there. 
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ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING 

GLOSSARY 

Account – Formal record that represents, in words, money or other unit of measurement, certain 
resources, claims to such resources, transactions or other events that result in changes to those resources 
and claims.  

Account Payable – Amount owed to a creditor for delivered goods or completed services.  

Account Receivable – Claim against a debtor for an uncollected amount, generally from a completed 
transaction of sales or services rendered.  

Accountants’ Report – Formal document that communicates an independent accountant’s (1) 
expression of limited assurance on financial statements as a result of performing inquiry and analytic 
procedures (Review Report); (2) results of procedures performed (type of Attestation Report); (3) non-
expression of opinion or any form of assurance on a presentation in the form of financial statements 
information that is the representation of management (Compilation Report); or (4) an opinion on an 
assertion made by management in accordance with the Statements on Standards for Attestation 
Engagements (Attestation Report). An accountant’s report does not result from the performance of an 
audit.  

Accounting – Recording and reporting of financial transactions, including the origination of the 
transaction, its recognition, processing, and summarization in the financial statements.  

Accounting Change – Change in (1) an accounting principle; (2) an accounting estimate; or (3) the 
reporting entity. The correction of an error in previously issued financial statements is not an accounting 
change. 

Accrual Basis – Method of accounting that recognizes revenue when earned, rather than when 
collected. Expenses are recognized when incurred rather than when paid.  

Accrued Expense – An expense incurred during an accounting period for which payment is not due 
until a later accounting period. This results from the purchase of services which at the time of accounting 
have only been partly performed, are not yet billable, or have not been paid for. 

Accumulated Depreciation – Total depreciation pertaining to an asset or group of assets from the time 
the assets were placed in service until the date of the financial statement or tax return. This total is the 
contra account to the related asset account.  

Additional Paid in Capital – Amounts paid for stock in excess of its par value or stated value. Also, 
other amounts paid by stockholders and charged to equity accounts other than capital stock. 

Adjusting Entries – Accounting entries made at the end of an accounting period to allocate items 
between accounting periods. 
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Amortization – The process of reducing a recognized liability systematically by recognizing revenues or 
by reducing a recognized asset systematically by recognizing expenses or costs. In accounting for 
postretirement benefits, amortization also means the systematic recognition in net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost over several periods of amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income, that is, gains or losses, prior service cost or credits, and any transition obligation 
or asset.  

Analytical Procedures – Substantive tests of financial information which examine relationships among 
data as a means of obtaining evidence. Such procedures include (1) comparison of financial information 
with information of comparable prior periods; (2) comparison of financial information with anticipated 
results (e.g., forecasts); (3) study of relationships between elements of financial information that should 
conform to predictable patterns based on the entity’s experience; and (4) comparison of financial 
information with industry norms.  

Annual Report – The annual report to shareholders is the principal document used by most public 
companies to disclose corporate information to their shareholders. It is usually a state-of-the-company 
report, including an opening letter from the Chief Executive Officer, financial data, results of continuing 
operations, market segment information, new product plans, subsidiary activities, and research and 
development activities on future programs. The Form 10-K, which must be filed with the SEC, typically 
contains more detailed information about the company’s financial condition than the annual report. 

Assertion – Explicit or implicit representations by an entity’s management that are embodied in financial 
statement components and for which the auditor obtains and evaluates evidential matter when forming 
his/her opinion on the entity’s financial statements.  

Audit Risk – The risk that the auditor may unknowingly fail to modify appropriately his/her opinion on 
financial statements that are materially misstated. 

Audit Sampling – Application of an audit procedure to less than 100% of the items within an account 
balance or class of transactions for the purpose of evaluating some characteristic of the balance or class.  

Auditors’ Report – Written communication issued by an independent certified public accountant (CPA) 
describing the character of his/her work and the degree of responsibility taken. An auditor’s report 
includes a statement that the audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards (GAAS), which require that the auditor plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, as well as a statement 
that the auditor believes the audit provides a reasonable basis for his/her opinion. 

Bad Debt – All or portion of an account, loan, or note receivable considered to be uncollectible. 

Balance Sheet – Basic financial statement, usually accompanied by appropriate disclosures that describe 
the basis of accounting used in its preparation and presentation of a specified date the entity’s assets, 
liabilities, and the equity of its owners. Also known as a statement of financial condition.  

Bond – One type of long-term promissory note, frequently issued to the public as a security regulated 
under federal securities laws or state blue sky laws. Bonds can either be registered in the owner’s name or 
are issued as bearer instruments. 

Book Value – Amount, net or contra account balances, that an asset or liability shows on the balance 
sheet of a company. Also known as carrying value.  
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Business Combinations – Combining of two entities. Under the purchase method of accounting, one 
entity is deemed to acquire another and there is a new basis of accounting for the assets and liabilities of 
the acquired company.  

Business Segment – Any division of an organization authorized to operate, within prescribed or 
otherwise established limitations, under substantial control by its own management.  

Capital Stock – Ownership shares of a corporation authorized by its articles of incorporation. The 
money value assigned to a corporation’s issued shares. The balance sheet account with the aggregate 
amount of the par value or stated value of all stock issued by a corporation.  

Capitalized Cost – Expenditure identified with goods or services acquired and measured by the amount 
of cash paid or the market value of other property, capital stock, or services surrendered. Expenditures 
that are written off during two or more accounting periods.  

Carrying Value – Amount, net or contra account balances, that an asset or liability shows on the balance 
sheet of a company. Also known as book value.  

Cash Basis – A special purpose framework in which revenues and expenditures are recorded when they 
are received and paid. 

Cash Equivalents – Short-term (generally less than three months), highly liquid investments that are 
convertible to known amounts of cash.  

Cash Flows – Net of cash receipts and cash disbursements relating to a particular activity during a 
specified accounting period.  

Casualty Loss – Sudden property loss caused by theft, accident, or natural causes.  

Change in Engagement – A request, before the completion of the audit (review), to change the 
engagement to a review or compilation (compilation) of financial statements. 

Class Actions – A federal securities class action is a court action filed on behalf of a group of 
shareholders under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Instead of each shareholder bringing 
an individual lawsuit, one or more shareholders bring a class action for the entire class of shareholders.  

Common Stock – Capital stock having no preferences generally in terms of dividends, voting rights, or 
distributions.  

Companies, Going Public – Companies become public entities for different reasons, but usually to 
raise additional capital. The SEC has prepared a guide for companies – Q&A: Small Business and the 
SEC – that provides a basic understanding about the various ways companies can become public and 
what securities laws apply. The SEC also has a list of some of the registration and reporting forms and 
related regulations that pertain to small and large companies.  

Comparative Financial Statement – Financial statement presentation in which the current amounts 
and the corresponding amounts for previous periods or dates also are shown.  

Compilation – Presentation in the form of financial statements information that is the representation of 
management (owners) without the accountant’s assurance as to conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP).  
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Comprehensive Income – Change in equity of a business entity during a period from transactions and 
other events and circumstances from nonowner sources. The period includes all changes in equity except 
those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners.  

Confirmation – Auditor’s receipt of a written or oral response from an independent third party verifying 
the accuracy of information requested.  

Consolidated Financial Statements – Combined financial statements of a parent company and one or 
more of its subsidiaries as one economic unit.  

Consolidation – The presentation of a single set of amounts for an entire reporting entity. Consolidation 
requires elimination of intra-entity transactions and balances. 

Contingent Liability – Potential liability arising from a past transaction or a subsequent event.  

Continuing Accountant – An accountant who has been engaged to audit, review, or compile and report 
on the financial statements of the current period and one or more consecutive periods immediately prior 
to the current period. 

Control Risk – Measure of risk that errors exceeding a tolerable amount will not be prevented or 
detected by an entity’s internal controls. 

Controls Tests – Tests directed toward the design or operation of an internal control structure policy or 
procedure to assess its effectiveness in preventing or detecting material misstatements in a financial 
report.  

Current Asset – Asset that one can reasonably expect to convert into cash, sell, or consume in 
operations within a single operating cycle, or within a year if more than one cycle is completed each year.  

Current Liability – Obligation whose liquidation is expected to require the use of existing resources 
classified as current assets, or the creation of other current liabilities.  

Current Value – (1) Value of an asset at the present time as compared with the asset’s historical cost.   
(2) In finance, the amount determined by discounting the future revenue stream of an asset using 
compound interest principles.  

Debt – General name for money, notes, bonds, goods, or services which represent amounts owed.  

Definite Criteria – A special purpose framework using a definite set of criteria having substantial 
support that is applied to all material items appearing in financial statements, such as the price-level basis 
of accounting. 

Depreciation – Expense allowance made for wear and tear on an asset over its estimated useful life.  

Derivatives – Derivatives are financial instruments whose performance is derived, at least in part, from 
the performance of an underlying asset, security or index. For example, a stock option is a derivative 
because its value changes in relation to the price movement of the underlying stock. 

Detection Risk – Risk that the auditor will not detect a material misstatement.  

Disclosure – Process of divulging accounting information so that the content of financial statements is 
understood.  

Discount – Reduction from the full amount of a price or debt.  
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Dividends – Distribution of earnings to owners of a corporation in cash, other assets of the corporation, 
or the corporation’s capital stock.  

Earnings Per Share (EPS) – The amount of earnings attributable to each share of common stock. For 
convenience, the term is used to refer to either earnings or loss per share. 

Employee Stock Options Plans – An employee stock ownership plan is an employee benefit plan that 
is described by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986 as a stock bonus plan, or combination stock bonus and money purchase pension plan, designed to 
invest primarily in employer stock. Also called an employee share ownership plan.Employee Stock 
Options Plans should not be confused with the term “ESOPs,” or Employee Stock Ownership Plans, 
which are retirement plans. 

Employee Stock Ownership Plans (ESOPs) – An employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) is a 
retirement plan in which the company contributes its stock to the plan for the benefit of the company’s 
employees. With an ESOP, you never buy or hold the stock directly. This type of plan should not be 
confused with employee stock options plans, which are not retirement plans. Instead, employee stock 
options plans give the employee the right to buy their company’s stock at a set price within a certain 
period of time. 

Equity – Residual interest in the assets of an entity that remains after deducting its liabilities. Also, the 
amount of a business’ total assets, less total liabilities. Also, the third section of a balance sheet, the other 
two being assets and liabilities.  

Equity Security – Any security representing an ownership interest in an entity (for example, common, 
preferred, or other capital stock) or the right to acquire (for example, warrants, rights, and call options) or 
dispose of (for example, put options) an ownership interest in an entity at fixed or determinable prices. 
However, the term does not include convertible debt or preferred stock that by its terms either must be 
redeemed by the issuing entity or is redeemable at the option of the investor.  

Error – Act that departs from what should be done; imprudent deviation, unintentional mistake or 
omission.  

Executive Compensation: Where to Find in SEC Reports – The federal securities laws require clear, 
concise and understandable disclosure about compensation paid to CEOs and certain other high-ranking 
executive officers of public companies. You can locate information about executive pay in (1) the 
company’s annual proxy statement; (2) the company’s annual report on Form 10-K; and (3) registration 
statements filed by the company to register securities for sale to the public. 

Expenditures – Expenditures to which capitalization rates are to be applied are capitalized expenditures 
(net of progress payment collections) for the qualifying asset that have required the payment of cash, the 
transfer of other assets, or the incurring of a liability on which interest is recognized (in contrast to 
liabilities, such as trade payables, accruals, and retainages on which interest is not recognized). 

Extraordinary Items – Events and transactions distinguished by their unusual nature and by the 
infrequency of their occurrence. Extraordinary items are reported separately, less applicable income taxes, 
in the entity’s statement of income or operations.  

Fair Disclosure, Regulation FD – On August 15, 2000, the SEC adopted Regulation FD to address the 
selective disclosure of information by companies and other issuers. Regulation FD provides that when an 
issuer discloses material nonpublic information to certain individuals or entities – generally, securities 
market professionals, such as stock analysts, or holders of the issuer’s securities who may well trade on 
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the basis of the information – the issuer must make public disclosure of that information. In this way, the 
new rule aims to promote the full and fair disclosure. 

Fair Market Value – Price at which property would change hands between a buyer and a seller without 
any compulsion to buy or sell. 

Federal Securities Laws – The laws that govern the securities industry, include the Securities Act of 
1933; Securities Exchange Act of 1934; Investment Company Act of 1940; Investment Advisers Act of 
1940; and Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.  

Financial Statements – Presentation of financial data including balance sheets, income statements and 
statements of cash flow, or any supporting statement that is intended to communicate an entity’s financial 
position at a point in time and its results of operations for a period then ended.  

First In, First Out (FIFO) – Accounting method of valuing inventory under which the costs of the first 
goods acquired are the first costs charged to expense. Commonly known as FIFO.  

Fiscal Year – Period of 12 consecutive months chosen by an entity as its accounting period which may 
or may not be a calendar year.  

Fixed Asset – Any tangible asset with a life of more than one year used in an entity’s operations.  

Foreign Currency Translation – Restating foreign currency in equivalent dollars; unrealized gains or 
losses are postponed and carried in Stockholder’s Equity until the foreign operation is substantially 
liquidated.  

Form 10-K – This is the report that most publicly traded companies file with the SEC on an annual basis. 
It provides a comprehensive overview of the company’s business and financial condition. Some 
companies choose to send their Form 10-K to their shareholders instead of sending a separate annual 
report. Currently, Form 10-K must be filed with the SEC within 90 days after the end of the company’s 
fiscal year. 

Form 10-Q – The Form 10-Q is a report filed quarterly by most reporting companies. It includes 
unaudited financial statements and provides a continuing view of the company’s financial position during 
the year. The report must be filed for each of the first three fiscal quarters of the company’s fiscal year 
and is currently due within 45 days of the close of the quarter. In addition to Form 10-Q, companies 
provide annual reports to their shareholders and file Form 10-K on an annual basis with the SEC. 

Form 8-K – This is the “current report” used to report material events or corporate changes that have 
previously not been reported by the company in a quarterly report (Form 10-Q) or annual report (Form 
10-K). 

Forms 3, 4, 5 – Corporate insiders-meaning a company’s officers and directors, and any beneficial 
owners of more than 10% of a class of the company’s equity securities registered under Section 12 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 – must file with the SEC a statement of ownership regarding those 
securities. The initial filing is on Form 3. Changes in ownership are reported on Form 4. Insiders must 
file a Form 5 to report any transactions that should have been reported earlier on a Form 4 or were 
eligible for deferred reporting.  

Fraud – Willful misrepresentation by one person of a fact inflicting damage on another person.  

Gain – Excess of revenues received over costs relating to a specific transaction.  

General Ledger – Collection of all assets, liability, owners’ equity, revenue, and expense accounts.  
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Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) – Conventions, rules, and procedures necessary 
to define accepted accounting practice at a particular time. The highest level of such principles is set by 
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).  

Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) – Standards set by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) which concern the auditor’s professional qualities and judgment in 
the performance of his/her audit and in the actual report.  

Going Concern – Assumption that a business can remain in operation long enough for all of its current 
plans to be carried out.  

Going Private – A company “goes private” when it reduces the number of its shareholders to fewer 
than 300 and is no longer required to file reports with the SEC. 

Goodwill – An asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a 
business combination or an acquisition by a not for profit entity that are not individually identified and 
separately recognized.  

Gross Income – A tax term meaning all income from whatever source derived, except as otherwise 
provided in the income tax code. 

Guaranty – Legal arrangement involving a promise by one person to perform the obligations of a second 
person to a third person, in the event the second person fails to perform.  

Hedges – Protect an entity against the risk of adverse price or interest-rate movements on its assets, 
liabilities, or anticipated transactions. A hedge is used to avoid or reduce risks by creating a relationship 
by which losses on positions are counterbalanced by gains on separate positions in another market. 

Historical Cost – The generally accepted method of accounting used in the primary financial statements 
that is based on measures of historical prices without restatement into units, each of which has the same 
general purchasing power. 

Income – Inflow of revenue during a period of time. 

Income Statement – Summary of the effect of revenues and expenses over a period of time.  

Income Tax Basis – A special purpose framework that the reporting entity uses or expects to use to file 
its income tax return for the period covered by the financial statements. 

Initial Public Offerings (IPO) – IPO stands for initial public offering and occurs when a company first 
sells its shares to the public. 

Initial Public Offerings, Lockup Agreements – Lockup agreements prohibit company insiders – 
including employees, their friends and family, and venture capitalists – from selling their shares for a set 
period of time. In other words, the shares are “locked up.” Before a company goes public, the company 
and its underwriter typically enter into a lockup agreement to ensure that shares owned by these insiders 
do not enter the public market too soon after the offering. 

Insider Trading – “Insider trading” actually includes both legal and illegal conduct. The legal version is 
when corporate insiders – officers, directors, and employees – buy and sell stock in their own companies. 
Illegal insider trading refers generally to buying or selling a security, in breach of a fiduciary duty or other 
relationship of trust and confidence, while in possession of material, nonpublic information about the 
security. Insider trading violations may also include “tipping” such information, securities trading by the 
person “tipped,” and securities trading by those who misappropriate such information. 
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Intangible Asset – Asset having no physical existence such as trademarks and patents.  

Interest – Payment for the use or forbearance of money.  

Interim Financial Statements – Financial statements that report the operations of an entity for less 
than one year. 

Internal Control – Process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding achievement of various 
management objectives such as the reliability of financial reports.  

Inventory – Tangible property held for sale, or materials used in a production process to make a 
product.  

Investment – Expenditure used to purchase goods or services that could produce a return to the 
investor. 

Journal – Any book containing original entries of daily financial transactions. 

Last In, First Out (LIFO) – Accounting method of valuing inventory under which the costs of the last 
goods acquired are the first costs charged to expense. Commonly known as LIFO.  

Lease – Conveyance of land, buildings, equipment, or other assets from one person (Lessor) to another 
(Lessee) for a specific period of time for monetary or other consideration, usually in the form of rent. 

Leasehold – Property interest a lessee owns in the leased property.  

Ledger – Any book of accounts containing the summaries of debit and credit entries. 

Lessee – Person or entity that has the right to use property under the terms of a lease.  

Lessor – Owner of property, the temporary use of which is transferred to another (lessee) under the 
terms of a lease.  

Liability – Debts or obligations owed by one entity (Debtor) to another entity (Creditor) payable in 
money, goods, or services.  

Listing and Delisting Requirements – Before a company can begin trading on an exchange or the 
Nasdaq Stock Market, it must meet certain initial requirements or “listing standards.” The exchanges and 
the Nasdaq Stock Market set their own standards for listing and continuing to trade. The SEC does not 
set listing standards. The initial listing requirements mandate that a company meet specified minimum 
thresholds for the number of publicly traded shares, total market value, stock price, and number of 
shareholders. After a company starts trading, it must continue to meet different standards set by the 
exchanges or the Nasdaq Stock Market. Otherwise, the company can be delisted. These continuing 
standards usually are less stringent than the initial listing requirements.  

Long-Term Debt – Debt with a maturity of more than one year from the current date.  

Loss – Excess of expenditures over revenue for a period or activity. Also, for tax purposes, an excess of 
basis over the amount realized in a transaction.  

Lower of Cost or Market – Valuing assets for financial reporting purposes. Ordinarily, “cost” is the 
purchase price of the asset and “market” refers to its current replacement cost. Generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) requires that certain assets (e.g., inventories) be carried at the lower of cost 
or market.  
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Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) – SEC requirement in financial reporting for an 
explanation by management of significant changes in operations, assets, and liquidity.  

Management Use Only – Term used when compiled financial statements are not expected to be used 
by a third party. 

Manipulation – Manipulation is intentional conduct designed to deceive investors by controlling or 
artificially affecting the market for a security. Manipulation can involve a number of techniques to affect 
the supply of, or demand for, a stock. They include spreading false or misleading information about a 
company; improperly limiting the number of publicly-available shares; or rigging quotes, prices, or trades 
to create a false or deceptive picture of the demand for a security. 

Marketable Securities – Stocks and other negotiable instruments which can be easily bought and sold 
on either listed exchanges or over-the-counter markets. 

Mark-to-Market – Method of valuing assets that results in adjustment of an asset’s carrying amount to 
its market value.  

Matching Principle – The concept that all costs and expenses incurred in generating revenues must be 
recognized in the same reporting period as the related revenues. 

Materiality – Magnitude of an omission or misstatements of accounting information that, in the light of 
surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the 
information would change or be influenced.  

Mergers – Mergers are business transactions involving the combination of two or more companies into 
a single entity. Most state laws require that mergers be approved by at least a majority of the company’s 
shareholders if the merger will have a significant impact on the company. 

Modified Cash Basis – A special purpose framework that begins with the cash basis method (see Cash 

Basis) and applies modifications having substantial support, such as recording depreciation on fixed 
assets or accruing income taxes. 

Nasdaq – Nasdaq stands for the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation 
System. Unlike the New York Stock Exchange where trades take place on an exchange, Nasdaq is an 
electronic stock market that uses a computerized system to provide brokers and dealers with price 
quotes. The National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. owns and operates The Nasdaq Stock 
Market. 

Net Assets – Excess of the value of securities owned, cash, receivables, and other assets over the 
liabilities of the company.  

Net Income – Excess or deficit of total revenues and gains compared with total expenses and losses for 
an accounting period. 

Net Sales – Sales at gross invoice amounts less any adjustments for returns, allowances, or discounts 
taken.  

Net Worth – Similar to equity, the excess of assets over liabilities.  

Nonpublic Entity – Any entity other than (a) one whose securities trade in a public market either on a 
stock exchange (domestic or foreign) or in the over-the-counter market, including securities quoted only 
locally or regionally; (b) one that makes a filing with a regulatory agency in preparation for the sale of any 
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class of its securities in a public market; or (c) a subsidiary, corporate joint venture, or other entity 
controlled by an entity covered by (a) or (b). 

No-Par Stock – Stock authorized to be issued but for which no par value is set in the articles of 
incorporation. A stated value is set by the board of directors on the issuance of this type of stock. 

No-Par Value – Stock or bond that does not have a specific value indicated.  

Notional – Value assigned to assets or liabilities that is not based on cost or market (e.g., the value of a 
service not yet rendered).  

Objectivity – Emphasizing or expressing the nature of reality as it is apart from personal reflection or 
feelings; independence of mind. 

Paid in Capital – Portion of the stockholders’ equity which was paid in by the stockholders, as opposed 
to capital arising from profitable operations.  

Par Value – Amount per share set in the articles of incorporation of a corporation to be entered in the 
capital stocks account where it is left permanently and signifies a cushion of equity capital for the 
protection of creditors.  

Parent Company – Company that has a controlling interest in the common stock of another.  

Predecessor Accountant – An accountant who (a) has reported on the most recent compiled or 
reviewed financial statements or was engaged to perform but did not complete a compilation or review of 
the financial statements, and (b) has resigned, declined to stand for reappointment, or been notified that 
his or her services have been or may be terminated. 

Preferred Stock – Type of capital stock that carries certain preferences over common stock, such as a 
prior claim on dividends and assets.  

Premium – (1) Excess amount paid for a bond over its face amount. (2) In insurance, the cost of 
specified coverage for a designated period of time.  

Prepaid Expense – Cost incurred to acquire economically useful goods or services that are expected to 
be consumed in the revenue-earning process within the operating cycle.  

Prescribed Form – Any standard preprinted form designed or adopted by the body to which it is to be 
submitted, for example, forms used by industry trade associations, credit agencies, banks, and 
governmental and regulatory bodies other than those concerned with the sale or trading of securities. A 
form designed or adopted by the entity whose financial statements are to be compiled is not considered 
to be a prescribed form. 

Present Value – Current value of a given future cash flow stream, discounted at a given rate. 

Principal – Face amount of a security, exclusive of any premium or interest. The basis for interest 
computations.  

Proxy Statement – The SEC requires that shareholders of a company whose securities are registered 
under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 receive a proxy statement prior to a shareholder 
meeting, whether an annual or special meeting. The information contained in the statement must be filed 
with the SEC before soliciting a shareholder vote on the election of directors and the approval of other 
corporate action. Solicitations, whether by management or shareholders, must disclose all important facts 
about the issues on which shareholders are asked to vote. 
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Purchase Method of Accounting – Accounting for a merger by adding the acquired company’s assets 
at the price paid for them to the acquiring company’s assets.  

Quiet Period – The term “quiet period,” also referred to as the “waiting period,” is not defined under 
the federal securities laws. The quiet period extends from the time a company files a registration 
statement with the SEC until SEC staff declares the registration statement “effective.” During this period, 
the federal securities laws limit what information a company and related parties can release to the public. 
Rule 134 of the Securities Act of 1933 discusses these limitations.  

Ratio Analysis – Comparison of actual or projected data for a particular company to other data for that 
company or industry in order to analyze trends or relationships.  

Real Property – Land and improvements, including buildings and personal property that is permanently 
attached to the land or customarily transferred with the land.  

Receivables – Amounts of money due from customers or other debtors.  

Reconciliation – Comparison of two numbers to demonstrate the basis for the difference between 
them.  

Registration Under the Securities Act of 1933 – Often referred to as the “truth in securities” law, the 
Securities Act of 1933 has two basic objectives: (1) To require that investors receive financial and other 
significant information concerning securities being offered for public sale; and (2) To prohibit deceit, 
misrepresentations, and other fraud in the sale of securities. The SEC accomplishes these goals primarily 
by requiring that companies disclose important financial information through the registration of 
securities. This information enables investors, not the government, to make informed judgments about 
whether to purchase a company’s securities.  

Regulation D Offerings – Under the Securities Act of 1933, any offer to sell securities must either be 
registered with the SEC or meet an exemption. Regulation D (or Reg D) provides three exemptions from 
the registration requirements, allowing some smaller companies to offer and sell their securities without 
having to register the securities with the SEC.  

Regulatory Basis – A special purpose framework that the reporting entity uses to comply with the 
requirements or financial reporting provisions of a governmental regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction 
the entity is subject. An example is a basis of accounting insurance companies use pursuant to the rules of 
a state insurance commission. 

Reissued Report – A report issued subsequent to the date of the original report that bears the same date 
as the original report. A reissued report may need to be revised for the effects of specific events; in these 
circumstances, the report should be dual-dated with the original date and a separate date that applies to 
the effects of such events. 

Related Party Transaction – Business or other transaction between persons who do not have an arm’s-
length relationship (e.g., a relationship with independent, competing interests). The most common is 
between family members or controlled entities. For tax purposes, these types of transactions are generally 
subject to a greater level of scrutiny.  

Research and Development (R&D) – Research is a planned activity aimed at discovery of new 
knowledge with the hope of developing new or improved products and services. Development is the 
translation of research findings into a plan or design of new or improved products and services.  
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Retained Earnings – Accumulated undistributed earnings of a company retained for future needs or for 
future distribution to its owners.  

Revenue Recognition – Method of determining whether or not income has met the conditions of being 
earned and realized or is realizable.  

Revenues – Sales of products, merchandise, and services; and earnings from interest, dividend, rents.  

Review – Accounting service that provides some assurance as to the reliability of financial information. 
In a review, a certified public accountant (CPA) does not conduct an examination under generally 
accepted auditing standards (GAAS). Instead, the accountant performs inquiry and analytical procedures 
that provide the accountant with a reasonable basis for expressing limited assurance that there are no 
material modifications that should be made to the statements for them to be in conformity with GAAP 
or, if applicable, with a special purpose framework. 

Risk Management – Process of identifying and monitoring business risks in a manner that offers a 
risk/return relationship that is acceptable to an entity’s operating philosophy. 

Security – Any kind of transferable certificate of ownership including equity securities and debt 
securities.  

Short-Term – Current; ordinarily due within one year. 

SSARS – Statements on Standards for Accounting And Review Services issued by the AICPA 
Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC). 

Start-up Costs – (1) Costs, excluding acquisition costs, incurred to bring a new unit into production. (2) 
Costs incurred to begin a business.  

Statement of Cash Flows – A statement of cash flows is one of the basic financial statements that is 
required as part of a complete set of financial statements prepared in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. It categorizes net cash provided or used during a period as operating, investing and 
financing activities, and reconciles beginning and ending cash and cash equivalents.  

Statement of Financial Condition – Basic financial statement, usually accompanied by appropriate 
disclosures that describe the basis of accounting used in its preparation and presentation as of a specified 
date, the entity’s assets, liabilities, and the equity of its owners. Also known as balance sheet.  

Statutory Basis – See Regulatory Basis. 

Straight-Line Depreciation – Accounting method that reflects an equal amount of wear and tear during 
each period of an asset’s useful life. For instance, the annual straight-line depreciation of a $10,000 asset 
expected to last ten years is $1,000. 

Strike Price – Price of a financial instrument at which conversion or exercise occurs.  

Submission of Financial Statements – Presenting to a client or third party’s financial statements that 
the accountant has prepared either manually or through the use of computer software. 

Subsequent Event – Material event that occurs after the end of the accounting period and before the 
publication of an entity’s financial statements. Such events are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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Successor Accountant – An accountant who has been invited to make a proposal for an engagement to 
compile or review financial statements and is considering accepting the engagement or an accountant 
who has accepted such an engagement. 

Tangible Asset – Assets having a physical existence, such as cash, land, buildings, machinery, or claims 
on property, investments or goods in process. 

Tax – Charge levied by a governmental unit on income, consumption, wealth, or other basis.  

Third Party – All parties except for members of management who are knowledgeable about the nature 
of the procedures applied and the basis of accounting and assumptions used in the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

Trade Date – Date when a security transaction is entered into, to be settled on at a later date. 
Transactions involving financial instruments are generally accounted for on the trade date.  

Treasury Bill – Short-term obligation that bears no interest and is sold at a discount. 

Treasury Bond – Long-term obligation that matures more than five years from issuance and bears 
interest.  

Treasury Note – Intermediate-term obligation that matures one to five years from issuance and bears 
interest.  

Treasury Stock – Stock reacquired by the issuing company. It may be held indefinitely, retired, issued 
upon exercise of stock options, or resold.  

Trial Balance – A trial balance consists of a listing of all of the general ledger accounts and their 
corresponding debit or credit balances. Also, in a trial balance, no attempt is made to establish a 
mathematical relationship among the assets, liabilities, equity, revenues, and expenses except that total 
debits equal total credits. 

Unearned Income – Payments received for services which have not yet been performed.  

Updated Report – A report issued by a continuing accountant that takes into consideration information 
that he/she becomes aware of during his/her current engagement and that re-expresses his/her previous 
conclusions or, depending on the circumstances, expresses different conclusions on the financial 
statements of a prior period as of the date of his/her current report. 

Valuation Allowance – Method of lowering or raising an object’s current value by adjusting its 
acquisition cost to reflect its market value by use of a contra account.  

Variance – Deviation or difference between an estimated value and the actual value.  

Work in Progress – Inventory account consisting of partially completed goods awaiting completion and 
transfer to finished inventory.  

Working Capital – Excess of current assets over current liabilities. 

Working Papers – (1) Records kept by the auditor of the procedures applied, the tests performed, the 
information obtained, and the pertinent conclusions reached in the course of the audit. (2) Any records 
developed by a certified public accountant (CPA) during an audit.  

Yield – Return on an investment an investor receives from dividends or interest expressed as a 
percentage of the cost of the security. 
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AR-C GLOSSARY 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Analytical Procedures – Evaluations of financial information through analysis of plausible relationships 
among both financial and nonfinancial data. Analytical procedures also encompass such investigation, as 
is necessary, of identified fluctuations or relationships that are inconsistent with other relevant 
information or that differ from expected values by a significant amount. 

Applicable Financial Reporting Framework – The financial reporting framework adopted by 
management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance, in the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the 
objective of the financial statements or that is required by law or regulation. 

Basic Financial Statements – Financial statements excluding supplementary information and required 
supplementary information. 

Comparative Financial Statements – A complete set of financial statements for one or more prior 
periods included for comparison with the financial statements of the current period. 

Designated Accounting Standard-Setter – A body designated by the Council of the AICPA to 
promulgate accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America pursuant to the 
“Compliance With Standards Rule” (ET sec. 1.310.001) and the “Accounting Principles Rule” (ET sec. 
1.320.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. 

Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraph – A paragraph included in the accountant’s review report that is 
required by Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs), or is included at the 
accountant’s discretion, and that refers to a matter appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in the accountant’s professional judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental to 
the users’ understanding of the financial statements. 

Engagement Partner1 – The partner or other person in the firm who is responsible for the engagement 
and its performance and for the report that is issued on behalf of the firm and who, when required, has 
the appropriate authority from a professional, legal, or regulatory body.  

Engagement Team – All accountants and staff performing the engagement and any individuals engaged 
by the firm who perform procedures on the engagement. 

Error – Mistakes in the financial statements, including arithmetical or clerical mistakes, and mistakes in 
the application of accounting principles, including inadequate disclosures. 

                                                      

1 This term is also defined in paragraph .13 of QC section 10, A Firm’s System of Quality Control, for 
purposes of the Statements on Quality Control Standards. Refer to QC section 10 for specific language. 
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Experienced Accountant – An individual (whether internal or external to the firm) who has practical 
review experience and a reasonable understanding of 

a. review processes; 
b. SSARSs and applicable legal and regulatory requirements; 
c. the business environment in which the entity operates; and 
d. review and financial reporting issues relevant to the entity’s industry. 

Financial Reporting Framework – A set of criteria used to determine measurement, recognition, 
presentation, and disclosure of all material items appearing in the financial statements (for example, 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America [U.S. GAAP], International 
Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board, or a 
special purpose framework). 

Financial Statements – A structured representation of historical financial information, including related 
notes, intended to communicate an entity’s economic resources and obligations at a point in time or the 
changes therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial reporting framework. The related 
notes ordinarily comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. The term financial statements ordinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements as 
determined by the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework but can also refer to a 
single financial statement. 

Firm – A form of organization permitted by law or regulation whose characteristics conform to 
resolutions of the Council of the AICPA and that is engaged in the practice of public accounting. 

Fraud – An intentional act that results in a misstatement in financial statements. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) – References to generally accepted accounting principles 
in SSARSs means generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by bodies designated by the 
Council of the AICPA pursuant to the “Compliance With Standards Rule” (ET sec. 1.310.001) and the 
“Accounting Principles Rule” (ET sec. 1.320.001) of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. 

Historical Financial Information – Information expressed in financial terms regarding a particular 
entity, derived primarily from that entity’s accounting system, about economic events occurring in past 
time periods or about economic conditions or circumstances at points in time in the past. 

Interpretive Publications – Interpretations of SSARSs; exhibits to SSARSs; the AICPA Guide 
Compilation and Review Engagements,2 guidance on reviews, compilations, and engagements to prepare 
financial statements included in AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides; and AICPA Statements of 
Position, to the extent that those statements are applicable to such engagements. 

Management – The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity’s operations. 
For some entities, management includes some or all of those charged with governance (for example, 
executive members of a governance board or an owner-manager). 

 

 

                                                      

2 The title of the 2015 guide will be Review, Compilation, and Financial Statement Preparation Engagements. 
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Misstatement – A difference between the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure of a 
reported financial statement item and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is 
required for the item to be presented fairly in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error.Misstatements also include those adjustments of 
amounts, classifications, presentations, or disclosures that, in the accountant’s professional judgment, are 
necessary for the financial statements to be presented fairly, in all material respects. 

Noncompliance – Acts of omission or commission by the entity, either intentional or unintentional, 
which are contrary to the prevailing laws or regulations. Such acts include transactions entered into, by, or 
in the name of, the entity or on its behalf by those charged with governance, management, or employees. 
Noncompliance does not include personal misconduct (unrelated to the business activities of the entity) by 
those charged with governance, management, or employees of the entity. 

Other-Matter Paragraph – A paragraph included in the accountant’s review report that is required by 
SSARSs, or is included at the accountant’s discretion, and that refers to a matter other than those 
presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in the accountant’s professional judgment, is 
relevant to users’ understanding of the review, the accountant’s responsibilities, or the accountant’s 
review report. 

Other Preparation, Compilation and Review Publications – Publications other than interpretive 
publications. These include AICPA accounting and review publications not defined as interpretive 
publications; the AICPA’s annual Alert Developments in Review, Compilation, and Financial Statement Preparation 
Engagements; articles addressing reviews, compilations, and engagements to prepare financial statements in 
the Journal of Accountancy and other professional journals; continuing professional education programs and 
other instruction materials, textbooks, guide books, programs for reviews, compilations, and 
engagements to prepare financial statements, and checklists; and other publications addressing reviews, 
compilations, and engagements to prepare financial statements from state CPA societies, other 
organizations, and individuals. 

Professional Judgment – The application of relevant training, knowledge, and experience, within the 
context provided by SSARSs and ethical standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of 
action that are appropriate in the circumstances of the review, compilation, or engagement to prepare 
financial statements. 

Report Release Date – The date the accountant grants the entity permission to use the accountant’s 
review report in connection with the financial statements. 

Required Supplementary Information – Information that a designated accounting standards-setter 
requires to accompany an entity’s basic financial statements. Required supplementary information is not 
part of the basic financial statements; however, a designated accounting standards-setter considers the 
information to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. In addition, authoritative guidelines for the 
methods of measurement and presentation of the information have been established. 

Review Documentation – The record of review procedures performed, relevant review evidence 
obtained, and conclusions the accountant reached (terms such as working papers or workpapers are also 
sometimes used). 

Review Evidence – Information used by the accountant to provide a reasonable basis for obtaining 
limited assurance. 



18 Glossary Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

Special Purpose Framework – A financial reporting framework other than GAAP that is one of the 
following bases of accounting: 

a. Cash basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record cash receipts and disbursements 
and modifications of the cash basis having substantial support (for example, recording 
depreciation on fixed assets). 

b. Tax basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its tax return for the period covered 
by the financial statements. 

c. Regulatory basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with the requirements or 
financial reporting provisions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject 
(for example, a basis of accounting that insurance companies use pursuant to the accounting 
practices prescribed or permitted by a state insurance commission). 

d. Contractual basis. A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with an agreement 
between the entity and one or more third parties other than the accountant. 

e. Other basis. A basis of accounting that uses a definite set of logical, reasonable criteria that is 
applied to all material items appearing in financial statements. 

The cash-basis, tax-basis, regulatory-basis, and other-basis of accounting are commonly referred to as 
other comprehensive bases of accounting (OCBOA). 

Specified Parties – The intended users of the accountant’s review report. 

Subsequent Events – Events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the date of the 
accountant’s review report. 

Subsequently Discovered Facts – Facts that become known to the accountant after the date of the 
accountant’s review report that, had they been known to the accountant at that date, may have caused the 
accountant to revise the accountant’s review report. 

Supplementary Information – Information presented outside the basic financial statements, excluding 
required supplementary information, that is not considered necessary for the financial statements to be 
fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 

Those Charged With Governance – The person(s) or organization(s) (for example, a corporate trustee) 
with responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of an entity and the obligations related to the 
accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. Those charged with 
governance may include management personnel (for example, executive members of a governance board 
or an owner-manager). 

Updated Report – A report issued by a continuing accountant that takes into consideration information 
that the accountant becomes aware of during the accountant’s current engagement and that re-expresses 
the accountant’s previous conclusions or, depending on the circumstances, expresses different 
conclusions on the financial statements of a prior period reviewed by the accountant as of the date of the 
accountant’s current report. 

Written Representation – A written statement by management provided to the accountant to confirm 
certain matters or to support other review evidence. Written representations in this context do not 
include financial statements, the assertions therein, or supporting books and records. 
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AU-C GLOSSARY
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Accounting and Auditing Practice – A practice that performs engagements covered by QC Section 10, 
A Firm’s System of Quality Control (Redrafted), which are audit, attestation, compilation, review, and any 
other services for which standards have been promulgated by the AICPA Auditing Standards Board 
(ASB) or the AICPA Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC) under Rule 201, General 
Standards (ET Sec. 201 par. .01), or Rule 202, Compliance With Standards (ET Sec. 202 par. .01), of the 
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. Although standards for other engagements may be promulgated 
by other AICPA technical committees, engagements performed in accordance with those standards are 
not encompassed in the definition of an accounting and auditing practice. 

Accounting Records – The records of initial accounting entries and supporting records, such as checks 
and records of electronic fund transfers; invoices; contracts; the general and subsidiary ledgers; journal 
entries and other adjustments to the financial statements that are not reflected in journal entries; and 
records, such as work sheets and spreadsheets, supporting cost allocations, computations, reconciliations, 
and disclosures. 

Analytical Procedures – Evaluations of financial information through analysis of plausible relationships 
among both financial and nonfinancial data. Analytical procedures also encompass such investigation, as 
is necessary, of identified fluctuations or relationships that are inconsistent with other relevant 
information or that differ from expected values by a significant amount.The use of analytical procedures 
as risk assessment procedures may be referred to as analytical procedures used to plan the audit. The auditor’s 
use of analytical procedures as substantive procedures is referred to as substantive analytical procedures. 

Applicable Financial Reporting Framework – The financial reporting framework adopted by 
management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance in the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the 
objective of the financial statements, or that is required by law or regulation. The term also means the 
financial reporting framework that applies to the group financial statements. 

Assertions – Representations by management, explicit or otherwise, that are embodied in the financial 
statements as used by the auditor to consider the different types of potential misstatements that may 
occur. 

Audit Documentation – The record of audit procedures performed, relevant audit evidence obtained, 
and conclusions the auditor reached (terms such as working papers or workpapers are also sometimes 
used). 

                                                      

1This section contains an “AU-C” identifier instead of an “AU” identifier. “AU-C” is a temporary 
identifier to avoid confusion with references to existing “AU” sections, which remain effective 
indefinitely. 
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Audit Evidence – Information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the auditor’s 
opinion is based. Audit evidence includes both information contained in the accounting records 
underlying the financial statements and other information. Sufficiency of audit evidence is the measure of the 
quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of the audit evidence needed is affected by the auditor’s 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement and also by the quality of such audit evidence. 
Appropriateness of audit evidence is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its 
reliability in providing support for the conclusions on which the auditor’s opinion is based. 

Audit Risk – The risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate audit opinion when the financial 
statements are materially misstated. Audit risk is a function of the risks of material misstatement and 
detection risk. Audit risk does not include the risk that the auditor might express an opinion that the 
financial statements are materially misstated when they are not. This risk is ordinarily insignificant. 
Further, audit risk is a technical term related to the process of auditing; it does not refer to the auditor’s 
business risks, such as loss from litigation, adverse publicity, or other events arising in connection with 
the audit of financial statements. 

Audited Financial Statements – In the context of Section 560, Subsequent Events and Subsequently 
Discovered Facts, reference to audited financial statements means the financial statements, together with the 
auditor’s report thereon. In the context of Section 810, the term refers to those financial statements 
audited by the auditor in accordance with GAAS and from which the summary financial statements are 
derived. 

Auditor – The term used to refer to the person or persons conducting the audit, usually the engagement 
partner or other members of the engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm. When an AU-C section 
expressly intends that a requirement or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term 
engagement partner rather than auditor is used. Engagement partner and firm are to be read as 
referring to their governmental equivalents when relevant. 

Cash Basis – A basis of accounting that the entity uses to record cash receipts and disbursements and 
modifications of the cash basis having substantial support (for example, recording depreciation on fixed 
assets). 

Component – An entity or business activity for which group or component management prepares 
financial information that is required by the applicable financial reporting framework to be included in 
the group financial statements.In the context of Section 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group 
Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors), an investment accounted for under the equity 
method constitutes a component. Investments accounted for under the cost method may be analogous to 
a component when the work and reports of other auditors constitute a major element of evidence for 
such investments. 

Component Auditor – An auditor who performs work on the financial information of a component 
that will be used as audit evidence for the group audit. A component auditor may be part of the group 
engagement partner’s firm, a network firm of the group engagement partner’s firm, or another firm. In 
the context of Section 600, auditors who do not meet the definition of a member of the group 
engagement team are considered to be component auditors. However, an auditor who performs work on 
a component when the group engagement team will not use that work to provide audit evidence for the 
group audit is not considered a component auditor. 

Component Management – Management responsible for preparing the financial information of a 
component. 
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Component Materiality – The materiality for a component determined by the group engagement team 
for the purposes of the group audit. 

Components of Internal Control – The following five components, which provide a useful framework 
for auditors when considering how different aspects of an entity’s internal control may affect the audit: 

a. The control environment 
b. The entity’s risk assessment process 
c. The information system, including the related business processes relevant to financial reporting 

and communication 
d. Control activities 
e. Monitoring of controls 

Consolidation Process – Reference to the consolidation process includes the following: 

a. The recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of the financial information of the 
components in the group financial statements by way of inclusion, consolidation, proportionate 
consolidation, or the equity or cost methods of accounting 

b. The aggregation in combined financial statements of the financial information of components 
that are under common control 

Contractual Basis –A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with an agreement between the 
entity and one or more third parties other than the auditor. 

Control Risk – The risk that a misstatement that could occur in an assertion about a class of transaction, 
account balance, or disclosure and that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with 
other misstatements, will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis by the entity’s 
internal control. 

Detection Risk – The risk that the procedures performed by the auditor to reduce audit risk to an 
acceptably low level will not detect a misstatement that exists and that could be material, either 
individually or when aggregated with other misstatements. 

Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraph – A paragraph included in the auditor’s report that is required by 
GAAS, or is included at the auditor’s discretion, and that refers to a matter appropriately presented or 
disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor’s professional judgment, is of such importance 
that it is fundamental to users’ understanding of the financial statements. 

Engagement Documentation – The record of the work performed, results obtained, and conclusions 
that the practitioner reached (also known as working papers or workpapers). 

Engagement Partner – The partner or other person in the firm who is responsible for the audit 
engagement and its performance and for the auditor’s report that is issued on behalf of the firm and who, 
when required, has the appropriate authority from a professional, legal, or regulatory body. Engagement 
partner, partner, and firm refer to their governmental equivalents where relevant. 

Engagement Team – All partners and staff performing the engagement and any individuals engaged by 
the firm or a network firm who perform audit procedures on the engagement. This excludes an auditor’s 
external specialist engaged by the firm or a network firm. 

Financial Reporting Framework – A set of criteria used to determine measurement, recognition, 
presentation, and disclosure of all material items appearing in the financial statements; for example, U.S. 
GAAP, International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International Accounting 
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Standards Board, or a special purpose framework. The term fair presentation framework is used to refer 
to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the requirements of the framework and 

a. Acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements, 
it may be necessary for management to provide disclosures beyond those specifically required by 
the framework; or 

b. Acknowledges explicitly that it may be necessary for management to depart from a requirement 
of the framework to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements. Such departures are 
expected to be necessary only in extremely rare circumstances. 

A financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the requirements of the framework, but 
does not contain the acknowledgments in a or b is not a fair presentation framework. 

Financial Statements – A structured representation of historical financial information, including related 
notes, intended to communicate an entity’s economic resources and obligations at a point in time or the 
changes therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial reporting framework. The related 
notes ordinarily comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. The term financial statements ordinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements as 
determined by the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework, but can also refer to a 
single financial statement. In the context of Section 700, reference to financial statements means a 
complete set of general purpose financial statements, including the related notes. In the context of 
Section 800, reference to financial statements means a complete set of special purpose financial 
statements, including the related notes. 

Firm – A form of organization permitted by law or regulation whose characteristics conform to 
resolutions of the Council of the AICPA and that is engaged in the practice of public accounting. 

Fraud – An intentional act by one or more individuals among management, those charged with 
governance, employees, or third parties, involving the use of deception that results in a misstatement in 
financial statements that are the subject of an audit.Although fraud is a broad legal concept, the auditor is 
primarily concerned with fraud that causes a material misstatement in the financial statements. 

Fraud Risk Factors – Events or conditions that indicate an incentive or pressure to perpetrate fraud, 
provide an opportunity to commit fraud, or indicate attitudes or rationalizations to justify a fraudulent 
action. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) – Reference to generally accepted accounting 
principles in GAAS means generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by bodies designated by 
the Council of the AICPA pursuant to Rule 202 and Rule 203 of the AICPA Code of Professional 
Conduct. 

Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) – Statements on Auditing Standards issued by the 
ASB, the senior technical body of the AICPA designated to issue pronouncements on auditing matter for 
nonissuers. Rule 202 of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct requires an AICPA member who 
performs an audit of a nonissuer to comply with standards promulgated by the ASB. 

Governmental Entities – This term includes nongovernmental entities that receive government awards. 

Group – All the components whose financial information is included in the group financial statements. A 
group always has more than one component. 

Group Audit – The audit of group financial statements. 
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Group Audit Opinion – The audit opinion on the group financial statements. 

Group Engagement Partner – The partner or other person in the firm who is responsible for the group 
audit engagement and its performance and for the auditor’s report on the group financial statements that 
is issued on behalf of the firm. When joint auditors conduct the group audit, the joint engagement 
partners and their engagement teams collectively constitute the group engagement partner and the group 
engagement team. Group engagement partner and firm refer to their governmental equivalents when 
relevant. 

Group Engagement Team – Partners, including the group engagement partner, and staff who establish 
the overall group audit strategy, communicate with component auditors, perform work on the 
consolidation process, and evaluate the conclusions drawn from the audit evidence as the basis for 
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. 

Group Financial Statements – Financial statements that include the financial information of more than 
one component. The term also refers to combined financial statements aggregating the financial 
information prepared by components that are under common control. 

Group Management – Management responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the group 
financial statements. 

Group-Wide Controls – Controls designed, implemented, and maintained by group management over 
group financial reporting. 

Independence – Defined as: 

a. Independence of mind. The state of mind that permits the performance of an attest service without 
being affected by influences that compromise professional judgment, thereby allowing an 
individual to act with integrity and exercise objectivity and professional skepticism. 

b. Independence in appearance. The avoidance of circumstances that would cause a reasonable and 
informed third party, having knowledge of all relevant information, including safeguards applied, 
to reasonably conclude that the integrity, objectivity, or professional skepticism of a firm or a 
member of the attest engagement team had been compromised. 

Inherent Risk – The susceptibility of an assertion about a class of transaction, account balance, or 
disclosure to a misstatement that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other 
misstatements, before consideration of any related controls. 

Initial Audit Engagement – An engagement in which either (a) the financial statements for the prior 
period were not audited, or (b) the financial statements for the prior period were audited by a predecessor 
auditor. 

Internal Control – A process effected by those charged with governance, management, and other 
personnel that is designed to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement of the entity’s 
objectives with regard to the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, 
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

Limitation on the Scope of an Audit – The auditor’s inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence, which may arise from the following: 

a. Circumstances beyond the control of the entity 
b. Circumstances relating to the nature or timing of the auditor’s work 
c. Limitations imposed by management 
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Also may be referred to as a scope limitation. 

Management – The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity’s operations. 
For some entities, management includes some or all of those charged with governance; for example, 
executive members of a governance board or an owner-manager. 

Material Weakness – A deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there 
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 

Misstatement – A difference between the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure of a 
reported financial statement item and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is 
required for the item to be presented fairly in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements also include those adjustments of 
amounts, classifications, presentations, or disclosures that, in the auditor’s professional judgment, are 
necessary for the financial statements to be presented fairly, in all material respects. 

Modified Opinion – A qualified opinion, an adverse opinion, or a disclaimer of opinion. 

Network – An association of entities, as defined in ET Section 92, Definitions. 

Network Firm – A firm or other entity that belongs to a network, as defined in ET Section 92. 

Other-Matter Paragraph – A paragraph included in the auditor’s report that is required by GAAS, or is 
included at the auditor’s discretion, and that refers to a matter other than those presented or disclosed in 
the financial statements that, in the auditor’s professional judgment, is relevant to users’ understanding of 
the audit, the auditor’s responsibilities, or the auditor’s report. 

Partner – Any individual with authority to bind the firm with respect to the performance of a 
professional services engagement. For purposes of this definition, partner may include an employee with 
this authority who has not assumed the risks and benefits of ownership. Firms may use different titles to 
refer to individuals with this authority. 

Performance Materiality – The amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate 
of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. 
If applicable, the term also refers to the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than the materiality 
level or levels for particular classes of transactions, account balances, or disclosures. Performance 
materiality is to be distinguished from tolerable misstatement. 

Preconditions for an Audit – The use by management of an acceptable financial reporting framework 
in the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and the agreement of management 
and, when appropriate, those charged with governance, to the premise on which an audit is conducted. 

Predecessor Auditor – The auditor from a different audit firm who has reported on the most recent 
audited financial statements or was engaged to perform but did not complete an audit of the financial 
statements. 

Presumptively Mandatory Requirements – The category of professional requirements with which the 
auditor must comply in all cases in which such a requirement is relevant, except in rare circumstances 
discussed in Section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance 
With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. GAAS use the word “should” to indicate a presumptively 
mandatory requirement. 
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Professional Judgment – The application of relevant training, knowledge, and experience, within the 
context provided by auditing, accounting, and ethical standards, in making informed decisions about the 
courses of action that are appropriate in the circumstances of the audit engagement. 

Professional Skepticism – An attitude that includes a questioning mind, being alert to conditions that 
may indicate possible misstatement due to fraud or error, and a critical assessment of audit evidence. 

Professional Standards – Standards promulgated by the ASB or the ARSC under Rule 201 or Rule 202 
of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, or other standards-setting bodies that set auditing and 
attest standards applicable to the engagement being performed and relevant ethical requirements. 

Reasonable Assurance – In the context of an audit of financial statements, a high, but not absolute, 
level of assurance. 

Regulatory Basis – A basis of accounting that the entity uses to comply with the requirements or 
financial reporting provisions of a regulatory agency to whose jurisdiction the entity is subject (for 
example, a basis of accounting that insurance companies use pursuant to the accounting practices 
prescribed or permitted by a state insurance commission). 

Relevant Assertion – A financial statement assertion that has a reasonable possibility of containing a 
misstatement or misstatements that would cause the financial statements to be materially misstated. The 
determination of whether an assertion is a relevant assertion is made without regard to the effect of 
internal controls. 

Relevant Ethical Requirements – Ethical requirements to which the engagement team and 
engagement quality control reviewer are subject, which consist of the AICPA Code of Professional 
Conduct together with rules of applicable state boards of accountancy and applicable regulatory agencies 
that are more restrictive. 

Report Release Date – The date the auditor grants the entity permission to use the auditor’s report in 
connection with the financial statements. 

Risk Assessment Procedures – The audit procedures performed to obtain an understanding of the 
entity and its environment, including the entity’s internal control, to identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, at the financial statement and relevant assertion 
levels. 

Risk of Material Misstatement – The risk that the financial statements are materially misstated prior to 
the audit. This consists of two components; inherent risk and control risk. 

Risk of Material Misstatement at the Overall Financial Statement Level – Refers to risks of 
material misstatement that relate pervasively to the financial statements as a whole and potentially affect 
many assertions. 

Significant Component – A component identified by the group engagement team (a) that is of 
individual financial significance to the group, or (b) that, due to its specific nature or circumstances, is 
likely to include significant risks of material misstatement of the group financial statements. 

Significant Deficiency – A deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
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Significant Risk – An identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s 
professional judgment, requires special audit consideration. 

Special Purpose Financial Statements – Financial statements prepared in accordance with a special 

purpose framework. 

Special Purpose Framework – A financial reporting framework other than GAAP that is one of the 
following bases of accounting; cash basis, tax basis, regulatory basis, or contractual basis, 
commonly referred to as other comprehensive bases of accounting. 

Subsequent Events – Events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the date of the 
auditor’s report. 

Substantive Procedure – An audit procedure designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion 
level. Substantive procedures comprise 

a. Tests of details (classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures) and 
b. Substantive analytical procedures. 

Sufficiency (of Audit Evidence) – The measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of the 
audit evidence needed is affected by the auditor’s assessment of the risks of material misstatement and 
also by the quality of such audit evidence. 

Tax Basis – A basis of accounting that the entity uses to file its income tax return for the period covered 
by the financial statements. 

Test of Controls – An audit procedure designed to evaluate the operating effectiveness of controls in 
preventing, or detecting and correcting, material misstatements at the assertion level. 

Those Charged With Governance – The person(s) or organization(s) (for example, a corporate trustee) 
with responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of the entity and the obligations related to the 
accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. Those charged with 
governance may include management personnel; for example, executive members of a governance board 
or an owner-manager. 

Tolerable Misstatement – A monetary amount set by the auditor in respect of which the auditor seeks 
to obtain an appropriate level of assurance that the monetary amount set by the auditor is not exceeded 
by the actual misstatement in the population. 

Uncorrected Misstatements – Misstatements that the auditor has accumulated during the audit and 
that have not been corrected. 

Understanding of the Entity – Obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment, including 
the entity’s internal control. 

Unmodified Opinion – The opinion expressed by the auditor when the auditor concludes that the 
financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework. 

Written Representation – A written statement by management provided to the auditor to confirm 
certain matters or to support other audit evidence. Written representations in this context do not include 
financial statements, the assertions therein, or supporting books and records. 
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representatives of governmental units. The hotline can be reached at 1-877-242-7212. 
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SOLUTIONS 

CHAPTER 1 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. Lease contacts are specifically excluded from the scope of ASU No. 2014-09. 
b. Correct. Because long-term construction contracts are not specifically scoped out, they are 

included within the scope of ASU No. 2014-09. 
c. Incorrect. Guarantees are specifically excluded from the scope of ASU No. 2014-09. 
d. Incorrect. Insurance contracts are specifically excluded from the scope of ASU No. 2014-09. 

2.  
 a. Incorrect. Contracts may be written or oral. 
 b. Incorrect. The contract must be approved and both parties must be committed. 
 c. Incorrect. The contract may call for variable consideration. 

d. Correct. The contract must identify each party’s rights to the goods or services being transferred. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. These items never were nor will they be part of other comprehensive income. 
b. Incorrect. This is where extraordinary items are currently presented, but this type of presentation 

will now be prohibited. 
c. Incorrect. Although this is where the amount and a description of the item of income or loss 

may appear, it may not be labeled as an extraordinary item. 
d. Correct. The update prohibits labeling anything as an extraordinary item. 

4.  
 a. Incorrect. Held to maturity is still a classification for debt securities. 
 b. Incorrect. Trading is still a classification for debt securities. 

c. Correct. Amortized cost is not a classification. It is the measurement for held-to-maturity debt 
securities. 

 d. Incorrect. Available for sale is still a classification for debt securities. 

5.  
a. Correct. Property leases are included in the scope of ASU No. 2016-02. 
b.  Incorrect. Leases of biological assets are scoped out of ASU No. 2016-02. 
c. Incorrect. Leases for rights to explore for minerals, oils, or natural gases are scoped out of ASU 

No. 2016-02. 
d. Incorrect. Leases of inventory are scoped out of ASU No. 2016-02. 
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6.  
a. Incorrect. The asset is not measured at the fair value of the asset leased but is the present value 

of the lease payments. 
b. Incorrect. The cost has nothing to do with the value as a leased asset. 
c. Correct. This is deemed to be the simplest way to determine the “fair value” of the leased asset. 
d. Incorrect. The cost less residual value is not the amount to be recorded. 

CHAPTER 2 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. The AICPA, not the PCC, developed the FRF for SMEs accounting framework. 
b. Correct. The PCC will serve as an advisory body to FASB. 
c. Incorrect. The PCC will not establish a separate set of standards. 
d. Incorrect. The PCC will not provide input to IFRS for SMEs. 

2.  
a. Correct. This type of entity is defined as a public business entity in the ASC Master Glossary. 
b. Incorrect. An entity that has issued a private placement memorandum does not have to file with 

the SEC, therefore it is not a public business entity. 
c. Incorrect. Governmental organizations are subject to GASB standards, not FASB standards. 
d. Incorrect. Foreign companies that do business in the United States are not, by definition, public 

business entities. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. Tax methods are not mentioned in ASU No. 2014-02. 
b. Incorrect. The annual impairment test may still be used by private companies, but the test does 

not have to be performed at year end as long as it is performed annually. 
c. Incorrect. The period is 10 years, but only straight-line may be used. 
d. Correct. ASU No. 2014-02 requires a maximum amortization of 10 years straight-line for entities 

that adopt this accounting alternative. 

4.  
a. Incorrect. Fair value is used if the provisions of this standard are not applied. 
b. Incorrect. Most swaps have a historical cost of zero. The concept of measurement would be to 

provide the user with the asset due or liability owed at each balance sheet date, not historical 
cost. 

c. Correct. Settlement value is the applicable value in this update. 
d. Incorrect. The “impaired” value is not used as credit risk and is not involved in the calculation. 
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5.  
a. Incorrect. The lease contract must be between the VIE and the primary beneficiary, not just any 

related party. 
b. Incorrect. The amount of debt guaranteed must be less than, not more than, the fair value of the 

underlying assets. 
c. Correct. This is a characteristic of a common control leasing arrangement. 
d. The accounting method, if any, between the two entities is irrelevant. 

CHAPTER 3 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. One of the major differences is that IFRS for SMEs does not allow for the LIFO 

method of inventory valuation. 
b. Correct. IFRS for SMEs is specifically designed to be a simplified, principles-based framework. 

As a result, IFRS for SMEs is significantly smaller in volume and is less complex than U.S. 
GAAP. 

c. Incorrect. IFRS for SMEs are principles-based standards, not rules based like the majority of 
U.S. GAAP. 

d. Incorrect. One of the major differences is that IFRS for SMEs allows investment assets to be 
measured at fair value if this can be accomplished without undue effort. 

2.  
a. Correct.  This is one of the significant differences between IFRS for SMEs and IFRS. 
b. Incorrect. IFRS for SMEs has fewer policy choices than IFRS. 
c. Incorrect. IFRS for SMEs has fewer disclosure requirements than IFRS. 
d. Incorrect. IFRS for SMEs is reviewed and revised only once every three years. 

CHAPTER 4 

Quick Exercise Solutions 

Quick Exercise 4-1 

The objective of an audit of the financial statements is for the auditor to perform procedures to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are prepared in all material respects in accordance with 
the applicable financial reporting framework (e.g., U.S. GAAP). In that audit, the auditor is required by 
auditing standards to assess the risk of material misstatement. Part of that assessment is based on a 
required understanding of internal control relevant to the audit (see AU-C section 315.13). Based on the 
assessed risk of material misstatement, the auditor designs audit procedures in response to those risks. 
Those procedures include a combination of tests of controls and substantive procedures. The auditor 
performs tests of controls when the auditor intends to rely on the operating effectiveness of controls in 
determining the nature, timing, and extent of substantive procedures (or if substantive procedures alone 
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cannot provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence). So, only some of the internal controls over 
financial reporting may be tested. 

In an audit of internal control over financial reporting, the main objective is for the auditor to perform 
procedures to provide reasonable assurance to support the auditor’s opinion about the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting. In this engagement, the auditor obtains sufficient appropriate 
evidence through the performance of tests of controls, not substantive procedures. 

Because the objectives of an audit of the financial statement and an audit of internal control over 
financial reporting are not the same, the nature of audit procedures performed in the two engagements 
differ. In the financial statement audit, the auditor performs a mix of tests of controls and substantive 
procedures, while in the audit of internal control over financial reporting, the auditor performs tests of 
controls. Also, although most controls relevant to the audit of financial statements are likely to relate to 
financial reporting, not all internal controls that relate to financial reporting are relevant to the audit of 
financial statements. Thus, the extent of controls tested would be greater in an audit of internal controls 
over financial reporting because the auditor is required to test controls for all relevant assertions. 

Quick Exercise 4-2 

1. Examples of entity-level controls that only have an indirect effect on the likelihood of preventing 
or detecting and correcting a misstatement include elements of the control environment and risk 
assessment component of internal control. For example, controls related to hiring policies and 
management’s philosophy and operating style are important aspects of internal control that 
affect all parts of the entity’s financial reporting process, but they are not specific to a particular 
class of transactions or assertion. Similarly, the oversight of the board of directors, including the 
audit committee, has an overarching but indirect effect on preventing material misstatements. 

2. Examples of entity-level controls that monitor the effectiveness of other controls include the 
role of internal audit. Internal audit often examines whether other parts of the organization are 
complying with company policies and procedures, including internal controls over financial 
reporting. 

3. Examples of an entity-level control that operates at a level of precision that would adequately 
prevent, detect and correct misstatements might include a budget-to-actual comparison by the 
CFO of all key business units with a particular focus on issues related to the understatement or 
overstatement of revenues.  

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. SAS No. 130 emphasizes that the audit of ICFR and the audit of the financial 

statements are to be integrated, which means that much of the evidence obtained would be used 
for both engagements. 

b. Incorrect. SAS No. 130 notes that the auditor should use a top-down approach to the audit of 
ICFR, which includes focusing on entity-level controls and then working down to significant 
classes of transactions, accounts, disclosures, and assertions. 

c. Incorrect. SAS No. 130 notes that the auditor should use the same materiality for the audit of 
ICFR and the audit of the financial statements. 

d. Correct. The evaluation of ICFR by the auditor should be consistent with the criteria used by 
management in their evaluation of ICFR. 
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2.  
a. Incorrect. SAS No. 130 does not require the auditor to give an opinion on management’s report. 

Rather, the auditor performs procedures to test controls to give the auditor’s opinion on the 
effectiveness of those controls. 

b. Correct. The point of SAS No. 130 is that the audit of ICFR and audit financial statements are to 
be integrated. Thus, results of substantive procedures may inform the auditor about risks of 
material misstatements that should be considered in light of internal controls. 

c. Incorrect. SAS No. 130 notes the auditor’s opinion is for an “as of” date, not for a period ended. 
d. Incorrect. An adverse opinion is required when deficiencies are deemed to be material 

weaknesses, not when there are only deemed to be significant deficiencies. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. Because some regulatory agencies may request this type of audit, SAS No. 131 does 

not prohibit the performance of the engagement in accordance with PCAOB standards. 
b. Incorrect. SAS No. 131 requires the auditor to make reference to PCAOB standards since that is 

the requirement of the engagement. 
c. Correct. SAS No. 131 requires the auditor to use the form of report required by the standards of 

the PCAOB, amended to state that the audit was also conducted in accordance with GAAS. 
d. Incorrect. When the audit is under the jurisdiction of the PCAOB, the PCAOB standards require 

the auditor’s report conform to the reporting requirements of PCAOB standards.  

4.  
a. Correct. The restructuring of the SSAEs creates separate chapters in those standards for 

examination, review, and agreed-upon procedures engagements. 
b. Incorrect. The redrafted standards are limited to examination, review, and agreed-upon 

procedures engagements. 
c. Incorrect. The clarity drafting convention for SSAEs mirror closely the drafting conventions 

used to clarify the SASs. 
d. Incorrect. The ASB has decided not to clarify the guidance for engagements addressing 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

5.  
a. Correct. The clarified SSAEs move the guidance for examination of internal control over 

financial reporting to the SASs.  
b. Incorrect. The practitioner would still be able to perform that types of engagement except it 

would be performed in accordance with the SASs.  
c. Incorrect. The Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARs) provide 

guidance related to the compilation and review of financial statements. 
d. Incorrect. Guidance for examinations of internal control over financial reporting for nonissuers 

is provided in the AICPA standards. PCAOB Auditing Standards No. 5 applies to audits of 
public companies only.  
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CHAPTER 5 

Quick Exercise Solutions 

Quick Exercise 5-1 

The PCAOB believes that users will find disclosure of the name of the engagement partner useful as they 
assess the quality of the audit, especially in light of the database that will be developed over time. Users 
will be able to search the engagement partner’s name in the database to determine the number of issuer 
engagements where the partner is involved and they will be able to determine the frequency of that 
partner’s involvement in engagements that subsequently had financial statement issues or material 
weaknesses in internal control. Thus, users will be able to observe any unusual trends associated with the 
engagement partner. Additionally, users will be able to track the involvement of other audit firms in a 
number of issuer engagements. 

Opponents to the PCAOB’s rule argue that disclosure of the name of the engagement partner might 
result in certain partners being rated as individuals in high demand. As a result, this might create 
disadvantages for other equally qualified engagement partners. They also expressed concerns that naming 
the engagement partner might discourage some partners from serving on high risk engagements. 
Additionally, a number of people expressed concern that naming the engagement partner 
underemphasized the role of the entire engagement team, which may include individuals throughout the 
firm (for example, national office personnel).  

Quick Exercise 5-2 

1. The paragraph describing critical audit matters follows the opinion paragraph. 
2. The disclosure of critical audit matters does not necessarily impact the auditor’s opinion. In most 

cases, the critical audit matters would be resolved for an unqualified opinion to be issued. 
3. The auditor would describe critical audit matters in the body of the auditor’s report. 
4. Critical audit matters are those matters addressed during the audit that (1) involved the most 

difficult, subjective or complex judgments; (2) posed the most difficulty to the auditors in 
obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence; or (3) posed the most difficulty to the auditor in 
forming an opinion on the financial statements. 

Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

1.  
a. Incorrect. PCAOB auditing standards include the interim standards and content in AS Nos. 1-18. 
b. Correct. Aspects of the interim standards have not been affected by subsequently issued PCAOB 

auditing standards. Thus, provisions in the interim standards still apply. 
c. Incorrect. Although the PCAOB has issued AS Nos. 1-18, which amended some of the content in 

the interim standards, a number of the interim standards have been unaffected by AS Nos. 1-18.  
d. Incorrect. Although the PCAOB considers international auditing standards, they do not use 

those standards as the base for developing new auditing standards. 
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2.   
a. Correct. The new structure organized PCAOB auditing standards to be consistent with the flow 

of the audit process. 
b. Incorrect. The reorganization of the standards did not result in substantive changes. 
c. Incorrect. Both the interim standards and AS Nos. 1-18 have been reorganized. 
d. Incorrect. The PCAOB has developed its own four-digit “AS” numbering system. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. The most recently issued PCAOB Auditing Standard is AS No. 18. Although the 

PCAOB is working on proposed guidance related to going concern, it has not issued that as a 
final standard. 

b. Incorrect. The PCAOB’s project on auditing accounting estimates, including fair value 
measurements and disclosures is still active. They anticipate issuance of an exposure draft in 
2016. 

c. Correct. The PCAOB plans to issue an exposure draft in 2016 of guidance related to the 
planning and supervision of audits involving other audit firms. 

d. Incorrect. The PCAOB does not have a current project related to the auditor’s consideration of 
fraud in a financial statement audit. 

4.  
a. Incorrect. The firm’s engagement quality reviewer would generally focus on important issues in 

the audit and thus many of those items are likely to be critical audit matters. 
b. Incorrect. The type of information communicated to the audit committee represents some of the 

most important aspects of the audit, thus many would be critical audit matters.  
c. Correct. The auditor would not disclose materiality in the auditor’s report. 
d. Incorrect. The engagement completion document summarizes important issues noted in the 

audit, and that would include items that would be deemed to be critical audit matters. 

CHAPTER 6 

Quick Exercise Solutions 

Quick Exercise 6-1 

The primary difference between preparation of financial statements and a compilation engagement is that 
in a preparation engagement, the accountant does not have to be independent of the client and the 
accountant does not issue a report. In a compilation engagement, the accountant should be independent 
(or disclose when he or she is not) and the accountant should issue a compilation report. 

The primary criterion that distinguishes a preparation engagement from a compilation engagement is 
what the client has requested the accountant to perform. This emphasizes the critical importance of a 
clearly articulated engagement letter that is signed by both the accountant and management.  
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Solutions to Knowledge Check Questions 

1.  
a. Correct. Because the preparation service is a nonattest service, it does not require the accountant 

to be independent. 
b. Incorrect. Even though the accountant does not provide any form of assurance, the compilation 

engagement does require the accountant to be independent (though it does allow the accountant 
to not be independent provided that is disclosed in the compilation report). 

c. Incorrect. A review is a limited assurance engagement and thus requires the accountant to be 
independent of the entity. 

d. Incorrect. An audit requires independence. 

2.  
a. Correct. The accountant provides no assurance in a preparation engagement. 
b. Incorrect. A review engagement provides limited assurance. 
c. Incorrect. An audit engagement provides reasonable assurance. 
d. Incorrect. None of the services provided absolute assurance—that would be cost-prohibitive. 

3.  
a. Incorrect. Preparing or proposing adjustments for depreciation are scoped out of Section 70. 
b. Correct. Preparing single financial statements requires application of Section 70. 
c. Incorrect. Financial statements prepared in conjunction with business valuation services are 

scoped out of Section 70. 
d. Incorrect. Processing payments in an entity’s accounting software system does not fall within the 

scope of Section 70. 

4.  
a. Incorrect. SSARS No. 21 does not change a compilation engagement from an attest engagement 

to a nonattest engagement. 
b. Incorrect. SSARS No. 21 eliminates the “management-use-only” financial statement service. 
c. Incorrect. In a compilation, the accountant provides no assurance about the financial statements. 
d. Correct. SSARS No. 21 changed the standard compilation report language from that in the 

extant standards. 

5.  
a. Correct. SSARS No. 21 requires that the accountant’s report name the city and state of the 

issuing office. 
b. Incorrect. SSARS No. 21 provides guidance about situations warranting the inclusion of 

emphasis-of-matter paragraphs. 
c. Incorrect. SSARS No. 21 actually contains guidance to perform a review of financial statements 

prepared in accordance with a special-purpose framework. 
d. Incorrect. SSARS No. 21 does not change the level of assurance provided in a review. 
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6.  
a. Incorrect. Although guidance related to the compilation of prospective financial information 

would be moved to SSARS, guidance for an examination of prospective financial information 
will remain in the attestations standards. 

b. Incorrect. The guidance for compilations of prospective financial information will be codified in 
a new AR-C section, 110, Compilation of Prospective Financial Information. 

c. Correct. The proposed SSARS will include guidance for preparing prospective financial 
information in AR-C section 70, which addresses preparing engagements. 

d. Incorrect. The proposed SSARS is moving that guidance from the attestation standards to the 
SSARS. 



10 Solutions Copyright 2016–2017 AICPA • Unauthorized Copying Prohibited 

 



 
Users of this course material are encouraged to visit the  

AICPA website at www.aicpa.org/CPESupplements  
to access supplemental learning material reflecting recent 

developments that may be applicable to this course.  
The AICPA anticipates that supplemental materials will be 

made available on a quarterly basis. 
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